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Chairperson’s Statement
HRERERE

L et Gl e S e

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of China New City Commercial Development Limited
(“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | submit
herewith the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

2021 had been the second year since the outbreak of Covid-19, social
development and macroeconomic were subject to many uncertainties as
well as significant challenges. As pointed out in the Report on the Work
of the Government published in March 2021, the Covid-19 pandemic
continued to spread rapidly around the world, while factors contributing to
instability in international relations were mounting, as the global economic
landscape remained complex with austere conditions. Domestically,
there were still occasional weak links in our work to control Covid-19.
The foundation of economic recovery had yet to be strengthened, while
investment growth lacked sustainability, leaving MSMEs and individual
proprietors in tough business conditions. For some local governments
which faced glaring budgetary deficits, the task of preventing and
mitigating financial and other risks remained an enormous one. Such
complex economic and social environment called for versatility and
precision in macroeconomic and other policies. The macroeconomy was
experiencing downturn pressure as a result of the impacts of scattered
Covid-19 outbreaks, floods and other natural disaster occurring in various
regions as well as restrictions on production activities and electricity

supply.
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MARKET

Since August, there had been significant changes in real estate policies
following the collapse of certain real estate enterprises and the rapid,
continuous cooling of the real estate market. Such changes were
underpinned primarily by the concern for the financial risks of real estate
enterprises and the tightening of mortgage lending, among others. In
the third quarter, the intertwined and combined impact of the epidemic
and the change in real estate policies adversely affected deployment and
operation of the Group’s commercial projects. To address the severe
market conditions, the Group actively responded to the austerity by
speeding up the destocking of inventory properties and cash recovery to

ensure the security of funds.
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Chairperson’s Statement
[R5 3 (=]

COMMERCIAL 0O

In terms of commercial operation, following the launch of our commercial OO0 0000000000OO0O0OO0OOO0O
brand under the theme of “Bloomingl O O [, the Group launched the O O0OO00O00O000O000OOOOOOOOOO
brand of “Pleasant Living for AIl0 0 0O O O in the year to focusonthe OO0 0O00O000O000O0O0OOOO0O0O0O
operation of future communities, as it seized the favorable opportunity OO O00O0000O0O0O0000O00O0OOOO
presented by Zhejiang Province’s vigorous effort to build a future OO0O000000000000O0O0OOOO0O
community and persisted in the integration of construction and operaton OO0 O00000O0O0OOO0O0OOOOOOOO
from the building of houses to the building of cities in tandem with latest O 0000000000 OOOOOOOOOO
developments. Currently, the brand has officially entered into strategic OO0000000O00O0O00O000O0O0OOOO
media cooperation agreements with a number of channels and websites, 0000000000000 0O0OO0OOOO0O
as well as strategic industry alliances for cooperation with research OO0 0000000000000 DOODOOOO
institutes. In the future, the business segment and the “Pleasant Living OO OO00OO0O

for AD O OO OO brand will expand and strengthen this new business

model on the back of three future communities, including Sha Bei in

Taizhou, Longgang in Wenzhou and Kegiao in Shaoxing, with the aim

of assisting Zhejiang Province in the creation of an exemplary zone for

common prosperity and the securing of preemptive opportunities for

development.
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Apart from breakthroughs in the new business models, continued
conversion, improvement and innovation have also been made in the
existing business under the commercial segment. Highlong Plaza has
been officially renamed as Xiaoshan Zhong An Plaza and is set for
blooming development in four aspects: a new positioning, new image,
new trademark and new business. The first local cultural trademark in
Xiaoshan will be introduced to investigate the feasibility of developing an
immersive and experiential shopping centre that would more properly
cater to the habits and needs of local consumers as a masterpiece
commercial property in Xiaoshan.

In the future, we need to create a successful template of future
communities and seize opportunities. Based on the existing future
community projects, we will establish Zhong An’s brand and industry
position in respect of the development and operation of future
communities. We will transform the traditional business model of
department store into a fast-selling-oriented, experiential and leisurely
business model with business resource reserve and form unique
trademark resources focusing on the principle of “Small brand, light
investment, fast development”.

HOTEL

As for the hotel operations, despite the considerable impact of epidemic
outbreaks in the first three quarters on the industry, we remained a leader
among our competition in terms of indicators such as consolidated
revenue, occupancy rate and average room prices thanks to the diligent
efforts of the hotel team. Meanwhile, our hotels actively pursued internal
improvement during the epidemic by comprehensively enhancing the
“craft quality” and “craftsmanship” of Bright Hotel through vocational
skill competitions and the building of a 4D management system. In July
2021, the hotel was honoured with the 2021 China Best Hotel Group
Employer (20210 0 0 00 00O 0O 0O O 0O O O Cat the China Hotel Forum
& Menduner Awards] 0 0000000000000 O00O0OO

In the future, we need to create an upstream and downstream integrated
management ecological chain with hotel as the core and realize resource
complementation and mutual sharing to create marginal benefits.
Meanwhile, we will enhance hotel themes and features to implement
differentiated market operation philosophy. With different themes, we will
create different closed loop of consumption ecology and realize diversified
operation. We must strengthen our catering operation capability. With
traditional culture and traditional craftsmanship as the core of the cuisine,
we will develop the catering business into one of the foundations of the
hotel’s brand and upgrade the overall operational efficiency of the hotels.
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Chairperson’s Statement
[R5 3 (=]

RESULTS

In 2021, the Group recorded an increase in revenue and the capital
structure was optimized. During the year, the Group’s revenue
was approximately RMB871,066,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 24.3%; gross profit was approximately
RMB216,497,000, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
27.2%; loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
RMB295,136,000. As at the end of 2021, the total equity of the Group
was approximately RMB5,733,595,000, representing a slight decrease of
approximately 5.7% from the end of 2020; the carrying amount of cash
reached approximately RMB1,948,034,000. During the year, the Group’s
cash position and gearing ratio had both improved and with the “Three
Red Line” ratios had all been satisfactorily met.

The Group recorded a loss per share attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent of approximately RMB14.7 cents. The board
of directors (the “Board”) of the Company does not recommend the
payment of any final dividend for the year under review.

PROSPECTS

In 2022, it is expected that the principle of “safeguarding the healthy
development of the real estate market as well as the legitimate rights
of home buyers” will be implemented in a more effective manner. There
should be further improvements to the delivery assurance policies of local
governments, and it is more likely that pre-sale proceeds will be subject
to stringent supervision with some latitude for slight adjustments, such
that a new balance between ensuring property delivery and improvement
of corporate capital utilisation efficiency could be attained. Meanwhile,
the Group will look for possible investment opportunities in China or
overseas to diversify the income source and risk exposure of the Group.
The Board will continue to closely monitor the potential impact caused
by the COVID-19 pandemic and will fine-tune the Group’s strategies and
inform the shareholders and the public of any material development in due
course.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Investment Properties

LS EEE

As at 31 December 2021 [0 20210 120 310

LAND RESERVE

As at 31 December 2021, the total GFA of land reserves of the Group was
approximately 4,069,165 sg.m..

The following table sets forth a summary of the Group’s investment

B

020210120310000000000000
000004,069,1650 000

oboob0O00000202101203100000

properties as of 31 December 2021: oooa
Project Location Property type GFA
od oo gooo gooo
sg. m.
ooag
Investment Properties
gooo
Guomao Building Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 12,225
oooo ooooo oooogo
Integrated Service Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 5,913
gooooo goood goooo
Highlong Plaza Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 63,888
oooo ooooo oooogo
Landscape Garden Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 8,781
god goood goooo
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 17,814
ooo ooooo oooogo
La Vie Shanghai Commercial 341
god oo oo
International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 59,305
oooooo ooooo oooogo
Zhong An Square Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 92,489
gooo goood goooo
Zhong An Times Square (Phase I)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 2,160
Oo0O0o0oOooooO ooooo oooogo
Zhong An Times Square (Phase Il)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 6,648
gooooooood goood goooo
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Commercial 17,092
ooooog ooooo oo
286,658

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Major Properties Held for Development and/or Sale
oo ddddon

Project GFA of
Project Location Property type Site area GFA land bank
oooao oooo
od oo oooo oooa oad oood
sq. m. sq. m sg. m.
ooo ooo goo
Projects Under Development and Completed Properties Held for Sale
od0oOoboOoboOOobOoboooo
Zhong An Times Square (Phase |)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 65,159 305,473 132,475
Province Complex
gooooooooo goood ooooo
Zhong An Times Square (Phase Il)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 71,519 322,912 105,692
Province Complex
gooooooooo goood goooo
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 89,173 241,695 81,318
Province Complex
ooo oooaoo ooooo
Cixi New City Ningbo, Zhejiang Office, Commercial 49,804 159,510 19,295
Province
goood goood oooooo
Tuankou Phoenix Mountain Hot Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 37,500 63,502 63,502
Spring Hotel Province
goooooood goooo goooo
Xinnongdu Hangzhou/Quzhou/ Integrated Commercial 991,736 1,217,335 1,152,734
Zhuji/Changxing Complex
ooo ooooboOdoob Ooboooo
oo
Xuzhou New City Xuzhou Jiangsu Integrated Commercial 154,802 562,371 562,371
Complex
ooooo oooa goooo
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Office/Commercial 39,703 83,391 30,266
Province
ooooo oooaoo oooooo
Xixi Manhattan Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 24,534 109,173 33,150
Province Complex
goood goood goooo
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 119,398 46,691 46,691
Resort Hotel Province
ooboOoboOoboooooo oooaoo goooo
Fashion Color City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 26,087 78,261 78,261
Province Complex
ooo oooaoo ooooo
International Office Center (Plot A) Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 92,610 798,795 553,417
Province Complex
gooooooAODOO goood goooo
International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 207,390 1,098,065 1,098,065
(Plots B and C) Province Complex
ooboO0bOOooBOOOcCOOD OOOCQO goooo
Beigan Project Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 12,819 44,867 44,867
Province Complex
oooao ooooo ooooo
Huaibei Bright Hotel Huaibei, Anhui Commercial/Hotel 60,768 67,061 67,061
Province
goooooo goooo [5] ]
4,069,165
o P Y |
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

L 2 A

REVIEW OF 2021

In 2021, China’s real estate market experienced the structural transition
from extremely heated sentiments during the first six months to
fundamental corrections in the latter half of the year; nevertheless, a
relatively large market size was retained for the year as a whole. The effect
of ongoing modifications and upgrades in the regulation policy introduced
in the real estate market during the first three quarters has been evident.

A “two-way” mode for property market regulation was implemented
throughout the year. In some cities where property price levels were
more resilient, regulatory policies swiftly responded to sharp rise in
prices with the introduction of effective tools such as the establishment
of a mechanism for the publication of referential prices for second-hand
housing transactions and credit tightening etc. For other cities where
the real estate market was under greater pressure in price correction,
moderate policy adjustments were made to stabilize market expectations.

In 2021, the Group’s revenue recorded an increase and the capital
structure was optimized. During the year, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB871,066,000, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 24.3%; gross profit was approximately RMB216,497,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 27.2%; net
loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately
RMB295,136,000. As of the end of 2021, the total equity of the Group
reached approximately RMB5,733,595,000, representing a slight
decrease of approximately 5.7% from the end of 2020; the carrying
amount of cash reached approximately RMB1,948,034,000.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022

In terms of macroeconomics, a trend of steady recovery will continue in
the Chinese economy, although there will also be new challenges and
obstacles due to the increasing instability and uncertainties in both the
domestic and international environments. It is expected that the principle
of “safeguarding the healthy development of the real estate market as well
as the legitimate rights of home buyers” will be implemented in a more
effective manner. There should be further improvements to the delivery
assurance policies of local governments and it is more likely that pre-sale
proceeds will be subject to stringent supervision with some latitude for
slight adjustments, such that a new balance between ensuring property
delivery and improvement of corporate capital utilisation efficiency could
be attained.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In general, it is expected that the overall direction for the regulation of
the real estate industry will remain unchanged, and the rigour of financial
supervision will not be relaxed. Policies such as the “Three Red Lines” for
enterprises, the “Two Red Lines” for banks, and the “Two Concentrations”
for land supply will continue to be implemented. Currently, the real
estate market has entered a phase of correction, and there will be
increasing mergers and acquisitions in the industry. Against this backdrop,
real estate companies should more than ever control their scale of
development and adjust their pace in tandem with the market trend in
2022: they should accelerate the collection of sales proceeds and closely
monitor financing windows to ensure cash flow security; they should
plan their expenditure in a manner commensurate with their income and
optimize their business presence to focus on mainstream cities; they
should improve their product and service capabilities to improve brand
competitiveness. Furthermore, new development opportunities may arise
during the stage of industry correction. Private enterprises should look
to cooperate with state-owned enterprises to broaden their scope of
development.

DEVELOPMENT OF MAJOR PROJECTS
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

Fashion Color City

It is located in Xinjie Village, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou. It consists of
hardcover loft apartments, large apartments and shops, with a total floor
area of approximately 26,087 sqg.m. and a total GFA of approximately
78,261 sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced
construction in the third quarter of 2020 and started the pre-sale in the
fourth quarter of 2020. It is expected to be completed in 2022. The
volume of pre-sales of the project during the year under review was within
expectation.

International Office Centre (I0C)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century Cityd 0 0 O O OO Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising
serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices. The total site area of
Plot A is 92,610 sq.m. and planned total GFA is 798,795 sq.m.. The
project is constructed in three phases, consists of Plots A1, A2 and AS.
Among which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising serviced
apartments, shops and underground parking spaces with a total GFA
of approximately 327,996 sg.m.. The construction of Plot A2 has
commenced in 2019 with a total GFA of approximately 263,555 sqg.m..
The project started the pre-sales in the third quarter of 2020, and is
expected to be completed in 2022. The volume of pre-sales of the project
during the year under review was within expectation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
gooooooo

Beigan Project ool

It is located in Beigan Technology Innovation Park, Xiaoshan District, OO0 OO0 O0OO0OOOODOOOOOOOO
Hangzhou, and consists of large flats and shops, with a total floorarea 000000000000 12,81900 0000
of approximately 12,819 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately 44,867 0000448670 0 000000000 0O0OO
sg.m., and is for commercial use. The project commenced construction 2021000000000 00202200000
in the fourth quarter of 2021 and is expected to start the pre-sale in the [0 0 0O 00020240 0 00O

second quarter of 2022 and is expected to be completed in 2024.

Cixi New City ool

This is a residential property project in Cixi, Zhejiang Province. Commercial 0000000000000 OO0OODOOOO
Phase 1, with a total GFA of about 28,158 sgq.m., commenced 000 00O 028,1580 000020190700
construction in July 2019, started the pre-sale in the third quarter of 2020, OO0 020200 0000000 002021000
and completed in 2021. Commercial Phase I, with a total GFA of about OO0 OO OO0 O OO O O72,0000 0000
72,000 sg.m., commenced construction in the second quarter of 2021, 2021000000000 0O 020230 000

and is expected to be completed in 2023.

Sales Review oood

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”), the recognized sales U 0 0202101203100 0 0000 0 0O 00
of properties sold and delivered was approximately RMB410,180,000 UOO OO O0OD0DO0DO0O0O0O0O000O000O00N
(2020: approximately RMB248,942,000). A total of the recognized GFA U 00 0410,180,00000 20200000000

delivered of properties was approximately 26,994 sg.m.. 248,942, 0000 0O oooooOooooOO
0002e,9940 000

2021 2020
20210 20200
(RMB million) (RMB million)

oooooooo oooooooo

Chaoyang Yinzuo goono 0.8 19.8
Cixi New City ooooad 1121 -
International Office Centre Phase A3 ooOoooOoAs 190.4 43.9
Xixi Manhattan goooo 13.7 -
Xixi New City ooood 23.7 48.0
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase | goooobO0O0ooo 4.4 37.8
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase || gooooDooooo 61.4 86.6
Other projects gooo 3.7 12.8

410.2 248.9
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2021 Contracted Sales

The contracted sales area of the Group was approximately 105,453
sg.m. for the Year (2020: approximately 60,936 sq.m.) and contracted
sales revenue was approximately RMB2,650,800,000 for the Year (2020:
approximately RMB1,242,900,000). Details of the contracted sales of the

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2021000000

gooogoood

O000000000D0O000D205,45300
0o 2020000609360 00 MOO0O00O00O0OO
ob0o0oo00oode2eso,800,00000 20200 00
oo001,242,900,0000  MOO0O0O0O000O0O0O

major projects are as below: ooooo
Contracted Contracted
sales area sales revenue
oooooo oooooo
Projects City (sg.m.) (RMB million)
OO oo ooooo oooooooo
Cixi New City Cixi 2,432 26.1
ogooooad oo
Fashion Color City Hangzhou 4,417 127.7
ooo oo
International Office Centre (I0C)A2 Hangzhou 35,161 1,740.1
go0o00o0ooAz2 oo
International Office Centre (IOC)A3 Hangzhou 5,963 194.2
OO0O0OoOooA3 oo
Xixi New City Hangzhou 927 30.1
ogooooad oo
Xinnongdu Hangzhou 43,931 440.8
ooo oo
Zhong An Times Square Phase | Yuyao 206 1.4
gooooboo oo
Zhong An Times Square Phase I Yuyao 11,190 72.9
oooooooo oo
Others (Commercial) Hangzhou 1,226 175
oooood oo
105,453 2,650.8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
gooooooo

Hotel Operation

There are four hotels of the Group namely Holiday Inn Hangzhou
Xiaoshan, Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel, Ningbo Bright Hotel
and Huaibei Bright Hotel. The hotel operation of the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately RMB173,177,000 (2020: approximately
RMB182,516,000), representing a decrease of approximately 5.1%,
during the Year and the hotel occupancy rate was approximately 40%
(2020: approximately 43%).

Leasing Business

The leasing income of the Group mainly comes from Highlong Plaza,
International Office Centre and Zhong An Times Square, including office
and shopping malls. The total revenue from leasing business for the
Year was approximately RMB122,282,000, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB22,563,000 (2020: approximately RMB144,845,000).
The decline was due to the renovation of the Highlong Plaza and the
average occupancy rate of leasing properties (calculated by dividing total
lease area by total area available for lease) was approximately 87% (2020:
approximately 94%).

Land Reserve

As of 31 December 2021, the total GFA of land reserves held for
development and/or sale of the Group was approximately 4,069,165
sg.m..

REVENUE

The Group recorded the consolidated revenue of approximately
RMB871,066,000 for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
RMB170,696,000 or 24.4% when compared with the same year in 2020.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in the revenue from the
property sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The revenue from the property sales increased to approximately
RMB410,180,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB161,238,000 or 64.8% when compared with the
same year in 2020. The increase was mainly due to the fact that the
impact of the Covid-19 epidemic had subsided in the Mainland China
during 2021 which led to an increase in the property sales.

The revenue from the property rental amounted to approximately
RMB122,282,000 during the Year, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB22,563,000 or 15.6% when compared with the same
year in 2020. The decline was due to the renovation of the Highlong
Plaza, which involved merchants’ exemptions, relocation and store
closure etc., which led to the lower average occupancy rate of leasing
properties in the Year.

The revenue from the hotel operation amounted to approximately
RMB173,177,000 during the Year, representing an decrease of
approximately RMB9,339,000 or 5.1% when compared with the same
year in 2020. The moderate decrease was mainly due to the mild drop of
the hotel occupancy rate.

The other revenue included property management services business,
commercial project management business and other services
of RMB165,427,000, representing an increase of approximately
RMB41,360,000 or 33.3% when compared with the same year in 2020.

GROSS PROFIT

The gross profit of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately RMB216,497,000, representing an increase of
approximately RMB46,342,000 or 27.2% when compared with
the same year in 2020. The gross profit margin was 24.9%, no
significant movement when compared with the gross profit margin
of 24.3% in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
gooooooo

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

The other income and gains, net amounted to approximately
RMB374,689,000 during the Year, representing a tangible increase
of approximately RMB188,024,000 or 100.7% when compared with
the same year in 2020. The increase was mainly due to the receipt of
compensation income from a legal case, an increase in interest income,
gain on disposal of subsidiaries, gain on disposal of right-of-use assets
and dividend income from equity investments.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION
EXPENSES

The selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
RMB182,698,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB18,395,000 or 11.2% when compared with the
same year in 2020. Such increase was principally due to an increase in
advertising and promotional activities for the properties pre-sold during
the Year when compared with the same year in 2020.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB249,476,000 during the Year, representing an increase of
approximately RMB48,452,000 or 24.1% when compared with the
same year in 2020. Such increase was principally due to an increase in
administrative staff for new projects deployed.

OTHER EXPENSES

The other expenses amounted to approximately RMB151,826,000
during the Year, mainly representing the impairment of goodwill of
RMB98,995,000 and impairment provision for property and equipment
of RMB11,436,000 as resulted from a business revaluation of the parent-
child family club, Maggie & Rose.

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB223,094,000 for the Year, representing an increase of approximately
RMB3,897,000 or 1.8% when compared with the same year in 2020.
Such increase was mainly due to less interests on bank loans and other
commercial borrowings for completed properties were capitalized during
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The loss attributable to the Group was approximately RMB302,815,000
for the Year, comparing with a net profit of approximately RMB25,081,000
in 2020, such loss for the Year was mainly due to the fact the Group
recorded a fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties in the
amount of approximately RMB356,806,000 during 2020 which was not
available in the Year 2021.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group’s capital expenditure requirements mainly relate to additions
of its property and equipment. The Group spent approximately
RMB118,941,000 on property and equipment during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the Year.

DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 3 February 2021, the Group had entered into sale and purchase
agreements with Zhong An Group to agree conditionally to sell the entire
operation in commercial property management business at an aggregate
of consideration of RMB104.65 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$125.58 million) (“Transfers”).

As Zhong An Group is the controlling shareholder of the Group, Zhong An
Group is a connected person of the Group. As one or more of the relevant
percentage ratios (as defined under the Listing Rules) in respect of the
Transfers exceeded 5%, the Transfers constituted non-exempt connected
transactions for the Group under the Listing Rules and were subject to the
reporting, announcement and approval by the independent shareholders
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. An extraordinary general
meeting had been held on 24 March 2021 to approve the Transfers. The
completion of the Transfers took place on 13 April, 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
gooooooo

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of approximately RMB1,948,034,000
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB1,108,888,000). The
current ratio (as measured by current assets to current liabilities) as at 31
December 2021 was 1.05 (as at 31 December 2020: 1.69).

As at 31 December 2021, the bank loans and other borrowings of the
Group repayable within one year and after one year were approximately
RMB1,527,310,000 and approximately RMB3,107,940,000 respectively
(as at 31 December 2020: approximately RMB665,555,000 and
approximately RMB4,803,094,000 respectively). Except for certain
short-term bank and other borrowings amounting to approximately
RMB2,384,950,000 (as at 31 December 2020: approximately
RMB854,120,000) that bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans bear
interest at floating rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio was 42% (as at 31
December 2020: 49%), which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash and
cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the
parent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings and other
borrowings of approximately RMB4,635,250,000 (as at 31 December
2020: approximately RMB5,468,649,000) were secured by the Group’s
pledge of assets as follows:
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As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

020210 020200

1200 310 1200 310

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooooo ooooo

Property and equipment goooo 1,185,489 1,236,965
Investment properties oooo 2,681,570 3,185,130
Properties under development goooo 485,411 485,411
Completed properties held for sale goooDbDOoOogo 678,740 913,191
Restricted cash gooogoo 64,109 40,572
5,095,319 5,861,269

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group principally operates in PRC and the revenue, operating cost
and borrowings were mainly denominated in RMB. As a result, the Group
has minimal exposure to exchange rate fluctuation. The interest rates for
the Group’s borrowings were both floating and fixed. Upward fluctuations
in interest rates will increase the cost of borrowings.

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. Cash is generally placed in short-term deposits mostly
denominated in RMB. The Group does not use any financial instruments
for hedging purpose for the Year.

GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s contingent liabilities was
approximately RMB316,410,000 (2020: approximately RMB46,656,000),
which were mainly the guarantees provided by the Group in favour
of certain banks for the grant of mortgage loans to purchasers of the
Group’s properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
gooooooo

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s capital commitments for
property development expenditures amounted to approximately
RMB1,330,123,000 (2020: approximately RMB1,001,730,000). It is
expected that the Group will finance such capital commitments from its
own funds and bank loans.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets as at 31 December 2021.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 1,630 employees (2020: 1,729).
The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to
factors such as remuneration information in respect of the local market,
the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group
conducts performance appraisal once every year for its employees,
the results of which are applied in annual salary review and promotion
assessment. The Group’s employees are considered for the entitlement of
annual bonus according to certain performance conditions and appraisal
results. The Group also provides continuous learning and training
programmes to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so
as to maintain and enhance their competitiveness.

STRATEGIES

The management has developed sound strategies to overcome the
abovementioned challenges and address the uncertainties faced by the
Group, including formulating effective marketing strategies and plans and
improving our products and services quality to consolidate our brand.
The Group will put more efforts in formulating new policies, guidelines,
systems and processes to facilitate effectively cost management, risk
management, internal control and sustainable environmental management
to enhance company management standards and corporate governance
standards. For growth strategy, the Group will focus on identifying
possible acquisitions with future development prospects and profitability
to improve the returns on assets. The Group will further emphasize
on investor relations management, and continue to convey clearly the
operation vision, business updates and future development strategies
of the Group and other information to various stakeholders through
press conferences, roadshows, media delegation visits and one-on-one
analyst or investor interview and otherwise to strive for the recognition
and support from various stakeholders and obtain more resources for
business development and maximizing shareholders’ value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees, customers and suppliers are the key stakeholders who affect
the sustainability of our business. Engaging with those stakeholders will
not only help us understand the possible risks and opportunities to our
business, but also help us to mitigate risk and seize the opportunities in
the real market situation.

The Group believes that our people are critical factors to the Group’s
success and competitiveness in the market. As such, we had adopted
a share option scheme on 20 May 2015 for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contributed to the
success of the Group’s operations.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated sales team constantly
communicates with our customers and potential customers to uncover
and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. Grasping the market trend is the key for the Group to timely
adjust our operating strategies to meet the market demands.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company’s policies and practices highlight the importance of
compliance with all relevant local laws, rules, regulations and standard.
This in return, facilitates the continuous granting of specific licenses and
permissions.

The Group will seek professional legal advice from legal advisers, where
necessary, to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.

No material accidents related to serious injuries, death or property
damage and no environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or administrative
sanctions were reported to our management during the year under
review and as at the date of this annual report. The management is of the
view that the Group were in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and
regulations in each material respects.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to protecting
the environment in the areas where we operate and ensuring that
environmental standards set by the government are consistently met.

We have closely monitored our projects at different stages to ensure that
construction process is in compliance with laws and regulations related
to environment protection and safety. The Group endeavors to manage
its project operations by working with suppliers and contractors to ensure
that they understand the importance of environmental protection, pollution
prevention and waste reduction. We also encourage all our employees to
be more environmentally conscious.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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BOARD OF.DIRECTORS

The Board comprises: (i) executive directors: Mr. Shi Nanlu, Mr. Liu Bo
and Ms. Tang Yiyan; (i) non-executive directors: Mr. Shi Zhongan and Mr.
Tang Min; and (i) independent non-executive directors: Mr. Ng Sze Yuen,
Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 57 to 60 in this
annual report. There are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships) among members of the
Board. A list of the Directors identifying their roles and functions are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board meets regularly to discuss the
overall strategy, the operational and financial performance of the Group.
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other electronic
means of communication in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles”).
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During the year under review, a total of 4 Board meetings and one general
meeting were held. The individual attendance of the Directors is tabulated
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as follows:
Number of Number of
attendance/ attendance/
Number Number
of Board of general
meetings meetings
ooooad
ooooo oo
000 0OOoOooooo
ooogd oooooo
Executive Directors gooo
Mr. Shi Nanlu goooo 4/4 1/1
Mr. Liu Bo oooo 4/4 1/1
Ms. Tang Yiyan goooo 4/4 1/1
Non-executive Director goooo
Mr. Shi Zhongan goooo 4/4 1/1
Mr. Tang Min oooo 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors goooboog
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry goooo 4/4 1/1
Mr. Xu Chengfa goooo 4/4 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung goooo 4/4 1/1

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the chairperson and chief executive officer are separate and
are not performed by the same individual as this ensures better checks
and balances and hence better corporate governance. During the year
under review and as at the date of this report, the role of the chairperson
was performed by Mr. Shi Zhongan, while Mr. Shi Nanlu was chief
executive officer of the Group.

The chairperson had held a meeting with all independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No specific or other
issues had been raised or discussed as it had been concluded that all
issues which would be discussed had been properly dealt with in the
meetings of the Board.
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Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-
Executive Directors

The non-executive Director, Mr. Shi Zhongan, has been appointed for a
term of 3 years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically
renewable for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the
expiry of the appointment.

The non-executive Director, Mr. Tang Min, has been appointed for a term
of 3 years commencing on 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable
for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

The independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu
Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung, have been appointed for a term of 3
years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically renewable for
a successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive directors
possess extensive academic, professional and/or industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their professional advice to
the Board.

Power of and Delegation by the Board

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with
the Articles. The Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and
policies with emphasis on the business growth, financial performance
and corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, major transactions, director
appointments or re-appointments, investment policy, dividend and
accounting policies and responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance and legal
and regulatory compliance of the Group. In addition, the Board has also
specifically resolved that all transactions/contracts/other matters of the
Group that are subject to the disclosure requirement in accordance with
the Listing Rules should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Board has delegated to the senior management to deal with day-
to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on a periodic basis.
The senior management frequently reports back to the Board and obtains
prior approval from the Board before making decisions for key matters or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

gopooobooobooon

ooo0000000000003000.20140
50310 00000000C00000000AO0
ooOooo

obO00000O0O0O0O00O030002020040
s0000o00oooooobooooooooan
000

goooOboOoO0oooooobooooobooboooo
O000000030002014050310000
ob0ooO0ooooocOooooocoOoOoonoa

doddoo0ooO0OOoO0oOoOoOooooooooo
ooO0OOoODO0O0OOoooOO0O0O0CcoOoO0O00O0Oo
obOoooooooooo

gooooood

gooobOoOO0o0oooooobOobbbO00O
obooocO0OO0oo0o0OO0O0Ob0O00O000oo0oO0o0o0OO
ooboooOoO0ooooOoO0OO0OO0CcOoooooOoo
goboobooobocoboooboobooa
ooobooooo0oooooooboogooo
ooo0oooOOooO0OO0OO0cOO0O0o0OOooOooono
ooo00o0ooooOOoOoOoOooooooooOoo
gooooocobbooooooocoobooooo
oooboOoOO00oooooObOO0O0o0ooooboD

oboooO0oooOoocOOooOoooOoOooOOooo
obOoocOoOO0ooOOooboOoOooOoooOoooDo
oboooooOoooooooooooooo
oo0O00O0O00OO00O00D0OO0DbO0O



Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the Board
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
members of Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the Directors
for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. The Company may, at any general
meetings convened and held in accordance with the Articles, remove
a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his
period of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to the committees, including the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) and the corporate governance committee (the “Corporate
Governance Committee”) of the Company. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference which are available for inspection by the Shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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(i)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of three members,

being one executive Director, Ms. Tang Yiyan, and two independent

non-executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the

Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for

the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the

Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation
is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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(e)  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating e ODOODODODOOOODOOD

to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and

oocoooobOoOOO0OO0OOoO0o0Oao
gobobooboobooobooooao
obooooobooooboDbo

appropriate; goooooooooooo

(f) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is (f) ooooooooooOooooa
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and goooooooooo

() to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time (9 OO0DODO0OOoODOOoOOOOoDOoOoOo
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions oooOoobDooooooooao
elsewhere in the Group. oooooooo

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the gooDoobDOooDoDOoOoDOoOoDOoOo

year under review. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the gbooobooooboooooboo

policies of remuneration packages of the Board of Directors. The goooooobbDOoOoOoooDoDbo

individual attendance of the members was tabulated as follows:

Number attendance/
Number of meetings
goooooodgo

Mr. Xu Chengfa oooDo0O 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ooooo 1/1
Ms. Tang Yiyan ooooo 1/1
Nomination Committee (i) oOOooDoOOo

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of three members, gooooooOoO0oooOooooooo

being one executive Director, Mr. Shi Nanlu, and two independent O00O00OO0o0oOoooOoOooOooooon

non-executive Directors, Mr. Xu Chengfa (chairperson of the oo0oo0@moo0ooooomoooooD
Nomination Committee) and Mr. Yim Chun Leung. good
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The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination

Committee are as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy,
and to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in
particular, the chairperson and the chief executive officer of
the Company);

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

oooooooocooOoooooooao
ooooooOoocOooobooooOoo

coooooOoOoooooooao
ooooooooooocoboooo
oooDo0mooooooboo0onooo
oooO0ooooooDoooooo
oooooo

goooooobooobooobo
oboboob0OobOO0oo0obOoo0on
oO0oo0ooooocOoooa

oo0boo0obOoOoo0ooo0oDbmo
toooooomooocoooao
ooooobOoOooOoOooooo
goooooobooobooobo
gooo

oooooocoOooooooo

ooooooooooooooa
oooOoOoooooOoooooao
obOoboo0ooo0oooO0oooDo0oo
oooooooO0oobo0ooo

uobhoooooooboooooo
oboboob0OobOO0oo0obOoo0on
ooooooooooooocoo
oboooooo



(@ in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
Shareholders at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the
Listing Rules, to review and provide recommendations to
the Shareholders (other than shareholders who are directors
with a material interest in the relevant service contracts and
their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the
service contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such
service contracts are in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, and to advise Shareholders on how
to vote;

(h)  to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

i) to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

) to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The Board has set the following measurable objectives
implementing the Board Diversity Policy:

. when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become
Board members, it should be based on a series of diverse
aspects, including Board members with different background,
skills, regional and industry experience, race, gender and
other qualities, that are in balanced and complementary
with each other, creating synergy, and enabling the Board to
function effectively as a whole.
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The nomination procedures are as follow:

. candidates for directorship are selected by the Nomination
Committee subject to the review and approval of the Board in
accordance with the Articles.

. when reviewing the composition of the Board and
considering the nomination of new Directors, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the skills, regional and
industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities of potential candidates and also business needs of
the Company.

Based on the review by the Nomination Committee, the Nomination
Committee considers that the Company has achieved the
measurable objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy for the year under review.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee were held during the
year under review. The Nomination Committee had reviewed the
structure and the diversification policy of the Board of Directors and
had revised and restated the Board Diversity Policy.

The individual attendance of the members of the Nomination
Committee during the year under review was tabulated as follows:
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goboooboooooooooboo
gooooo

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings
goooooogo

Mr. Xu Chengfa goooo
Mr. Yim Chun Leung goooo
Mr. Shi Nanlu goooo
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(iii) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of three members, being
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry
(chairperson of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim
Chun Leung. Mr. Ng Sze Yuen possess the appropriate professional
qualification, and accounting and financial management expertise.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

(b)  to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

(c) to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is engaged before the audit
commences;

(d) to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed,;

(iii)
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Review of the Company'’s financial information

()  to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, interim report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

M in reviewing these reports (the Company’s annual report
and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report) before submission to the Board, the Audit
Committee should focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(i)  major judgmental areas;

(i) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumption and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting standards;

(v compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(viij  the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions, if any, have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;
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(vii)

)

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need
to be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cash flow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board,;

(@) inregard to (e) and (f) above:

0

(i)

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management of the Group and the
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company’s auditor; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditor;

(h)  to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim

and final audits, and any matters the auditor may wish to

discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);
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Overseeing the €Cempany’s financial reporting system, risk

management and internal control systems

U)

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditor, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;
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to conduct exit interviews with any Director, manager,
financial controller or internal credit control manager upon
their resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his
departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be a Audit
Committee member, auditor and accounting staff either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Audit Committee
member, auditor and accounting staff or dismissal of any of
them;

to report to the Board on the matters set out above;

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the

Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during
the year under review. The work performed by the Audit Committee

included the following:

reviewed the annual report and annual results announcement
of the Company;

reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company ;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;
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reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditor on any significant findings and audit issues;

reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion
with internal control consultant on any significant findings
and internal control issues for the first half of the year under
review;

reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion with
internal auditor on any significant findings and internal control
issues for the second half of the year under review;

discussed with the external auditor before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

considered and approved the service contract of the auditor
for the year under review.

The individual attendance of the members of the Audit Committee
during the period under review was tabulated as follows:

— GOoOoo0OOoOoOoOOoOoooooooo
ooooooooooOooooo
oono

— GOoOoo0OOoOoOoooooooooo
ooooooooooOoocooo
obOooo0oooDOooo

S oooOooboooooooooao
goooooobooobooobo
oooboOboO0O0ooooo

S ooooooooooOoocooo
gboboooooooooooao
d

— GOoooooooooDOoboooo
ooo

ooooootocooooooooooao
oooooo

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings
ooooooodgo

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry ooooo
Mr. Xu Chengfa goooo
Mr. Yim Chun Leung goooo

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee comprises a total of three
members, being one executive Director, Mr. Shi Nanlu (chairperson
of the Corporate Governance Committee), and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen Terry and Mr. Yim Chun
Leung.

The role and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee
include the following:

to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;
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(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code and the disclosures in the
Corporate Governance Report.

One meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee were
held during the year under review. The Corporate Governance
Committee had discussed and reviewed the Board’s and the
Group’s compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code
and the prevailing Listing Rules during the year under review. The
Corporate Governance Committee had also reviewed the internal
control reports and had discussion with internal control consultant
on any significant findings and internal control issues for the first
half of the year under review and had revised and restated Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors and Employees and Inside
Information Policy;

The individual attendance of the members of the Corporate
Governance Committee during the year under review was tabulated
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as follows:
Number of attendance/
Number of meeting
opoooooooao
Mr. Shi Nanlu ooooo 1/1
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry ooooo 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ooooD 1/1

Further details of the terms of reference of Board committees are
available on websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEM

The Group recognizes that good risk management is essential for the
long-term and sustainable growth of a business. The Board puts particular
emphasis on determining the risk-tolerance levels in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The management also
learns from other outstanding companies and takes into consideration
of the Company’s unique business and operating environment in
formulating the risk management and control framework. All employees
are committed to continually enhancing the risk management framework,
linking to our corporate strategies as well as integrating it into day-to-day
operation.

Objective of the Risk Management and Internal
Control

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of
the Group include:

. to strengthen the Company’s risk management and internal control
in compliance with the Listing Rules requirement;

. to establish and constantly improve the risk management and
internal control system;

. to implement a top-down and companywide risk management
system that covers every aspect of the business; and

. to keep baseline risks within the acceptable range.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Main Features of Risk Management System — 00000000 000o0oo0o000
Three-tier Risk Management Approach o000

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to UO0OU0ODOOOO0OO0O0DODOOOOOOODOOO
identify, assess, mitigate and handle significant risks. At the first ine of 0000000000000 000O0O0O00OO
protection, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and 0000000000000 O0O0O0O0OOO0
monitoring risks associated with each business or deal. The management, U O00O00O00O0000O0O0O00O000O00OO
as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and models, provide OOO0OODOOO0O0O0OO0O0O0O0O0O0OOOOO0
technical support, develops new systems and oversees portfolio O0000O00000O00000O0O0OO0OO
management. It ensures risks are within the acceptable range and thatthe 0000000000000 00OOOOO0
first line of protection is effective. As the final line of protection, theinternal 0O 00000000000 O00OO0O

audit department ensures that the first and second lines of protection are

effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

Audit Committee

goooo

| |
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Protection Protection Protection
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Main Features of Internal Control System

Our internal .control systems are developed with reference to the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
principles which involved five elements as internal environment, risk
assessment, control activities, information and communication and
internal supervision. The aim of internal control is to reasonably guarantee
the compliance of its operation and management with regulations and
laws, assets security, and authenticity and integrity of financial report and
related information, improve the efficiency and effect of operating activities
and promote the realization of development strategy of the Group.

oopooobooon

000000 oDooooooooooan
O00O0O00O0OO000O0DOO(Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission0 0 0 0000000000000
O00000000000b0OO0o0oooooon
Ooo00oooooooooooooooo
O0C0O0O0OD00O0OOooooOooooooodg
Oo0ooO0o0ooO0oooooooooood
ogooooo

Information and Internal
Communication Environment
ooooo oooo

Company’s
Objectives
A=
Internal
Supervision
oooo

Control
Activities
oooo

Principal Risks and Key Controls

1. Market risks

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers from PRC.
The Group is exposed to the risks associated with the PRC market
which include the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions.
The market risks may pose an adverse impact on the Group’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.
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The project team will carefully scrutinize each project for
related risks and returns. These include assessment of relevant
government policies, market demand and conditions and economic
data. The management is responsible for supervision, conducting
regular operation reviews and keeping the Board fully informed
through regular reports, and prompt decisions can therefore be
made if changes are required.

Business and operational risks

Distinctive risks factors in property related businesses such as
default of buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems
may have different levels of negative impact on the results of the
Group’s operation. Industrial accidents may happen although
precautionary measures is established, which may damage the
Company’s reputation or cause financial loss to the Group.

The internal audit team will review key activities of the Group and
ensures all material controls, including financial and operational, are
functioning effectively. Precautionary and contingency measures are
also set up to ensure the Group is protected against major potential
loss, damage or impact to our operations. Insurance coverage
against accidental losses and/or other hazards is used in protecting
our assets and reputation against any potential liabilities.

Financial risks

The investment and business operation are exposed to risks from
exchange rates, interest rates and liquidity. Amid global financial
uncertainties, the financial risks encountered by the Group had
increased accordingly.

The Group closely monitors the financial risks and when appropriate
will adopt measures to manage and hedge corresponding risks by
using of derivatives such as interest rate and currency swaps. The
Group’s cash and financing are centrally managed and controlled
at the corporate level to achieve a better borrowing terms and
coherent financial risk management. To meet our obligations as and
when needed, the Group maintains sufficient facilities with various
banks and financial institutions. The maturity of deposits and loans
is carefully planned and managed to reduce liquidity risk.
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4. Talent risks

Talent shortage and high employee turnover will have a negative
impact on the Group’s present and future performance. We believe
that human resources are of critical importance for the success of
the Company.

To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the Group
evaluate our employee remuneration packages and monitor them
against market trends. We provide on-the-job training for new staff
and offer career advancement opportunities for suitable staff to
develop their full potential at various stages of their career. We also
encourage communication with all levels of staff to gather feedback
and suggestions for future improvement.

Review of Internal Control System

The internal audit department of the Company (“Internal Audit
Department”) in the year under review was responsible for the internal
control functions. The Internal Audit Department is required to provide
internal control assessment reports to the Audit Committee and the Board
on a regular or ad hoc basis.

The Board recognized its responsibility to ensure the Group maintains a
sound and effective risk management and internal control system. The
Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control of the Group during the Year. Such review had covered
all material controls including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions. No major issue but areas for
improvement have been identified. The Board and the Audit Committee
considered that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems are
reasonably implemented.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information are as follows:

. the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Future Commission in June 2012;

. the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

. the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or
inside information;

. the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that
only the executive Directors of the Company, company secretary
and investor relations officers are authorized to communicate with
parties outside the Group; and

. employees or Directors possessing inside information should
report the same to an executive Director, who will then report to
the Board. The Board will then discuss and handle the relevant
disclosures or dissemination of inside information accordingly.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to
the Board’s approval in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairperson and/or the chief executive officer on governance matters and
assisting the Board in discharging its obligations to Shareholders pursuant
to the Listing Rules. He is also responsible for ensuring that the activities
of the Board conducted efficiently and effectively, and procedures and all
applicable laws and regulations complied with, and facilitating induction
and professional developments of the Directors, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group. The Company
has selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates.

During the year under review, all Directors have been given on a quarterly
basis the latest information report about the financial position and
business development of the Group. The Directors endeavor to ensure
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position
and prospects in annual reports, interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

OPERATION OF MEETING AND SUPPLY
OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to
give all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board meetings,
reasonable notice should be given.

Board or committee papers will as far as practicable be sent to all
Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting
or a Board committee meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with adequate
information and explanations so as to enable them to make an informed
assessment of the information put before the Board and its Board
committees for approval. Management is also invited to join the Board or
Board committee meetings where appropriate.

Draft and final version of minutes of the meetings should be sent to all
Board and Board committee members for their comment and records.
Minutes of the meetings are kept by our Company Secretary, and the
Board and Board committee members may inspect the documents and
minutes of the Board and the Board committees at any time.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided by the
independent auditor, Ernst & Young, for the Year was RMB1,680,000
(2020: RMB1,700,000).

During the year under review, the independent auditor was also engaged
to review the interim results of the Company at a fee of RMB420,000
(2020: RMB300,000) and no other non-audit services took place (2020:
Nil).

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the controlling shareholders and the Company entered into
the Amended Non-Compete Undertakings to amend the Existing Non-
Compete Undertakings, which will supersede and replace in its entirety
the Existing Non-Compete Undertakings. In summary, pursuant to the
Amended Non-Compete Undertakings, any member of the Zhong An
Group will be entitled to be engaged in property management business
(including but not limited to residential, commercial or mixed commercial-
residential use properties and related ancillary services and for the
avoidance of doubt, does not include operations and management of
hotel and cinema) in the PRC, and the Group will no longer be engaged
in any property management business (excluding operations and
management of hotel and cinema) in the PRC. Please refer to the circular
dated 5 March 2021 for detalils.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’
INSURANCE

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage in
respect of legal action against them arising from their duties performed.
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DIRECTORS* CONTINUING oooooagn
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional OO0000000C0O0OD000O0O0O0OOOOOO
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skils. The O000000O00O000O0O0OOOOOOOO
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the OO0O00O0O000O0O0O00O0OOOOOCOO
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from tme O00O00O000O0O0OO0OO0OOOCOOOO
and time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good 00000000000 0OOOO

corporate governance practices.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training O0OO0OOO00000O000O00O0OOOOOO

received by Directors during the year under review is as follows: ooooooogo

Type of continuous
Name of Directors professional development
agooo oooooooo
Executive Directors oooo
Mr. Shi Nanlu ooooao B
Mr. Liu Bo oooo B
Ms. Tang Yiyan goooo B
Non-executive Director goooo
Mr. Shi Zhongan goooo B
Mr. Tang Min gooo B
Independent Non-executive Directors goooooag
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry goooo A/B
Mr. Xu Chengfa goooo A/B
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ooooo A/B
Notes: gooo

A attending briefing sessions and/or seminars relating to matters in financial, legal Al gooooooUoooOooUoooooooooo

and corporate governance oooo

B: reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development of the Bl goooOooOopoOoOoU0ooUOoOooOooOooOoo
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements ooooooooono
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MECHANISM FOR THE PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT ON MIXED-USE LANDS

In relation to the mechanism for the property development on Mixed-
use Lands (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 16 June
2014 (“Prospectus”)), each of Zhong An together with its subsidiaries,
(the “Zhong An Group”) and the Company has undertaken to each
other that it must, in respect of each of its financial year ending after the
Listing, instruct its auditor or independent financial advisers to review
such documents as the auditor or independent financial advisers may
require and confirm to its board of directors that the mechanism set out
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders —
Joint property development on mixed commercial-residential use land
projects” in the Prospectus had been complied with during such financial
year. During the year under review, the Directors confirm that there has
not been any occasion where an opportunity aroused for an acquisition
and development of land for property development project on mixed
commercial-residential use land projects in which the remaining Zhong
An Group (i.e. Zhong An Group, excluding the Group) (the “Remaining
Zhong An Group”) has invited the Group to participate in the Joint
Development (as defined in the Prospectus).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Company’s code of conduct during the year under review.

Senior management who, because of their office in the Group, are likely
to be in possession of inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the provisions of the Model Code when dealing in the
Company’s shares.
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SHAREHOLBDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, general meetings shall be convened
on the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders made to
Directors or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
shall not hold less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Board and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
them by the Company.

Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election
as a Director

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the nominating
shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she should give to
the company secretary of the Company notice in writing of the intention
to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no earlier than the 7
clear days after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting
and no later than 7 clear days prior to the date appointed for the relevant
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are available on the Company’s website.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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INVESTOR RELATIONS/WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
COMMUNICATION

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means of
access includes the release by the Company of the various corporate
communication of the Company via the website of the Stock Exchange
and the website of the Company (http://www.chinanewcity.com.cn).
Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to attend general
meetings of the Company where the chairperson of the Company and
other members of the Board and (if appropriate) the auditor of the
Company, are available to answer questions.

In addition, our chairperson, Directors and senior management actively
participated in various investor relations activities to reach and establish
a good long-term interactive relationship with shareholders and potential
investors. We introduced our current operating conditions and future
development strategies and at the same time also received advices
from investors regarding the Company’s development, from which we
understand more about investors’ expectations of the Company. Thereby,
we can continue improving the operation management of the Company
and establish effective mutual communication channels.

Enquiries and Proposals to the Board

Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company for any
enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders may contact
the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in the PRC or the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn or direct any enquiries to the Company’s
investor relations representative, Capital Markets Department, whose
contact details are set out in the annual report of which this report forms
part.
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Annual General Meeting

The 2020 annual general meeting was held on 10 June 2021 at Crystal
Hall, 4th Floor, Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan, No. 688 Shanyin
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC. The
Directors and senior management together with the external independent
auditor attended the annual general meeting to answer enquiries from
shareholders and investors attending the meeting. All ordinary resolutions
proposed in the meeting were duly passed by way of poll.

Regular Meetings with Investors

During the year under review, the Directors, senior management and
investor relations team have meetings with investors, fund managers and
financial analysts from time to time, introducing the operating conditions
and development strategies of the Company and answered the questions
raised. The Company provides the investors and analysts with clear
and timely compliance information to enable them to make reasonable
investment decisions with sufficient information.

Investor Relations Plan

In 2022, we will continue to enhance communication with investors in
accordance to the main needs and concerned issues from investors and
analysts. It is expected that after the panademic, multiple activities for
investors will be conducted in the second half of 2022 through field trip,
non-deal roadshow and one-to-one meeting and publishing voluntary
disclosure announcement to mass investors in order to enhance their
understanding of the Group.

Should investors have any inquiries and/or suggestions, please contact us
at cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents was adopted on 31 May 2014.
There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company during the year under review.

For and on behalf of the Board
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson
Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Nanld O O 0O 0O 0 [0 aged 39, is the executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company since 3 April 2020. He is responsible
for the daily operation and management, strategic investments and new
business exploration of the Group. He joined Zhong An Group Limited
(*Zhong An Group”) in June 2010. He has served as the manager of
the capital management department, manager of the fund management
department and deputy director of the Zhong An Group. He has many
years of experience in financial management. Mr. Shi has resigned from
all of his management positions in the Zhong An Group prior to joining
the Group. He has been a vice president of the Group since June 2015.
Mr. Shi received his undergraduate degree in finance and accounting from
The University of Manitoba in Canada in June 2007.

Mr. Liu BalO OO OO0 aged 34, is the executive Director and vice
president of the Company since 3 April 2020. He is responsible for overall
daily operations and management of the Group as well as ensuring the
Board functions properly with good corporate governance practice.
He joined the Group in July 2016. He has served as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in the investment
department of He Jun Capital from December 2012 to July 2013, and
in the business development department of Wan Xiang Trust from
August 2013 to June 2016. He has many years of experience in financial
investment and fund management. Mr. Liu holds a Master’s Degree in
Actuarial Science from the Boston University in December 2012.

Ms. Tang Yiyard 0 0O 0O 0O O [0 aged 51, is the executive Director and
vice president of the Company, and is responsible for the overall property
management of our Group. She was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. Ms. Tang has over 19 years of experience
in operations and management. Prior to joining the Group, she held
various positions including assistant to general manager of Jiaxing Jiahe
Beijing City Shopping Center Company Limitedl 0 0 0000000
0000000 and manager of sales department, project supervisor,
deputy general manager and vice general manager in general affairs of
Zhejiang Lai Yin Da Commercial Development Company Ltdl) O O O O
O000000O00D0O Ms. Tang obtained a diploma in economics and
management from the Zhejiang Province Mechanic and Politics University
0000000000 ~Ocurrently known as Zhejiang University of
Economics and Management] 0 O 0 0 00 OO0 in July 1994.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shi Zhongaril 00 0 0 00 O (Qalias Shi Kanchendl O O O [), aged
59, is a non-executive Director and chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as a Director on 2 July 2013 and re-designated as non-—
executive Director on 30 September 2013. He is responsible for assisting
the Board in the strategic planning of the Group, leading the Board
to ensure that it will perform its roles and carry out its responsibilities
effectively, and ensuring proper corporate governance practices and
procedures are implemented within the Group. However, he does not
participate in the day-to-day management of the business operations of
the Group.

Mr. Shi has almost 30 years of experience in property development and
property investment. Mr. Shi currently serves as the executive director
and chairman of Zhong An (stock code: 00672). Mr. Shi served as a tax
officer in the finance and revenue bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou
(formerly known as Xiaoshan City) and the general manager of Hangzhou
Xiaoshan Milkyway Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Shi completed
an Executive Master of Business Administration Program (Finance Track)
organized by Shanghai National Accounting Institute and obtained a CFO
Quialifying Training Certificate in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr. Shi
completed a program for executive officers, focusing on globalization
and real estate developers, co-organized by Harvard University, Tsinghua
University, The University of Hong Kong and the United States Military
Academy and a program for presidents of real estate companies
organized by Zhejiang University in July 2006. Mr. Shi obtained a doctoral
degree of business administration program jointly organized by Shanghai
Advanced Institute of Finance (SAIF) and W. P. Carey School of Business,
Arizona State University (ASU) in the US in May 2017. Mr. Shi is also a
director of certain members of the Remaining Zhong An Group and the
Group. Mr. Shi is the sole director and the sole shareholder of Whole
Good Management Limited, which is the controlling shareholder of the
Group.

Mr. Tang Mirtd O O O O [0 aged 66, is the non-executive Director of the
Company and vice chairperson of the Board since 3 April 2020. He is
responsible for the formulation of development strategies. He is a senior
economist.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terryl 0 0 0 0O 0O aged 62, is an independent
non-executive Director and vice chairperson of the Board. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2014.
He has over 34 years of experience in operation and management and
is now the chief executive officer and an executive director of L’AVENUE
International Holdings Limited, a private company in Hong Kong. His
leadership responsibilities include strategic planning, financial investments,
management of property development and investment portfolio, both in
Hong Kong and overseas. Since October 2017, he has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Sun Hing Printing Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01975), a company whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange and provides independent views to
the board as well as its audit committee and nomination committee. Mr.
Ng was an executive director of Hang Lung Group Limited (stock code:
00010), Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 00101) and Giordano
International Limited (stock code: 00709), companies whose shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, respectively. He also
worked at the Stock Exchange and held various positions. Mr. Ng is a
fellow member of CPA Australia.

Mr. Xu Chengfad 0 0 0O 0O O aged 69, is an independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Xu has over 24 years of experience in
banking operations and management. He worked in the Hong Kong
Branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (stock code: 03328),
a company whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and held various positions including senior manager of
investment banking department, senior manager of corporate services
department, assistant general manager, deputy general manager, deputy
chief executive officer and consultant.

Mr. Yim Chun Leund] O 0O 0O 0O 0O [ aged 60, is an independent non—
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Yim has over 37 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and corporate finance fields. He is the independent
non-executive Director who has the qualifications and experience to meet
the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Yim is a non-practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He also possesses a master’'s degree in business
administration.

Mr. Yim is also an executive director of Jacobson Pharma Corporation
Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 02633) which, together with its group
companies, are vertically integrated with the research, development,
production, sale and distribution of generics, specialty drugs, and
branded healthcare products. He has been appointed as a non-executive
director of JBM (Healthcare) Limited (stock code: 02161) since 22
September 2020, whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yim had served in numerous companies listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange which included an executive director and
chief executive officer of LVGEM (China) Real Estate Investment Company
Limited (formerly known as New Heritage Holdings Ltd.) (stock code:
00095) since December 2004 and July 2014 respectively until he resigned
in March 2016, the financial controller of Soundwill Holdings Limited
(stock code: 00878) from May 2002 to June 2004, the chief financial
officer of Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 01168)
from December 2000 to February 2002, an executive director of N P H
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Concord New Energy
Group Limited, stock code: 00182) from January 1998 to April 1999 and
the finance director of Tysan Holdings Limited (stock code: 00687) from
January 1994 to January 1998.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yu Gaofend] O 0O 0O O O Os the Vice President of the Group,
in charge of investment development and operation management.
Mr. Yu joined the Group in September 2019. Prior to joining the
Group, he worked in Zhong An Group Limited from February 2004 to
September 2019. He has been engaged in the real estate, marketing
planning, general manager of the project company and the director of
the president’s office. He has many years of experience in real estate
development. Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor degree in civil engineering
(engineering management) from Zhejiang University in February 2009.
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The Report of Directors

The board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China New
City Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) are pleased
to present their annual report to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) and the audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (“the year under review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in commercial property development, leasing and hotel
operations. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during
the year under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW, KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion on the business review of the Group and an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators for the year under review are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year under review and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group at 31 December 2021 are set out in the financial
statements on pages 89 to 96.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilites and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements is set out on page 252.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY. AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group during the year under review are set out in notes
12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively. Further details of the
Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 173 to 188.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out under the
paragraph headed “Principal Risks and Key Controls” in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers are set out in the paragraph headed
“Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance is
set out in the paragraph headed “Environment Policies and Performance”
under the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

Borrowings repayable on demand or within one year are classified under
current liabilities. Details of the long-term borrowings are set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements. Interest and other borrowing
costs capitalised by the Group during the year are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
under review are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Scheme as disclosed in the section headed “The Report
of Directors — Share Option Scheme” of this annual report and note 32 to
the financial statements respectively, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the year under review or subsisted at
the end of the year under review.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 33 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to approximately RMB82,363,000 and the Company’s share premium
amounted to RMB719,697,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the
Company, dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium
account or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this
purpose in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE OPTHON SCHEME

The details of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved by
the Shareholders on 20 May 2015 (the “Adoption Date”) are disclosed
below pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Rules
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

1. Purposes of the scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Directors consider the Scheme, with
its broadened basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward
the employees, the Directors and other selected participants for
their contributions to the Group. Given that the Directors are entitled
to determine any performance targets to be achieved as well as the
minimum period that an option must be held before an option can
be exercised on a case by case basis, and that the exercise price of
an option cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated in the
Listing Rules or such higher price as may be fixed by the Directors,
it is expected that grantees of an option will make an effort to
contribute to the development of the Group so as to bring about an
increased market price of the Shares in order to capitalise on the
benefits of the options granted.

2. Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up
options to subscribe for Shares:

(@  any employee (whether full-time or part-time including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director)
of the Company, any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any
entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest;

(b)  any non-executive Directors (including independent non—
executive Directors) of the Company, any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
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(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(d)  any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(g) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group;

and, for the purposes of the Scheme, the offer for the grant of
option may be made to any company wholly owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants.

For avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the Company
for the subscription of Shares or other securities of the Group to
any person who falls within any of the above classes of participants
shall not, by itself, unless the Board otherwise determine, be
construed as a grant of option under the Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the above class of participants to an offer for
the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board from time
to time on the basis of the Board’s opinion as to his contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.
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3. Maximum number of the Shares available
for Subscription

(@

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.

The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date
of approval of the Scheme (“General Scheme Limit”").

Subject to (a) above but without prejudice to (d) below, the
Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Scheme Limit provided that
the total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group must not
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the
date of approval of the refreshed limit and, for the purpose
of calculating the refreshed limit, options (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Group) previously granted under the Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group will not be counted.
The circular sent by the Company to the Shareholders shall
contain, among other information, the information required
under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer
required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.
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(d)  Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above,
the Company may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond the General
Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the refreshed limit referred
to in (c) above to participants specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. In such event,
the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing a generic description of the specified participants,
the number and terms of options to be granted, the purpose
of granting options to the specified participants with an
explanation as to how the terms of the options serve such
purpose and such other information required under Rule
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price)
of options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the
Listing Rules.
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Grant of options to the Directors, chief
executive or substantial shareholders
of the Company or their respective
associates

(@  Any grant of options under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent
non-executive Director who or whose associates is the
proposed grantee of the options).

(b)  Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

0] representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and

(i)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of each offer for the grant, in
excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders. The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at
such general meeting, except that any connected person may vote
against the relevant resolution at the general meeting provided
that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any vote
taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such options must be
taken on a poll. Any change in the terms of options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
or any of their respective associates must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.
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Minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised and the
exercise period of the option:

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Board to each grantee, which period may
commence from the date of the offer for the grant of options is
made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Board and
stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of the
option and the period within which
payment must be made:

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option and options may be accepted by a participant
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer for the grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the
grant; and (i) the nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Scheme:

The Scheme became effective on 20 May 2015 and unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for a period of
10 years from that date.

6.
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OUTSTANDING OPTIONS

On 13 February 2020, the Company granted share options to the
employees of the Company and other eligible participants (the
“Grantees”) to subscribe for an aggregate of up to 173,800,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company under the
Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 May 2015 at an exercise price
per share of HK$0.998. The number of share options so granted to the
respective classes of Grantees are summarised as follows:

Classes of Grantees

gooooooad

0202002013000 0000000 020150
502000 0000000000000000
oo oocO0omooooooooooonoo
01738000000 00000000 0O0OO0.100
0000000000000 0Do0.99800000
ooO0oo0oooOoocOoooOoooOgo

Number of share
options granted

ooooo gooooooog
Employees oad 154,682,000
Suppliers Mot goaogoes 13,904,000
Advisors "o gges 5,214,000
Total: odo 173,800,000

Note: The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant share options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
Particularly, the share options are granted to the suppliers of the Group to attract
and maintain ongoing business relationships, and to the advisers of the Group
to recognise their contribution in terms of providing strategic advice in relation to
the overall management of the Group and to optimise the Group’s performance

efficiency.

None of the Grantees is a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or an associate (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of any of them. The vesting period of the share options granted
was from 13 February 2020 to 12 February 2022, both dates inclusive.
The closing price before the date of grant of the share options under
the Scheme on 13 February 2020 was HK$1.00. The fair value of the
share options granted during the year ended 31 December 2020 was
HK$27,895,000, which was estimated as at the date of grant using a
binomial option pricing model.

During the year under review, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the Scheme. As at 31 December 2021, the number
of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Scheme was 173,800,000.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 2% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for
the year under review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for about 24% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the
year under review.

The largest supplier of the Group accounted for about 12% of the
Group’s consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any Shareholders (who or which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has
any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Shi Nanlu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Bo (Vice President)
Ms. Tang Yiyan (Vice President)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Shi Zhongan (alias Shi Kancheng) (Chairperson)
Mr. Tang Min (Vice Chairperson)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry (Vice Chairperson)
Mr. Xu Chengfa
Mr. Yim Chun Leung
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The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report, there were no change in the Directors
information subsequent to the publication of the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 57 to 60 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Shi Nanlu and Mr. Liu Bo, all being the executive Directors,
has entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant to which
he agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three years
with effect from 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable for a
successive term of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the
appointment.

Ms. Tang Yiyan, being executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which she agreed to act as the
executive Director for a term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014,
which is automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from
the next day upon the expiry of the appointment.
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Mr. Shi Zhongan, being non-executive Director, has been appointed
for an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

Mr. Tang Min, being the non-executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect
from 3 April 2020, which is automatically renewable for a successive term
of one year from the next day upon the expiry of the appointment.

Each of Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung,
all being independent non-executive Directors, has been appointed for
an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the
AGM) has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year under review
is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the directors and chief
executive or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
as compensation for loss of office.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years as of 31 December 2021.
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The band of the remuneration of senior management personal and related

odddd0CoOCO0OO0oO0oOoOoooooooo

number of members of senior management personnel are as follows: ooooooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
Number of Number of
Remuneration band (HK$) gooooooo individuals Individuals
g oo
Nil to 1,000,000 0 0 1,000,0000 - 2
Over 1,000,000 0 0 1,000,0000 4 1
4 3

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of the Company, the Company had a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year
under review and as at the date of approval of this report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of which
indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the
Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis. During the year under review, no claims were made
against the Directors.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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oooon

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

goooooogboood

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 0O0O0O0OO0OO0OOOOOO
goboooooboood
00

AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the [020210120310000000000000O
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, 0000000000000 0OOOOOS71
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated OO00O0OOO0O0OMO0O0OOOOOOOOXVO
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures O 0000000000 OOOOOOOOO0O
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”), as 000000000 032000000000
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the OO00O0OO00O0O0OOODOOOOOOOOODOO
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 00000000000 OOO0O

pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Name of Approximate
Group member/ percentage of
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest Number of share(s) held shareholding
0ooooooo
gooo gooooo gooobooo gooooo gooobooo
(Note 1)
oogig
Mr. Zhongan The Company Interest of controlled corporations 1,356,889,594 shares of 67.48%
(Note 2) HK$0.10 each (L)
ooood oood ooooooowoozo 1,356,889,5940 0000
0100000()
Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation 3,262,411,200 shares of 57.89%
(Note 3) HK$0.10 each (L)
oo ooooooowoos3n 3,262,411,2000 0000
0100000()
Whole Good Beneficial owner 1 share of US$1.00 (L) 100%
gg ogoooo 1mo0Leo0 000
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Notes:

i The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares and underlying

shares of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

2. Among these 1,356,889,594 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
(“Shares”), 1,325,586,000 Shares are held by Ideal World Investments Limited
(“ldeal World”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. The entire issued shares
of Zhong An are owned as to about 57.89% by Whole Good, which is wholly
owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan. In addition, 31,303,594 Shares are held by Whole
Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Zhongan is taken to be interested in the

Shares in which each of Ideal World and Whole Good is interested.

3. These shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Zhongan
is deemed to be interested in the shares of Zhong An in which Whole Good is

interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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2. 000D0D0D1,356,889,5940 0 0 0 00.100 0
000D0MDO0O000 01,325,586,0000 000
000000000 Ideal World Investments Limited
[ Ideal WorldMO OOOODODOOODOOODOO
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report, no
contracts of significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the year under review.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received the written confirmation from Ideal
World, Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Zhongan (collectively, the
“Controlling Shareholders”) in respect of the compliance with the
provisions of the amended non-compete undertakings (“Amended
Non-compete Undertakings”), entered into between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company as set out in the circular dated 5 March
2021.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and confirmed
that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Non-compete
Undertakings and the Non-compete Undertakings has been enforced by
the Company in accordance with its terms during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”, at no time
during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Number of Shares held capital
ooooooo
[ES AN ooooooo oooooo ooooog
(Note 1)
oooin
Ideal World Beneficial owner 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
ooooo 1,325,586,000 0 O O (L)
Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
oo 0000000 Oyooz2o 1,325,586,000 00 O O (L)
Whole Good Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,325,586,000 Shares (L) 65.92%
oo oooooooobzo 1,325,586,000 O O O (L)
Beneficial owner 31,303,594 Shares (L) 1.56%
ooooo 31,303,594 0 O O (L)
Notes: ooo
1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 1. 0L oooooooooog

2. These Shares are held by Ideal World, the wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An.
The entire issued shares of Zhong An are owned as to about 57.89% by Whole
Good, which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Zhongan is taken to be interested in the

Shares in which Ideal World is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” above, no person had interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organized by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities
for the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of
these retirement plans are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year under review, the Group donated RMB314,000 (2020:
RMB3,250,000).

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and,
to the knowledge of the Directors, they confirm that the Company has
maintained at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital held
by the public for the year under review and as at the date of this annual
report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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EVENTS AETER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Board is not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that
has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this annual report.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF
THE LISTING RULES

The Directors were not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules regarding
the provision of advances by the Company to an entity.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for its reappointment as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On Behalf of the Board of
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report

st
EY:x

To the shareholders of China New City Commercial Development
Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 89 to 251, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT. MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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oooobO0OO00oooooobOO00oo0oo
oboOooO0OO0oo0O0oo0O0O0o0O0o0oO0OOoooo
doddododoOoCoOoooooooooooo
gooobobobboooooooobooboooo
gooboooooooboboooooogooo
oo0ooooogoonog

oooooooooooooooooooon
oooogooooooooooooooooao
ooo0O0o0ooooooocoOoOoOoooonOoo
ooooOboOoO0o0oooooobbOoOooOoodoo
gooobO0OO000ooooobO000o0o00o
ooooO0ooOOoOoO0ooOoOooOoocoOOooon

Key audit matter
ooooono

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
oooooooooooooog

Valuation of investment properties

oooooon

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to RMB5,291 million, which represented 34% of
the Group’s total assets. Investment properties were stated
at fair value. Management was required to exercise significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment properties
as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
020210 1203100000000 00 00 O5,291,000,000
00000000000 O034%J00000ooooon
0000000000003 00oonooooouooog
OO00oU0OoOoooocoooo
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We performed audit procedures including:
oooooooooooo

We evaluated the competence and independence of
the external valuation expert engaged by the Group. We
reviewed rental contracts, compared the prices of the
investment properties with the unit prices of adjacent
similar properties that were benchmarked in the valuation
process, assessed assumptions relating to future market
rents, compared the current prices in the active market for
adjacent similar properties, and assessed the discount rates
and future maintenance costs applied based on historical
experiences with the involvement of our internal valuation
specialists, who focused on the term yield, reversionary yield
and market unit rent. We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
0000000000000 D0O0OO0oOo0oOoOooOoonoo
0000000000 oO0OOo0OOoU0OOoOoOOooOooOO
000000000000 oU0DoU0OoO0OoOooOooOoO
0000000000 00o0OoOoOoo0ooOooOooOoO
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ooooooooooooooog

Valuation of investment properties (continued)
oooooooooo

The Group engaged an external valuation expert to perform
the valuation of investment properties. The valuation methods
applied included the direct comparison approach and income
approach which involved various assumptions, such as
estimated rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates,
historical transactions and market knowledge.
ddoooobooboooobo0ooooobooooaa
0000000000000 C0D0O0OOO0OoOoOooooOO
0000000 O0oOooOoooooooooonog

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.
000000000000 002.4030130

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

ooooooooooooooooooooon

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale amounted
to RMB3,974 million, which represented 26% of the Group’s
total assets. These properties were stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The net realisable value was estimated
by management based on expected selling prices, the cost of
completion of properties under development, and the costs to
be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions. The estimation of the net realisable value involved
significant judgement.
02021012031000000000000000O0OO0O
00000003,974,000,000000 0000000000
260000 000000000000 DO0O00O0O00ODODOO0OOO0O
doooooooOooooooooobooooooobooaa
0000000000000 C0oOOoOoCooUoOoOoooOd
oooo

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 14 and 23
to the consolidated financial statements.
00000000000 0002.4030140 230

We performed audit procedures including:
oooooooooooo

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value estimation
and checked the expected selling prices to prices of
similar properties presold by the Group recently or adjacent
properties sold. For the cost of completion of properties
under development and the cost to be incurred in selling
the properties, we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology, which had been updated to reflect the latest
information and the refined construction and selling costs
budget process.
OooDoooOoboooDoobobooobooooboooon
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Key audit matter
e EFEEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
oooo0ooooooooooog

Impairment assessment of goodwill acquired in business combinations

IO} (0] () a4 31 /O] o) (O N B e )

As at 31 December 2021, goodwill, arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries, was fully impaired and the carrying value of
goodwill amounted to nil. Under IFRSs, the Group is required
to perform an impairment test for goodwill at least on an
annual basis and adjust the carrying amount based on the test
result. The impairment test is based on the recoverable value
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the goodwiil
was allocated. An impairment loss of RMB99 million has been
recognised for goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2021.
020210120310 00 000000000000 0OOOO
O00000000O0O0O0000O0O0O0O0ooOoOoooooo
goooooobooooooDoooooooooooan
ddooooboooboooooooboooboomoooad
O0M0C0O0OO00oO00OoO0O02021012031000000
000000000 O0oes,n00,00000

Management’s assessment process was complex and
significant judgement was involved, including the degree of
subjectivity of expected future cash flow forecasts, associated
growth rates and the discount rate applied.
0do0oooobooobooooDobooboooooooooaa
0000000 0DoOOO0ooOoO0ooOoOooOoooon

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.
000000000000 002.4030160
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We performed audit procedures including:
oooooooooooo

We have evaluated the basis of goodwill allocation to CGUs.
O0o0o0Ooo0oooDooOoooooobooon

We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the models and certain assumptions used by the
Group in the impairment testing of goodwill, and evaluated
the rationality and reasonableness of the cash flow forecast
model and management’s key assumptions including the
discount rate and long-term average growth rate.
0O00oo0ooO0oboOooDooboobobobooooooon
0000000000 00o00o0oUOoooooooo
000000000 000OooooOoooooooon
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We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
OoooDobOoooobooboooonod



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
[ R ]

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
[ R ]

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2022

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
00 on

Year ended 31 December 2021 00 020210120310 000

2021 2020
20210 20200
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooad gooono
Revenue oo 5 871,066 700,370
Cost of sales oooo (654,569) (530,215)
Gross profit ao 216,497 170,155
Other income and gains, net ooOooOoooooo &) 374,689 186,665
Selling and distribution expenses ooooooao (182,698) (164,303)
Administrative expenses oooo (249,476) (201,024)
Other expenses oooo 5 (151,826) (43,288)
Finance costs agooo 7 (223,094) (219,197)
Share of losses of: oooooooog
A joint venture oooo 20 (805) -
Fair value gain upon transfer to oooDoooo
investment properties gooooo 13 - 356,806
Changes in fair value of ooooooooooo
investment properties 13 (60,311) 23,030
(Loss)/profit before tax oooooooooao 6 (277,024) 108,844
Income tax expense ooooo 10 (25,791) (83,763)
(Loss)/profit for the year oooooooooao (302,815) 25,081
Attributable to: ooooo
Owners of the parent gooooo (295,136) 44,429
Non-controlling interests goooo (7,679) (19,348)
(302,815) 25,081
(Loss)/earnings per share oo0oDoDOoooooDoo
attributable to ordinary equity goooobbooOoooo
holders of the parent 11

Basic

Diluted

ood

oad

RMB (14.7 cents)
000(14.7)0

RMB2.2 cents
ood2z20

RMB (14.7 cents)

RMB2.2 cents

000@14.7)0 0ooo2.20
continued/...
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

LS E R 2

Year ended 31 December 2021 00 [0 20210 120310 00 O

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooad gooono
(Loss)/profit for the year oooooooooag (302,815) 25,081
Other comprehensive (loss)/income oopooooooooo
Other comprehensive loss that may be ODOooOO0oOooOOooooo
reclassified to profit or loss in gooooooooo
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: ooooo
Exchange differences on translation of Ooo00ODOO00oOooDboDD
foreign operations (1,778) (14,755)
Net other comprehensive loss that may oooDOoOoOoOoooboDoo
be reclassified to profit or loss goooooooooo
in subsequent periods (1,778) (14,755)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that oooooooooooon
will not be reclassified to profit or oboooooOooo0o
loss in subsequent periods: gooo
Equity investments designated at fairvalue OO 00000000
through other comprehensive income: gooooooooooao
Changes in fair value ooooDooao (65,480) 17,200
Income tax effect ooooo 16,370 (4,300)
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income Ooo00oDOO0o0oOooDbDD
that will not be reclassified to profit or goooooooo
loss in subsequent periods jdooooooo (49,110) 12,900
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ooooDOoooooooa
for the year ono (353,703) 23,226
Attributable to: ooooo
Owners of the parent oooooo (346,024) 42,574
Non-controlling interests opoooo (7,679) (19,348)
(353,703) 23,226
continued/...
OoO0d..
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
HRERERERERERE

31 December 2021 00 20210 120 310

2021 2020
20210 20200
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo gooooo opoooao
Non-current assets gooono
Property and equipment ooooo 12 2,402,079 2,483,582
Investment properties goooo 13 5,245,954 5,359,845
Properties under development ooooo 14 1,065,488 955,398
Right-of-use assets opoooo 15 140,850 318,126
Goodwill oo 16 - 98,995
Other intangible assets gooooo 17 30,787 32,522
Equity investments designated at fairvalue OO0 000000000
through other comprehensive income goooooooo 18 335,050 392,590
Long term prepayments opoooo 19 283,138 338,761
Investment in a joint venture oooboooo 20 32,441 -
Deferred tax assets opoooogd 21 23,826 11,889
Restricted cash gooono 26 12,000 -
Total non-current assets opoood 9,571,613 9,991,708
Current assets gooo
Completed properties held for sale ooooooooon 23 1,087,065 1,255,130
Properties under development goooo 14 1,821,537 1,153,750
Inventories oo 35,333 24,631
Trade receivables gooooo 24 41,246 37,636
Prepayments, other receivables and oooooooooood
other assets oooo 25 382,358 539,276
Amounts due from related companies oooooooag 36 585,040 1,009,969
Financial assets at fair value through oooDoDoooooo
profit or loss gooo 68 113
Restricted cash ooooo 26 332,965 114,776
Cash and cash equivalents oooDOoooo 26 1,603,069 994,112
Investment properties classified oboooooooobooon
as held for sale 13 44,546 54,755
Total current assets opoooo 5,933,227 5,184,148
Current liabilities oooo
Trade payables gooooao 27 480,901 532,399
Other payables and accruals ooooDOooooooo 28 309,808 289,684
Contract liabilities oooo 29 2,063,292 393,694
Amounts due to related companies ooooooog 36 818,234 605,910
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 000000000 30 1,527,310 665,555
Lease liabilities ooono 15 29,100 35,061
Tax payable oooo 10 430,804 549,082
Total current liabilities [P [ 5,659,449 3,071,385
Net current assets [ el A S A 273,778 2,112,763
Total assets less current liabilities oooDOoooo 9,845,391 12,104,471
continued/...
ja ]
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

[ o
31 December 2021 [ 20210 120 310

2021 2020
20210 20200
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooo ogoooao
Non-current liabilities goooo
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings OO 000000 0O 30 3,107,940 4,803,094
Deferred tax liabilities gooooo 21 865,211 907,819
Lease liabilities oooo 15 138,645 316,140
Total non-current liabilities opoooaoo 4,111,796 6,027,053
Net assets ooo 5,733,595 6,077,418
Equity oo
Equity attributable to owners of theparent OO 00000000
Share capital oo 31 160,220 160,220
Reserves oo 33 5,339,922 5,674,558
5,500,142 5,834,778
Non-controlling interests goooo 233,453 242,640
Total equity ooo 5,733,595 6,077,418
Shi Nanlu Liu Bo
ooo oo
Director Director
oo oo

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HRERERERERERE

Year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to owners of the parent

0020210120310000

gooooooo
Share Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share premium Capital  Fair value Other surplus  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
oo oo oo oo ooo
oo ooo oooo oooo oooo oooo oooa oooo oo oo ooo
RMB'0O0 ~ RMBO000 ~ RMB000  RMB'00  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000
goooo  oooooc  oOooOO  ©DOCOD  OoOCO OOOOO OpDOCO OOOOO  COGOC  COoOD  D+OODOO
Note 3! Notes 31833 Note 33 Note 32 Note 33
o031 0031033a) 0033 oos 003
At1 January 2020 0202001010 160,443 721694 1281751 6,750 5,074 81,716 244637 3281086 5784051 357484 6141535
Proft for the year oooo - - - - - - - 44429 44429 (19,348) 25,081
Other comprehensive income ooooooooo
for the year:
Exchange differences related to ooooooooooo
foreign operations - - - - - - (14,755) - (14,755) - (14,755)
Changes in fair value of investments 00000000000
at fair value through other gooooooooo
comprehensive income, net of tax goooooo - - - 12,900 - - - - 12,900 - 12,900
Total comprehensive income pooooooo
for the year - - - 12,900 - - (14,755) 44429 42,514 (19,348 23,226
Repurchase of shares oooo (223) (1,997) - - - - - - (2,220 - [2,220)
Disposal of a subsidiary oooooooo - - - - - - - - - (95,496) (95,496)
Equity-settled share option arrangements 00000000000 - - - - 10373 - - - 10373 - 10373
At 31 December 2020 (120200 120310 160,220 719,697 1,281,751 19,650¢ 16,347¢ 81,716* 229882 3325515 5834778 242,640 6,077,418
At1 January 2021 0202101010 160,220 719,697 1,281,751* 19,650* 16,347+ 81,716 229882+ 3325515 5834778 242,640 6,077,418
Loss for the year oooo - - - - - - - (295,136)  (295,136) (76719 (302,815
Qther comprehensive loss oooooooo
for the year:
Exchange differences related to goooooooooo
foreign operations - - - - - - (L,778) - (L,778) - (1,778)
Changes in fair value of investments goooooooooo
at fair value through other oooooooooo
comprehensive income, net of tax goooooo - - - (49,110) - - - - (49,110) - (49,110)
Total comprehensive loss oooooooo
for the year - - - (49,110) - - (L778)  (295136) (346,024 (7679 (353,703)
Disposal of subsidiaries oooooo - - - - - - - - - (1,508) (1,508)
Equity-settied share option arrangements 00000000000 - - - - 11,388 - - - 11,388 - 11,388
At 31 December 2021 020210120310 160,220 719697 1281,751* (29,460 27,735¢ 81,716* 228104 3030379 5500142 233453 5733595
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * oooooooooOoOoOoOoooooooooo

RMB5,339,922,000 (2020: RMB5,674,558,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

5,339,922,000000 20200 O O O O 5,674,558,00001
om
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

LS E R 2

Year ended 31 December 2021 00 [0 20210 120310 00 O

2021 2020
20210 20200
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooad gooono
Cash flows from operating activities ooooOooooo
(Loss)/profit before tax ooOooooooog (277,024) 108,844
Adjustments for: ooagd
Depreciation of property and equipment opoooooo 12 110,719 98,695
Amortisation of other intangible assets obooooooo 17 1,735 1,735
Depreciation of right-of-use assets goooooo 15 49,821 41,707
Fair value gain upon transfer to gooooooog
investment properties oooooo 13 - (356,806)
Changes in fair value of investment oogoobooooo
properties o0 13 60,311 (23,030)
Loss on disposal of items of investment goopoooooo
properties oo 6 3,977 36,153
Changes in fair value of financial assetsat 0000000000
fair value through profit or loss ooooooooo
oo 6 42 (163)
Share of profits and losses of: gooooDo
a joint venture oopooDoo
oooao 20 805 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries goopoooooo o] (56,515) (84,937)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets oooooooboOooo &) (25,823) -
Gain on disposal of items of property oooooooooo
and equipment o0 6 (14,427) -
Impairment of goodwill gooo 6 98,995 -
Impairment provision for property and oooobDbO0o0ooo
equipment 6 11,436 -
Equity-settled share option expense goooooooooo 32 11,388 10,373
Finance costs gooo 7 223,094 219,197
Dividend income from equity ooooboo0oooo
investments at fair value through other ooooooo
comprehensive income ooooooag 5 (54,315) -
144,219 51,768
Increase in properties under development O OO0 OO0 (818,766) (556,278)
Decrease in completed properties ooooOooOoooDoOo
held for sale 335,844 231,513
Increase in trade receivables gooooooa (4,813) (8,261)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and oopooooooo
other receivables goooooo 144,767 (230,191)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and oooDOoO0ogoo
other assets gooooao (31,069) 332,033
Decrease/(increase) in long term ooooOoooooooo
prepayments 55,623 (208,945)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories ooooooooo (12,091) 3,069
Increase in restricted cash for ooooOooogdooo
pre-sales proceeds oo (194,652) (73,907)
Decrease in trade payables oooDoDoooo (14,517) (93,449)
Increase in other payables and accruals oo0oODO0o0oOoooDbo
oo 40,061 84,996
Increase in contract liabilities opoooaoo 1,696,359 158,357
continued/...
oO..
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ogoooooo
Year ended 31 December 2021 00 020210120310 000

2021 2020
20210 20200
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooad gooono
Cash generated from/(used in) oooDOoOoDooooo
operations oo 1,340,965 (309,295)
Interest paid oooo (346,809) (396,872)
Income tax and land appreciationtax paid OO 000000000 (181,137) (94,695)
Net cash flows generated ooOooO0o0ooooooo
from/(used in) operating activities ooooDo 813,019 (800,862)
Cash flows from investing activities oo0oDoDOoooooDoo
Investment on equity investments oooDOoO0oOoooo
designated at fair value through other opoooooo
comprehensive income opoooooo (7,940) (718)
Investment on financial assets atfairvalue 0000000000
through profit or loss gooooo - (332)
Investments in a joint venture goooooao (33,246) -
Dividends received from equity investments 0000000000
designated at fair value through other goooooooo
comprehensive income gooooo 54,315 -
Proceeds from disposal of financialassets 000000000000
at fair value through profit or loss goooooooo - 1,032
Purchases of items of property and oo0oDoO00oOooo
equipment (118,941) (62,306)
Proceeds from disposal of items of ooooooooooo
property and equipment oo 26,245 22,267
Increase in investment properties ooooDooao (8,728) (71,883)
Proceeds from disposal of investment oooooooooo
properties 47,612 588,863
Repayment from related companies obooooo 424,929 50,306
Disposal of subsidiaries gooooao 34 99,190 (2,212)
Increase in restricted cash ooooooao (35,537) (17,676)
Net cash flows generated opoOooOoooDooo
from investing activities gooo 447,899 507,441
Cash flows from financing activities ooooooooooo
Advance from/(repayment of loans from) oooooooDooo
related companies goooooooog 212,324 (105,797)
New interest-bearing bank and other goooooao
borrowings oooo 1,323,312 1,645,529
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and goooooao
other borrowings gooo (2,156,711) (632,985)
Principal portion of lease payments ooDOoo0ooDOoDn (30,178) (24,241)
Repurchase of shares oooo - (2,220)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated O EE R EEEEEEREEEERE L E
from financing activities E I EEE (651,253) 880,286
o P Y |
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

[ 5 T 1 8
Year ended 31 December 2021 00 [0 20210 120310 00 O

2021 2020
20210 20200
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooad gooono
Net increase in cash and cash ooDooooooooon
equivalents 609,665 586,865
Cash and cash equivalents at oooooooooo
beginning of year 994,112 408,493
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net D 0 00 0000000 0O (708) (1,246)
Cash and cash equivalents oo00DO0O0o0OOooD
at end of year 1,603,069 994,112
Analysis of balances of cashandcash 000000000000
equivalents
Cash and bank balances opoooooo 26 1,603,069 994,112

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report




Notes to Financial Statements

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

China New City Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands on 2 July 2013 under the Companies Law
(revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company was separately
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “SEHK”) with the stock code “1321” on 10 July 2014
and raised capital amounting to HK$608 million from the market.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were members of Zhong
An Group Limited (“Zhong An”) and its subsidiaries (“Zhong An
Group”). Zhong An, the shares of which have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) since November 2007, is the holding company of
Zhong An Group.

The Group is principally engaged in commercial property
development, leasing and hotel operations.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”),
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Whole Good
Management Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 3 May 2007.

oogoo

31 December 2021 20210 120 310

1. 0O0oooon

o0o0ooooooUooooUoooog
0020130702000 000000
000D 0o0oOooobboOooooooon
Oo0o0Do0oooDoooooboobooann
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
IslandsC0 0 0020140 701000000
0000000 0MmoOoooomoan
O0000o0O0OOo 132100000 g
608,000,00000 OO
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Notes to Financial Statements

[ o 8 T
31 December 2021 20210 120 310

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Dooooooddn

Information about subsidiaries ooooogo

98

Particulars of the Company’s principle subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of
incorporation/

Issued

gooobObOooooooobo

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company
oooooooooo

registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
gooooooo
oooo ooooooo oooooooooOoo 20210 20200 oooo
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 81.0% 81.0%  Property development
Development Xiaoshan Co., Ltd.*) 3 April 1997
goooooooooooooow goooooo 00 02,000,0000 gooa
199704030
Chunan Minfu Property Co., Ltd.® PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
24 October 2003
goooooooooooe goooooo 00 06,000,0000 goog
20030 100 240
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*) 19 January 2004
ooooooooooooow goooooo 00 [010,000,000C oood
20040 10190
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate Co., Ltd.? PRC/Mainland China US$27,600,000 99.7% 99.7%  Property development
1 April 2005
goooooooooe goooooo 27,600,0000 O oooo
20050 40 10
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong PRC/Mainland China RMBZ1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.* 20 September 2005
gooooooooooow goooooo 000 1,000,0000 oooo
2005090 200
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.5% 92.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.“ 16 March 2006
oooooooooOoooo® ooooooo 0 0 050,000,0000 oooo
20060 301 160
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.? 4 December 2006
goO0o0o0ooooooooooe goooooo 149,061,2800 O gooa
200600 1200 40
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Hotel management
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd.* 28 May 2007
gooooooooooooow goooooo 0 0 O 10,000,0000 goog
20070 50 280

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

oooooooon

gbooooboogo

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

incorporation/ Issued 0ooooooooo
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
oooooooo
gooo goooooo gooooooDOooD 20210 20200 goog
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Management Co., Ltd.“ 6 December 2011
0o00DO0O0DOOODOOOOO® OOODOOO 00 05,000,0000 oooo
2011012060
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.“ 5 August 2013
oooOooooooooooow goooooo 0 0 £ 100,000,000 gooa
20130 8050
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China US$16,000,000 93.0% 93.0%  Property development
Property Co., Ltd.? 13 August 2013
goooooooooooooe goooooo 16,000,0000 O goog
2013080130
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Commercial Co., Ltd. 9 September 2013
goooooooooog goooood [0 0 050,000,000 ooog
201309090
Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.“ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
6 December 2013
gooooooooow goooooo 0 0 050,000,0000 oooo
2013012060
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd.*) 21 April 2014
goooooooooooooow goooooo 0 020,000,0000 oooo
2014040210
Hangzhou Xixi Huijin Property Co., Ltd.#  PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
18 November 2015
ooooooooooogw ooooooo 60,000,0000 O oooo
201500 110 180
Zhejiang Bairuite Hotel Management PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Hotel management
Co., Ltd.(b)¥ 19 May 2016
pooooooooooooooew gooocoooo 0 0 050,000,0000 oooo
2016050190
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Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of

gooooboogo

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

1. D000 ooggn

incorporation/ Issued 0ooooooooo
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
oooooooo
gooo goooooo goooooooDOooD 20210 20200 goog
Zhejiang New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.“ 29 November 2016
DoOooDOoOOoOoOooOoOe ooooooo 00 010,000,0000 oooo
20160 110 290
Huaibei Briliant Hotel Co., Ltd.?* PRC/Mainland China RMB6,900,000 100.0% 100.0%  Hotel management
16 October 2013
oooooooooooo« goooooo 00 06,900,0000 gooa
20130100 160
Laizhou New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMBZ1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.* 2 May 2017
gooooooooooooow goooooo 00O 1,000,0000 goog
201705020
Zhong An Education Investment British Virgin Islands Us$1 100.0% 100.0%  Education development
Holdings Limited® 8 May 2018
oooooooooooow goooooo 100 oood
20180 50 80
Kunming New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd. 27 April 2017
0oooooooooooooomw goooooo 00 01,000,0000 goodg
2017040270
Yuyao New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMBZ1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.® 26 September 2017
joooooooooooooomw goooooo 00 [01,000,0000 goog
2017090 260
Hefei Xinmu Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.® 19 March 2018
0D000D0OOODOoOOooes ooooooo 00 01,000,0000 oooo
20180 30190

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

oooooooon

gbooooboogo

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

incorporation/ Issued 0ooooooooo
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
oooooooo
gooo goooooo gooooooDOooD 20210 20200 goog
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Maggie & Rose PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 68.7% 68.7%  Education development
Culture Co., Ltd.b® 20 September 2018
DoOooDoooooOoooooee ooooooo 00 01,000,0000 oooo
20180190 2000
Foshan Xinmu Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.® 11 October 2017
000o0o0ooooooooooghe goooooo 00 05,000,0000 gooa
20170100110
Xuzhou Wanxiang Real Estate PRC/Mainland China RMB258,000,000 45.9% 45.9%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. ¥ 28 September 2018
gooooooooooooee goooooo 0 0 O 258,000,0000 goog
20180190 280
Hangzhou Xinhuan Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 45.0% 450%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.bc® 25 April 2018
00ooooooooooonoees goooooo 00 01,000,0000 ooog
201800 40 250
Ningbo New Screen Theatre PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd. 10 May 2018
gooooooooooooe goooooo 00 [O1,000,0000 oooo
20180 500 100
Tiptop Global Group Limited®® Samoa Us$4 75.0% 75.0%  Investment holding
8 January 2018
goo 400 goog
20180 1080
Hangzhou Zhongan Health PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Health management
Management Co., Ltd.® 8 January 2019
DO000oOOoDooooes ooooooo 0 0 05,000,0000 oooo
201901080
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

1. 0000 ooodon

Information about subsidiaries (continued) Ooooooood

Percentage of equity

HES? 2 GElE attributable to the Company

incorporation/ Issued 0ooooooooo
registration ordinary shares/ Principal

Name of company and business registered capital 2021 2020  activities
oooooooo

gooo goooooo goooooooDOooD 20210 20200 goog

Chendu Xinhuan Cinema PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Theatre management

Management Co., Ltd.“ 4 April 2019

ooooooooooooe ooooooo 00 01,000,0000 oooo
201904040

Maggie and Rose Limited®® England GBP1 46.5% 46.5%  Education development
11 December 2007
oo 100 gooa
20070120110

gooooooooooooooooao
ooooooOoooooooOooooDno
oooooOoOoOoO0obooooooooao
oooooOOooO0ooOoOooOoooooo

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes: ooo

N/A:  Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group J0000000o0O0o0ooOO0ooOooOooUOoDOOo

(@) Types of legal entities: (a) oogooooo
(1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise (1) gooooo
2 Sino-foreign equity joint venture (2 gooooo
(3) Limited liability company invested by a foreign invested enterprise 3 gooooooooo
(4) Limited liability company (4) goooooo
(b) The capital of these subsidiaries has not been fully injected as at 31 (b) 000000000O0202101203100

December 2021. ooooog
goOOo0o0bOOoOoO0oDboooboooo
goooOoOooOooobobooobooo
goDOo00DoOOoOoO0ODOOoOOoOobDOoOooon
ooo

(c) These subsidiaries are subsidiaries held by non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (c)
of the Group and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue

of the Group’s unilateral control over the subsidiaries.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
102 2021 Annual Report



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and
International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations
Committee interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Committee and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
investment properties classified as held for sale, equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

2.1

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time
for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Amendments to IFRS 16

The revised standards have had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements.

2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements
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2.3 ISSUEDSBUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

248! oooad

ooogn
Oooogn

goooooOooooOoooOooobooo
ooooooooooooooooono

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 17

Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Insurance Contracts?

Insurance Contracts®*

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use!

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract*

Amendments to IFRS 1,

IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16,

and IAS 41!
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in October

2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that

permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods

beginning before 1 January 2023

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2300000 ooogn
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL ooooooon
REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact jdddddd00dooooooooo
of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial application. So far, the gooO0ooOOoO0OOoOOobDOoOoooooDbo
Group considers that, these new and revised IFRSs are unlikely to Jojddd0dd0d0d0o0Uooooooo
have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and jdddddd0dd0o0oUooooooo
financial position. goooooo

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2400000000
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in associates and joint Oo000ooooooooo
ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest gdoooooooopoooooooao
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over 200000 0000000000 DOOO
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant g0D0DOoO000oDoooOoOOoO0oO0oDbOoOOo
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating g0ooDoooOoDoDoooOoDooobooo
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control goooooooooooooo

over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties gooDoooooDooOopooooooo
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the jdddddd00dooooooooo
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually goooooboooooooDbboobooo
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only g0DoO0o00oDOoOOoO0oDoOoOoDOoOOo
when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous jdddddd0dd0o0oUooooooo
consent of the parties sharing control. goooooooooo

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated Jojddd0dd0d0d0o0Uooooooo
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s jdddddd0dd0o0oUooooooo
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any gooooooooooooooo

impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint
ventures (continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
and joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for sale,
it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

2400000000000

ubobooobooboooogd

oo0oooo0ooooO0oooOooooo
ooooocoOooooOoooOooooo
ooooooooobooooooooan
gooooOoOOoOoOooooobooooo
oo0oooo0ooooO0oooOooooo
ooooObooooomooooocooo
ooooooooooooooooono
gooooooDOOoDoooODDOOOO
ooooooooOO0OO0OO0O0O0O000o0o
ooooocoOooooOoooOooooo
ooooooooobooooooboooon

Jjoooooooooooooooo
gooooooOoocooooOoOOooo
ooboooocooooooooooao
gogoooboooobcooobobo
Jjoooooooooooooooo
ooo0ooooooooooooooao
gooooboooooooooooboooao
joodooooooooooooo
Jjoooooooooooooooo
oooooooooooonod

joodooooooooooooo
o0o0oooooobOboooos00000
ooooO0oooooOoooOooodo



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

2.4

Notes to Financial Statements
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed properties held
for sale, properties under development, investment properties and
non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2400000000000
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets Ooooooodoo
(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as Jodddd0dd0d0d0o0oUooooooo
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised goooobDOooDoDOooDOooODOoOo
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. gooooooOooooooooooo
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. g0obDOo0obDoOOoOoOoooOOoOoOooboOoo
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than gooo0ooDooOoOoooOoOoOoobooo
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates g0oDoooOooooooooOoooo
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not Oo0000ODoOOoO0oO0obOOoOoOooooOoon
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have g0bDoO0oO0O0oDbDOOoOoOooooobooo
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no Jodddd0dd0d0d0o0oUooooooo
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A gooooDooo0o0o0omoooooo
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement gooDooooooooooooooo
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset g0oboOOoO0O0oDbDoOobooOoOoOobooo
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the oooooOoo0ooDoOooOoOoDOo

impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.[]

Related parties ooo

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: gooDooooooooooooooo
oood

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@ O0O0O0OODOOOOOoOO

family and that person

0] has control or joint control over the Group; 0] gooooObDOo0oOoOoooog
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or (ii) goooooooooOogo
0
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) DOoO0O0oOoOoOooooooOOo
Group or of a parent of the Group; gooooo
or O

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(vi)

(vil)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2400000000000

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings 4.75%
Hotel properties 2.38%
Office equipment 9.5% to 19%
Motor vehicles 19%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter
of the lease terms

and 19%

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain
or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2400000000000

118

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Investment properties comprise completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated
at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sale and properties under development would be transferred to
investment properties when, only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has prepared
a business plan that reflects the future rental income generated
by the property and this is supported with evidence that there is
demand for rental space; (b) the Group can demonstrate that it
has the resources, including the necessary financing or capital, to
hold and manage an investment property; (c) the change in use is
legally permissible; (d) if the property must be further developed for
the change in use, the development has commenced and (e) the
change in use is approved by the board.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development which are already under construction
or expected to be under construction within twelve months or have
an explicit business plan for construction are classified as current
assets. Other properties under development are classified as non-
current assets.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment
of the total costs of land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value takes into account the selling price,
less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties based
on prevailing market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other intangible assets (other than
goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of other intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of the acquisition.
The useful lives of other intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite. Other intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the other
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each reporting period.

The principal estimated useful lives of other intangible assets are as

follows:

Estimated
Category useful life
Brandname 20 years

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-

value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease

payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.

@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Buildings 5 to 20 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to be
of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet the
definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired,;
or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(‘ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as
a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and on disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the
higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with the general policy for provisions above; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income
recognised in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the
companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland China (the
“PRC group companies”) have participated in a local municipal
government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”), whereby
the PRC group companies are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the salaries of their employees to the Scheme to
fund their retirement benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing contributions under
the Scheme. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the
statement of profit of loss as incurred. Contributions paid to the
Scheme for an employee are not available to reduce the Group’s
future obligations to the Scheme even if the employee leaves.

Employee benefits to all eligible employees of the overseas
subsidiaries are made in accordance with the rules set forth in the
collective labor agreement, and recorded as an expense in the
period they are due as a charge to the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. Deferred tax assets arise in the following transactions: the
initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities arising from a transaction that has the
following characteristics: the transaction is not a business
combination and, at the time the transaction occurs, affects
neither accounting profit nor taxable income or deductible
losses; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.

2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

Doooooooddd

oooogo

ooooooO0oOooDOoooOO0oOoobooOo
ooooooooooocooooooao
oooooooocoboooocoooao
gooooooooooooooooan
gooooooDboooooDbDDboDboOO
ooooooO0ooooOoooOooooao
ooooo

ooooooO0ooooOoooOooooao
ooooooOooOooboooooooo
gooooooooooooooooan
oo0oooOooO0ooooo0oo

jgjoodooooooooooooo
gooooobooo0oDbOO0ooo0oOoo0DDo
0doooooooooooooonoa
goooooOooocooooOooooo
gobooOooooobOooooooboo
gobooooboooobooooo
ooooooO0ooooOoooOooooao
goooooooooocooooooao
gooooo

I v e R
LFEF E g ] 137



138

Notes to Financial Statements

[ o 8 T
31 December 2021 20210 120 310

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(@) Revenue from the sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the purchasers obtain the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
properties and the Group has the present right to payment
from the purchasers.

(b)  Revenue from hotel operation

Revenue from hotel operation is derived from room rental,
food and beverage sales and income from the provision of
other ancillary services, and is recognised when the services
are rendered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(c)  Revenue from property management and other services

Revenue from property management and other services
is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Commission in obtaining contracts

Sales commissions incurred directly attributable to obtaining a
contract, if recoverable, are capitalised and recorded in other
assets. Capitalised sales commissions are charged to profit or loss
when the revenue from the related property sale is recognised and
are included as selling and marketing expenses at that time. The
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient and did not
recognise the effects of the sales commission if the time period is
one year or less.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which
are given in note 32 to the financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs (continued)

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
8.77% (2020: 11.47%) has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is the Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$"), and the functional currencies of subsidiaries incorporated
outside Mainland China are the “HK$”, the United States dollar
(“US$”) and the Great Britain Pound (“GBP”), respectively. The
functional currency of Mainland China subsidiaries is the RMB. As
the Group mainly operates in Mainland China, the RMB is used
as the presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of
the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are
recognised in other comprehensive income until the net investment
is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified
to the statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits
attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are
also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC established companies
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

2400000000000

goood

Jjoooooooooooooooo
oooo0oooooOoOooooooooo
goooooOooooOoooOooobooo
uoboooobooboooooobooo
gooobObOO0o0ooooooboo

ooooooO0ooooDoOoooOO0oooboOo
ooooooooOoOOoOooooooOoao
oooooooooooooooooao
ooooooooooooo

jgjoddodoooooooooooo
Jjoooooooooooooooo
goooooOoOoOoOoooooooooo
oooocooooo

ooboooobooooooo0oboo
oooooo0ooooOoooOooooaa
gooooooooOOoooooOOoOoOoo
jgjoddodoooooooooooo
goooobOo0ooooooboo



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Property lease classification — Group as a lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a
major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not
amounting to substantially all the fair value of the commercial
property, that it retains substantially all the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. 000000000000
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued) ooood

(i)  Classification between investment properties, () OOO0oODODOoOoOoOobOOOoOOoO
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied oo0oDoO0o0oOooo
properties
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an o0ooOO00ooOOobooOoDbDOoOoDbOo
investment property and has developed criteria in making 000000 0o0ooOoDOOoOoDOo
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to oopooOoOobDOoooooOoo
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the 0Oo0oooooooooooooo
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows o0ooOO00ooOOobooOoDbDOoOoDbOo
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. oo00oD0O0oOoOoooobooOOooo
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn ooooooooooooooo
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is O0DO0D0ODOOO0ODbOO0oOobOOoDoOoOo
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services O0DO00O0OO0ODOO0oOoODOoOoDOoD
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold ooOoo0oOoDoDOoopooooOoo
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If ooooooooooooooo
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an ooDO0oo00OObDbOOoooOooOoo
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for 000000 0o0ooOoDOOoOoDOo
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 0oO0oo0oOoDoDOooDOoooOoo
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual ooooooopoooooooo
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so O0DO0D0ODOOO0ODbOO0oOobOOoDoOoOo
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment 000000 0o0ooOoDOOoOoDOo
property. oooooog

(i)  Classification of current and non-current properties (i) DCOOoOODODDOOOOOOO0
under development
The Group classifies properties under development according ooooooooooooooo
to the construction progress and estimated commencement o0DO00O0OODbOOoOoDbOoOoboOoo
date of pre-sale. Properties under development are classified 000000 0o0ooOoDOOoOoDOo
as current assets after the construction commences or ooooO0oDoOooooooOooo
having a clear plan for construction. As for the rest properties oooooooDoooooooo

under development, the Group classify them as non-current.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below:

(i)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@ current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the dates of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. 000000000000
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued) O0000ooooooo
() Fair value of investment properties (continued) 0] oo0ooooooooo
(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable (0 ODOOOODODOOOODODOO
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms goooooooooooo
of any existing leases and other contracts and (when goooooooooobooo
possible) by external evidence such as current market goooDoDOOoOoomooD
rents for similar properties in the same location and joooooDoooooooo
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current O0o0O0ooO0oooooooon
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount 0gMmooooooooooo
and timing of the cash flows. godoooopoooobooo

oooocooooooooo

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of o0ooOO00ooOOobooOoDbDOoOoDbOo
the fair value include those related to current market rents oooOooooooDoooooo
for similar properties in the same location and condition, 00oooooooooooooo
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and ooooooooooooogo
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment 202101203100000000D0
properties at 31 December 2021 was RMB5,290,500,000 0 O 0 O 5,290,500,00000 20200 O
(2020: RMB5,414,600,000). Further details, including the key 0 00d5,414,600,0000 MO0 00O
assumptions used for fair value measurement, are given in oooooooooOooooooo
note 13 to the financial statements. oobOboO0o0oooooixd

(i)  Net realisable value of properties under development (i) OO0l 100000l 10
and completed properties held for sale goooooo
The Group’s properties under development and completed 000000 0o0ooOoDOOoOoDOo
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net o0oOoo0ooooooDooooo
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience ooooooooooooooo
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes ooDO00O0OODbOO0oOoObDOOooOoOo
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion 0000000 bOO0ooOoOooOoo
of properties under development, and the costs to be oooDoDOooooooo

incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale (continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. Such provision
requires the use of judgements and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying
value and provision for properties in the period in which the
estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT")

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, the differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which the determination is made.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2021
was nil (2020: RMB98,995,000). Further details are given in
note 16 to the financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates
the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest
rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
40 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these
investments as Level 3. The fair value of the unlisted equity
investments at 31 December 2021 was RMB335,050,000
(2020: RMB392,590,000). Further details are included in note
18 to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. 000000000000
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued) O0000ooooooo

(viii) Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and other (vii) OO0O0O00ODDODOOOOOoDOOOO
financial assets oooooao
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade ooooooooooooooo
receivables and other financial assets. The provision rates are o0ooOO00ooOOobooOoDbDOoOoDbOo
based on days past due for groupings of various customer oopDO0oO0OO0ObOOoOoObOoOooOoDo
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by service type, oodooooooooooooo
customer type and rating). ooopoooDOoOoooooooOoo

aod

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical o0oOoo0ooooooDooooo
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix oooooooooooooooo
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward- o0ooOO00ooOOobooOoDbDOoOoDbOo
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic 00goooooooooooOoD
conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year 0ooo0oo0oOooboDoooooOoo
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the oooDoO0oDoDooooooooo
property development sector, the historical default rates are goooooOoOoOooooooDo
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed 000000 DOO0oOooboOooOoo
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking oooooooo
estimates are analysed.
The assessment of the correlation among historical observed O0DO00O0OO0ODOO0OO0ODOoOooOOoDo
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is ooooooooooooooo
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to ooooooooooooooo
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. o0ooOO00ooOOobooOoDbDOoOoDbOo
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast 0000000 bOOooOoOooOoo
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a o0oOoo0ooooooDooooo
customer’s actual default in the future. ooooooogono
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the commercial property development segment develops and
sells commercial properties in Mainland China and Japan;

(b)  the property rental segment leases investment properties in
Mainland China;

(c)  the hotel operations segment owns and operates hotels; and

(d) the “others” segment comprises, the Group’s property
management services business, the Group’s project
management business and other business that the
Group is involved in. On 3 February 2021, the Group had
entered into an equity transfer agreement with Zhong An
Group to dispose the entire equity interest in Zhejiang
Runzhou Property Services Co., Ltd., Yuyao Zhongli
Property Management Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Zhonghong
Property Service Co., Ltd., all of which are engaged in
commercial property management business at an aggregate
of consideration of RMB104.65 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$125.58 million) (“Transfers”). The
Transfers was fully completed on 13 April 2021. Ever since
the completion of the Transfers, the Group is no longer
engaged in commercial property management business.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/loss before tax from continuing operations except that interest
income and finance costs are excluded from the measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. J00ooogog

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

oooooo0ooooOoooOooooaa
goooooOooooOoooOooobooo

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices. aod
Commercial
property Property Hotel Other
Year ended 0020210 development rental operations services Total
31 December 2021 120310000 gooooao oooo gooo gooao oo
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo goooo ooooo ooooo
Segment revenue goooo
Sales to external customers goooooao 410,180 122,282 173,177 165,427 871,066
Intersegment sales goooo - 23,855 - 5,180 29,035
410,180 146,137 173,177 170,607 900,101
Reconciliation: ooo
Elimination of intersegment sales goooood (29,035)
Revenue from operations oooooo 871,066
Segment results oooo 141,222 3,398 (71,084) (240,971) (167,435)
Reconciliation: ooo
Interest income oooo 113,505
Finance costs gooo (223,094)
Loss before tax goooo (277,024)
Segment assets oooo 6,498,012 5,305,729 2,006,166 818,383 14,628,290
Reconciliation: oog
Elimination of intersegment receivables ooooooooo (1,168,314)
Corporate and other unallocated assets 0000000000 2,044,864
Total assets ooo 15,504,840
Segment liabilities oooo 2,765,220 106,448 1,134,504 1,374,375 5,380,547
Reconciliation: ooo
Elimination of intersegment payables goooooooo (1,168,313)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities ooo0oo0ooooooao 5,559,011
Total liabilities god 9,771,245
Other segment information: gooooono
Share of losses of a joint venture goopooooooo - - - (805) (805)
Impairment loss recognized in oooooooooo
the statement of profit or loss - - - 110,431 110,431
Depreciation and amortisation goooo 3,820 1,344 69,667 87,444 162,275
Investment in a joint venture goooooooo - - - 32,441 32,441
Capital expenditure oooo 45,872 112 20,985 51,972 118,941
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OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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4. JO00obogoo

Commercial
property Property Hotel Other
Year ended 0020200 development rental operations services Total
31 December 2020 120310000 ooooog gooad gooo gooo oo
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo goooo goooo gooog goooo

Segment revenue gooo
Sales to external customers goooooa 248,942 144,845 182,516 124,067 700,370

Intersegment sales poooao - 24,378 - 1,561 25,939

248,942 169,223 182,516 125,628 726,309

Reconciliation: ooo

Elimination of intersegment sales gooooog (25,939)
Revenue from operations gooooo 700,370
Segment results oooo 48,538 370,912 (70,030 (118,182) 231,238
Reconciliation: ooo

Interest income oooo 96,803

Finance costs gooo (219,197)
Profit before tax goooo 108,844
Segment assets gooo 5,554,621 5,437,862 2,301,507 1,533,252 14,827,242
Reconciliation: oog

Elimination of intersegment receivables goobooooog (845,167)

Corporate and other unallocated assets 0000000000 1,193,781
Total assets ooo 15,175,856
Segment liabilities gooo 929,762 59,443 774,721 1,548,601 3,312,527
Reconciliation: ooo

Elimination of intersegment payables ooooooooo (845,167)

Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 0go00000o00a 6,631,078
Total liabilities god 9,098,438
Other segment information: goooooo
Depreciation and amortisation goooao 6,112 2,884 70,488 62,653 142,137
Capital expenditure gooo 3,096 948 10,402 47,860 62,306
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

@)

Revenue from external customers

oo

(@ 0O0O0O0OO0O0O0O0O

4. 00000 oooo

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

oooOooOoo ooooo

Mainland China oooo 836,569 666,418
Others og 34,497 33,952
871,066 700,370

The revenue information above is based on the locations of
the customers.

Non-current assets

goooOooooooooooo

() 0OOOO

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooooo goooao

Mainland China ooono 9,048,833 9,321,900
Japan oo 86,249 91,780
Others og 77,655 173,549
9,212,737 9,587,229

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under

common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s

revenue for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. oo oouoodno
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES Odoodon
An analysis of revenue is as follows: gooooooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo gooono
Revenue from contracts with oooooo
customers 748,784 555,525
Revenue from other sources oooooon
Gross rental income from investment goooopoOoOooooooooag
property operating leases 122,282 144,845
871,066 700,370
Revenue from contracts with customers oooood
(1) Disaggregated revenue information (1) oooooao
For the year ended 31 December 2021 0020210120310000
Commercial
property Hotel Other
development operations services Total
oo
Segments oo gooo gooo gooo ag
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo goooo goooo goooo
Types of goods or services 0000000
Sale of properties gooo 410,180 - - 410,180
Hotel operation services goooaoa - 173,177 - 173,177
Other services gooo - - 165,427 165,427
Total revenue from contracts gooooooo
with customers 410,180 173,177 165,427 748,784
Timing of gooooo
revenue recognition
At a point in time ooooo 410,180 173,177 - 583,357
Over time oooo - - 165,427 165,427
Total revenue from contracts gooooooo
with customers 410,180 173,177 165,427 748,784
O B B [ F]
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(i)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. oo oouodano
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES Oooododouo
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers Ooooooood
(continued)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) oDOoo00oOoo0OOo
For the year ended 31 December 2020 0020200120310000
Commercial
property Hotel Other
development operations services Total
oo
Segments oo oooo gooo gooo oad
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo goooo ooooo gooon
Types of goods or services 0000000
Sale of properties goono 248,942 - - 248,942
Hotel operation services gooooo - 182,516 - 182,516
Other services ooono - - 124,067 124,067
Total revenue from contracts oooooooo
with customers 248,942 182,516 124,067 555,525
Timing of gooooo
revenue recognition
At a point in time goooo 248,942 182,516 - 431,458
Over time oooo - - 124,067 124,067
Total revenue from contracts gopoooooo
with customers 248,942 182,516 124,067 555,525

Revenue from the sale of properties recognised that
was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period is amounted to RMB205,232,000 (2020:

RMB351,821,000).
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND Oooodooogdgao
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES Doodooodoo
(CONTINUED)
2021 2020
20210 20200
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooo gooono
Other income oooo
Subsidy income* oooox 16,217 3,232
Interest income gooo 113,505 96,803
Others oo 93,887 1,530
223,609 101,565
Gains oo
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries D 00000000 34 56,515 84,937
Changes in fair value of financial OO 00000000
assets at fair value through oooDoDOoOoooooo
profit or loss - 163
Gain on disposal of right-of-use OO0 O0O0OO0O0O0OO
assets 25,823 -
Gain on disposal of items of gooooDOoOooooo
property and equipment 14,427 -
Dividend income from equity ooooooooooo
investments at fair value oooDoOoOooooD
through other comprehensive oooo
income 54,315 -
374,689 186,665
There are no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. * 00000000000 oDO0o0ooooon
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND S5, pgoouoooogud
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES doodooooon
(CONTINUED)

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooog
Other expenses oooo

Impairment of goodwill oooo (98,995) -

Impairment provision for property and ooDoooooooo
equipment (11,436) -
Loss on disposal of investment propertes 000000000 (3,977) (36,153)
Foreign exchange loss oooo (557) (1,465)
Donations oo (314) (3,250)
Compensation oo (30,955) -
Others oo (5,592) (2,420)
(151,826) (43,288)
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gooogn
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(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. U0 UOOOOOOOO
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ g0bDoOO00ooOoOooooOoOooooo
(crediting): goooooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooo gooono
Cost of properties sold oOoooooad 23 335,844 231,513
Depreciation of property and equipment goooooag 12 110,719 98,695
Depreciation of right-of-use assets goooooag 15 49,821 41,707
Amortisation of other intangible assets gooooooo 17 1,735 1,735
Lease payments not included in the gooooDoOoOooooo
measurement of lease liabilities oog 15 20,585 24,065
Auditor’s remuneration ooooo 2,100 2,000
Staff costs including directors’ and goobobboo0o0oOooo
chief executive’s remuneration: opooooom 8
— Salaries and other staff costs gpbooooooDbo 150,822 150,129
— Pension scheme contributions* gpboooooo:x 21,839 9,973
Foreign exchange differences, net ooooooo 557 1,465
Direct operating expenses (including gooooooooooo
repairs and maintenance arising on oooooooooo
investment properties) 4,681 4,337
Equity-settled share option expense gooooDoooooo 32 11,388 10,373
Loss on disposal of investment properties 000000000 3,977 36,153
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries goooooooo 34 (56,515) (84,937)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets goooobDOoOogoo ) (25,823) -
Gain on disposal of items of propertyand OO 0000000 OOO
equipment 5 (14,427) =
Dividend income from equity investments 000000000 O0O
at fair value through other ooooooogooag
comprehensive income oooo 5 (54,315) -
Fair value losses/(gains), net: gooooooooomm
goo
Changes upon transfer to investment oooooooooo
properties 13 - (356,806)
Changes in fair value of investment ooooooooooo
properties 13 60,311 (23,030)
Changes in fair value of financial assets ooooDoOoogooDo
at fair value through profit or loss goooDbOoooo
oo 42 (163)
Impairment of goodwill** goOoo* 98,995 =
Impairment provision for property (1[0 0 T A R
and equipment ** 12 11,436 -
* There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the @ B [T ] 3 ] T S L S T T . 51 [ o T o R T ]
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. [EE] (B} ] ] @) ] FELE
*k Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or &8 000000 mOoOooom

loss.
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows:

/(.

oood

oooobO0o0ooooooo

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo
Interest on bank and other borrowings goooDbOoOogoo 340,718 386,653
Interest on lease liabilities oooooo 9,266 14,735
Total interest expense on financial liabilites OO0 00000000000 OO0O
not at fair value through profit or loss oooooo 349,984 401,388
Less: Interest capitalised in properties oooooooooboooo
under development (126,890) (182,191)
223,094 219,197

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

oooogooood

0000000000000 0383(1)ad
(D(c)0 (000D DOD00DD00OO0D0OO0
0000D020000000000000
0ooooooo

as follows:

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
OoooOooOoo ooooo
Fees od 600 600

Other emoluments: ogoooo
Salaries, bonuses and allowances goooooao 1,810 1,448
Pension scheme contributions ooooooa 44 4
1,854 1,452
2,454 2,052

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

Certain directors were granted share options as disclosed in note
32 to the financial statements. The fair value of the options was
determined as at the date of grant. In respect of their services to
the Group, the relevant accounting impact was accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements for the financial year and included
in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

Notes to Financial Statements
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8. WUuouooooog
Oood

oooooOOoO0ooooooooooos2
ooooooooooooobooooao
0o0o0oo0oooooooO0ooooooo
ooooooO0ooooOoooOooooao
oooooOooooocooonoo

(@ 00DO0DO0O0O

goooooooocobooDbao

the year were as follows: oooa
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo oooood
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry ooooo 200 200
Mr. Xu Chengfa goooo 200 200
Mr. Yim Chun Leung goooo 200 200
600 600

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2020: Nil).

ooooooooooooood
0000 20200 000
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors, a hon-executive

8. WUuouooooodag

ood

() 00DOD0ODOO0OO0OO

director and the chief executive ooooo
Pension
Salaries and scheme
allowances Bonuses contributions Total
god
ooooo oo oooo oag
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooao ooooo ooooao
2021 20210
Executive directors: ooooo
Ms. Tang Yiyan ooooo - - - -
Mr. Liu Bo gooo 795 - 44 839
795 - 44 839
Non-executive directors: oooooo
Mr. Shi Zhongan ooooo - - - -
Mr. Tang Min oooao - - - -
Chief executive and ooooooo
execultive director: ooooo
Mr. Shi Nanlu ooooo 1,015 - - 1,015
1,810 - 44 1,854
2020 20200
Executive directors: ooooo
Ms. Tang Yiyan ooooo - - - -
Mr. Liu Bo® goooe 636 - 4 640
Ms. Jin Ni¥ oooo® - - - -
636 - 4 640
Non-executive directors: oooooo
Mr. Shi Zhongan ooooo - - - -
Mr. Tang Min® oooge - - - -
Chief executive and ooooooo
executive director: ooooo
Mr. Shi Nanlu® ooooom 812 - - 812
Mr. Dong Shuixiao™ ooooaw - - - -
1,448 - 4 1,452

0 Mr. Liu Bo was appointed on 3 April 2020.

“" Mr. Tang Min was appointed on 3 April 2020.

(i) Mr. Shi Nanlu was appointed on 3 April 2020.

™ Mr. Dong Shuixiao resigned on 3 April 2020.
v Ms. Jin Ni resigned on 3 April 2020.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2020: Nil).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year include one (2020:
two) director. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note
8 above. Details of the remuneration of the four (2020: three) non-
director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:
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gooooood

000000oo0oo0oooooooao
0zo20000@OoO0OO0cOO0OO0O00O0n
goO0osgoboooOozoz2c0000000
ooooooooooooono

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

oOooOooOod ooooo

Salaries, bonuses and allowances oooooooo 3,605 2,233
Pension scheme contributions goooooa 62 57
3,667 2,290

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

jjodooooooooooooo
oooog

Number of employees

oooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 0 1,000,0000 O -
Over HK$1,000,000 0 0 1,000,0000 O 4
4 3

No share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid
employees.

gooobbOO0ooooobOb0o0oooo
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10. INCOME-TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and United
Kingdom were not liable for income tax as they did not have any
assessable profits currently arising in Hong Kong and United
Kingdom during the year (2020: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

10.0 00

ooo0ooD0O00o0O0O0o0oDO00oo00OO
oo0oooo0ooooO0oooOooooo
oo0ooobOoo0ooo0O0Oon0o2o2000
0m

oo0oooo0ooooO0oooOooooo
00000000 025%1 20200 0 25%0
ooooooooooooo

0ooooooooooooooooano
ooooooobOooooooOooooao
oooooooO0ooombooooD3o%
060%000000000000000
oooooooooooooooooao
gooooboooooooooooboooao
oooobooooooooooobooooao
opoooooDOoo

2021 2020
20210 20200
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooo ooooog
Current — goood
PRC corporate income tax for the year oooooooon 52,771 99,454
Current — ooooo
PRC LAT for the year oopoouooooo 11,195 24,150
Deferred oooo 21 (38,175) (39,841)
Total tax charge for the year gooooooag 25,791 83,763
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10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. 000000

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax Jojdjd0dd0o0d0o0oooooooo
using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company Jojddd0dd0d0d0o0Uooooooo
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense jdddddd0dd0o0oUooooooo

at the effective tax rate is as follows: ooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo gooono
(Loss)/profit before tax oooooooooo (277,024) 108,844

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% [0 25%1 20200 0 25%[J

(2020: 25%) ooooooooo (69,256) 27,211

Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the gooobObDOoOoOooboobDbOoo
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC ool ooooo

subsidiaries 128 9,807
Income not subject to tax oooooo (22,042) (23,921)
Expenses not deductible for tax gooooo 707 8,181
Tax losses utilised from previous periods OO0O0O000OOCOCOOOO (5,701) (12,047)
Tax losses not recognised gooooooa 113,559 55,420
Provision for LAT ooooooad 11,195 24,150
Tax effect on LAT oooooooooo (2,799) (6,038)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate goooDbODOoOoOooboDboDbOoo 25,791 83,763

Tax payable in the consolidated statement 000 0000000000000
of financial position represents:

PRC corporate income tax OoooOoooag 151,932 170,655
PRC LAT oOoooooad 278,872 378,427
430,804 549,082
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11. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 11.0do0douododad
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY Oodoaodooodo
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for goooobDOooDoDOooDOooODOoOo
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of 0o0ooo00o0ooooon?295,136,0000
RMB295,136,000 (profit for 2020: RMB44,429,000) and the 0 20200 0 OO0 0O 0O44,429,0000 (M0
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2,010,768,000 Jodddd0dd0d0d0o0oUooooooo
(2020: 2,011,100,932) in issue of shares during the year, as 2,010,768,000000 202000 [0 2,011,100,932
adjusted to reflect the rights issued during the year. jooooooooDoooooooo
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on: goooDO0oOo0oooooooo

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooog
(Loss)/earnings goooooo
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity OO0 O0O0O0OOCOOOOO
holders of the parent oooocooboooo (295,136) 44,429
Number of shares
oooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
Shares oo
Weighted average number of ordinary goooobOOoOooooooo
shares in issue during the year 2,010,768,000 2,011,100,932
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during 00020210 020200120310 0000
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. goooooOOoOooooooooo
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12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12.00000
Hotel Office Motor Leasehold Construction
Buildings ~ properties  equipment vehicles improvements in progress Total
oooao
oo oooad oooag oo oad oooa oad

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ooooo oO0O0oooo 0OOooo oOooO0oO0 OO0OO000 00000 oOoooo

At 1 January 2020, 020200 10100

net of accumulated depreciation gooooo 167,508 2,061,854 77,793 8,614 142,909 (8,470) 2,450,208
Additions oo - 4,450 28,114 16,252 1,000 12,490 62,306
Transfer from properties under oooopoooo

development - - - - - 48,088 48,088
Transfer from completed held forsale 000000000000 44,110 - - - - - 44,110
Construction in progress completed O0O0000 - - 100 - 1,816 (1,916) -
Disposals oo = = (21,572) (695) = = (22,267)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) 000000DOo0D340 - - (68) (100) - - (168)
Depreciation provided during theyear 000000 (7,318) (61,276) (13,617) (3,076) (13,408) - (98,695)
At 31 December 2020, 020200 1203100

net of accumulated depreciation goooooooo

and impairment 204,300 2,005,028 70,750 20,995 132,317 50,192 2,483,582
At 31 December 2020: 0202001203100
Cost oo 237,052 2,231,104 105,041 43,248 172,136 50,192 2,838,773
Accumulated depreciation 0ooo (32,752) (226,076) (34,291) (22,253) (39,819) = (355,191)
Net carrying amount ooog 204,300 2,005,028 70,750 20,995 132,317 50,192 2,483,582
At 1 January 2021, 02021010100

net of accumulated depreciation oooooo 204,300 2,005,028 70,750 20,995 132,317 50,192 2,483,582
Additions oo 230 2,856 17,747 5,934 75,814 16,360 118,941
Disposals oo (9,355) - (436) (1,780) - (247) (11,818)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) 000oO000ooO340 - - (24,608) (1,375) (40,013) (475) (66,471)
Depreciation provided during theyear 000000 (7,170) (60,144) (11,881) (3,436) (28,088) - (110,719)
Impairment oo - - (766) - (10,670) - (11,436)
At 31 December 2021, 0202101203100

net of accumulated depreciation goooooooo

and impairment 188,005 1,947,740 50,806 20,338 129,360 65,830 2,402,079
At 31 December 2021: 0202101203100
Cost oo 222,841 2,233,960 84,961 44,564 199,221 65,830 2,851,377
Accumulated depreciation and goooooo

impairment (34,836) (286,220) (34,155) (24,226) (69,861) - (449,298)
Net carrying amount oooo 188,005 1,947,740 50,806 20,338 129,360 65,830 2,402,079

o g P e R R ]
LFEF E g ] 171



172

Notes to Financial Statements

[ o 8 T
31 December 2021 20210 120 310

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Although the Group had obtained the land use rights certificates of
construction in progress, building ownership certificates may be not
obtained before the completion of construction work.

At 31 December 2021, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,142,363,000 (2020: RMB1,236,965,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group as disclosed in note 30.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairments of
RMB11,436,000 was provided in respect of the leasehold
improvements and office equipment with carrying value in
aggregate amounted to RMB10,670,000 and RMB766,000,
respectively. The impairment was provided for these assets when
there are indicators of impairment such as the pre-education
center close down schedule implemented by the Group, leasehold
improvements unremovable and obsolete office equipment had
been fully impaired. By taking into account the fact that these
assets would not be economically viable for their remaining life and
there was no identified alternative utilisation, the directors of the
Group assessed the recoverable amount of these assets were nil
and made full provision on their carrying value.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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0202101203100000000000
00000000000 01,142,363,000
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oooooooooood

0020210120310 0 0000000
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13.00 00
Investment
Completed properties
investment held for
properties sale Total
ooo gooo
gooo gooo o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo gooon gooon
At 31 December 2019 and 020190 120 310 0 20200 10 10
1 January 2020 5,358,640 316,960 5,675,600
Transfers from completed properties gooooooooooo
held for sale 143,194 - 143,194
Fair value gain upon transfer ooooooooo 356,806 - 356,806
Increase in investment properties gooooo 71,883 - 71,883
Transfer to investment properties ooooooooooo
held for sale (589,977 589,977 -
Disposal 00 - (855,913) (855,913)
Changes in fair value of investment 0o0o00ooooDoo
properties 19,299 3,731 23,030
At 31 December 2020 and 020200 120 310 0 20210 10 10
1 January 2021 5,359,845 54,755 5,414,600
Increase in investment properties oooooo 8,728 - 8,728
Transfer to investment properties oo000o0oOooDOoOo
held for sale (59,660) 59,660 -
Disposal 00 - (72,517) (72,517)
Changes in fair value of investment ooooooooooo
properties (62,959) 2,648 (60,311)
At 31 December 2021 020210 120310 5,245,954 44,546 5,290,500
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

13. 0000040

2021 2020
202100 202001

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

oo 00000 Doo0o

Non-current assets ooooo 5,245,954 5,359,845
Current assets o000 ) 44,546 54,755
5,290,500 5,414,600

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at the
end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair
value represents the amount at which the assets could be
exchanged between a knowledgeable and wiling buyer and
a seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation,
in accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as
well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable.

Investment properties held by the Group in the consolidated
statement of financial position were valued into fair value
hierarchy level 3 as shown below. During the year, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2020: Nil).
The valuation techniques adopted are the direct comparison
approach and the income approach (term and reversion
approach), and key inputs are:

(1)  Term yield: the higher the term yield, the lower the fair
value;

(2)  Reversionary yield: the higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value;

(3)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the
higher the fair value; and

(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher
the fair value.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13.0000000
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) @ 000
The significant unobservable inputs Oo0oOooooood

Investment properties held

by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

go0oOoOoooooo oooooooooo

Property 1 — Term yield, taking into account yield of 4% for office portion and 5.5% for retail portion,
Property in Hangzhou generated from comparable properties and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
(Guomao Building) income secured and to be received.

10000000no doobdooobOobOooboobOobooobooboooobooooooon
agooooo O000000000000D04%0000005.5%0

Reversionary yield of 5.5% for office portion and 6% for retail portion, taking into
account annual unit market rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties.
O00oU00CoU0ooO0ooU00ooU0OooOU0OooUOoUoUoooOoooooo
5.5%0 000 0 0 6%0

Market unit rent of RMB1.7/sqm/day for office portion and RMB4.9/sqm/day for retail
portion, using direct market comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage, size of property and facilities.
doobodooobooboooboob0oboobooboboooobooooono
O00oobo0oooo0oobooooo1lyo0o00oo0oOobOOoooooooad
49000000

Price of RMB9,461/sqm for office portion and RMB15,807/sqm for retail portion, using
market direct comparables and taking into account location and other individual factors
such as road frontage and size of property.
O00000OC0O0O0O0D0O000O0D0DCO0O0O0O0DO0OO0o0OooOoooOooooon
0000009461000 00000 0000O0ODODOA5807000 00000
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 0000000
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) @ 000
The significant unobservable inputs 00000000 0ooooo

(continued)

Investment properties held
by the Group
ooobooooooa

Property 2 -
Property in Shanghai
(La Vie)
200000000
ooooo

Significant unobservable inputs
goooooboood

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
dodboobob0obooboob0oboobOobooooboboooboon
0000o0o0OOonswd

Reversionary yield of 5.5%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
000000000000 00000DO0000000b000000n>S.5%0

Market unit rent of RMB7.8/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.
O000oU00oCoU0OooOooUO0ooUOooUOooOoUOOooUOoCoUOoOoOooOoon
O0o0oo0oO0ooO0OooOooooooovr.sono

Price of RMB50,464/sqm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
ooobO0o0o0oOooobOOO00oOoOoCocoOobObOoobooDbDbOoOoOoOooUooo
0000005046400
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13.0000000
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) @ 000
The significant unobservable inputs O00000000ooooo

(continued)

Investment properties held

by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

ooobooooooa gooboooboood

Property 3 - Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Hangzhou and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Integrated Service Center) doodbdoobobobooboob0obooboboboooboboooboon
30000oOoooon 000000000 5.5%0

oooooooo
Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.
0000000000000 00000DODO0O000O00O0O000e%d

Market unit rent of RMB3.7/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.
O000oU00oCoU0ooO0ooU0oOoUOoOoUOoOooUOooUOoCoUOooOoOoooOon
O00O0oO0O0oO0OoocOooooooosryono

Price of RMB13,562/sqm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
goobO0O0o0oOooobObOO0O0o0oOooobObO0o0ooOOoDbDbOOoOoOoOuooo
00000013,56200
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 0000000
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) @ 000
The significant unobservable inputs 00000000 0ooooo

(continued)

Investment properties held
by the Group
ooobooooooa

Property 4 —

Property in Hangzhou

(Retalil portion of Highlong Plaza)
A0 0 000O0oo
oooooooooo

Significant unobservable inputs
goooooboood

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.5%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
dodboobob0obooboob0oboobOobooooboboooboon
000000000 5.5%0

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.
0000000000000 00000DODO0O000O00O0O000e%

Market unit rent of RMB6.4/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.
O000oU00oCoU0OooOooUO0ooUOooUOooOoUOOooUOoCoUOoOoOooOoon
O00O0o0o000O0O0OocOoOooOooOooed4on

Price of RMB21,645/sqm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
ooobO0o0o0oOooobOOO00oOoOoCocoOobObOoobooDbDbOoOoOoOooUooo
0000002164500

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13.0000000
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) @ 000
The significant unobservable inputs O00000000ooooo

(continued)

Investment properties held

by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

ooobooooooa gooboooboood

Property 5 - Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Hangzhou and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Landscape Garden) doodbdoobobobooboob0obooboboboooboboooboon
500000000 00000000 05.75%0

ooooo

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
0000000000000 00000D0O0O0O000D0DO0O0O00Oe.25%0

Market unit rent of RMB2.3/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.
O000oU00oCoU0ooO0ooU0oOoUOoOoUOoOooUOooUOoCoUOooOoOoooOon
O00O00o00O0O0OO0oocOoooOoooo23coo

Price of RMB9,429/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
goobO0O0o0oOooobObOO0O0o0oOooobObO0o0ooOOoDbDbOOoOoOoOuooo
0o0oo0onooo9,429000
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 0000000
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) @ 000
The significant unobservable inputs 00000000 0ooooo

(continued)

Investment properties held
by the Group
ooobooooooa

Property 6 —

Property in Hangzhou
(Hidden Dragon Bay)
e0O0onoooono
ooooo

Significant unobservable inputs
goooooboood

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5%, generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
dodboobob0obooboob0oboobOobooooboboooboon
0000o0o0OOonswd

Reversionary yield of 6%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties.
0000000000000 00000DODO0O000O00O0O000e%

Market unit rent of RMB4.4/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.
O000oU00oCoU0OooOooUO0ooUOooUOooOoUOOooUOoCoUOoOoOooOoon
00000000 00OC0O0OoOOooOoo4400

Price of RMB13,282/sqm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
ooobO0o0o0oOooobOOO00oOoOoCocoOobObOoobooDbDbOoOoOoOooUooo
000000O13,28200

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13.0000000
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) @ 000
The significant unobservable inputs O00000000ooooo

(continued)

Investment properties held

by the Group Significant unobservable inputs

ooobooooooa gooboooboood

Property 7 - Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
Property in Yuyao and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
(Intime City) doodbdoobobobooboob0obooboboboooboboooboon
0000o00oono 00000000 05.75%0

ooooo

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
0000000000000 00000D0O0O0O000D0DO0O0O00Oe.25%0

Market unit rent of RMB4.2/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.
O000oU00oCoU0ooO0ooU0oOoUOoOoUOoOooUOooUOoCoUOooOoOoooOon
00000000 0O0OCOO0OOOoOoooo4.200

Price of RMB11,461/sqm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
gooboo0o0o0oobOoOoO0o0o0oobObObOo0ooob0bOoDoooobooog
0000001146100
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. 0000000
(CONTINUED)
(@  (continued) @ 000
The significant unobservable inputs 00000000 0ooooo

(continued)

Investment properties held
by the Group
ooobooooooa

Property 8 —

Property in Yuyao

(Retail portion of Time Square )

goooooooon
oooooooooooog

Significant unobservable inputs
goooooboood

Term yield, taking into account yield of 5.75%, generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty of term income secured and to be received.
dodboobob0obooboob0oboobOobooooboboooboon
00000000 05.75%0

Reversionary yield of 6.25%, taking into account annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable properties.
0000000000000 00000DO0O0O0000DO0O0O00Oe.25%0

Market unit rent of RMB3.0/sgm/day, using direct market comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities.
O000oU00oCoU0OooOooUO0ooUOooUOooOoUOOooUOoCoUOoOoOooOoon
O0oO0oO00ooOO0OooOooooooosonno

Price of RMB11,389/sqm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
ooobO0o0o0oOooobOOO00oOoOoCocoOobObOoobooDbDbOoOoOoOooUooo
000000D0O11,38900

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs
(continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

Oooooon

@ 000

gboboooboobbogn

gojodoooooooooooooo
ooooa

Commercial
properties
oooo
RMB’000
goooo
Carrying amount at 1 January 2020 02020010100000 2,920,300
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised in O0O000O00O0O0oO0Ooooon
changes in fair value of investment properties 0O0o00ooo0ooon (20,000)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 and 0202001203100
1 January 2021 2021010100000 2,900,300
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in ooo0ooOoOoooooooo
changes in fair value of investment properties 00o0o00oooooon (20,900)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 020210120310 0000

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is estimated
using assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of
ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value.
This method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a
property interest. A market-derived discount rate is applied to the
projected cash flow in order to establish the present value of the
income stream associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally
separately determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of inflows
and outflows are determined by events such as rent reviews, lease
renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or refurbishment.
The appropriate duration is driven by market behaviour that is
a characteristic of the class of property. The periodic cash flow
is estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable
expenses, collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs,
agent and commission costs and other operating and management
expenses. The series of periodic net operating income, along with
an estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the
projection period, is then discounted.

2,879,400

goooooooOOocooooooao
oboooooOoooooooOooooo
oooooOooooooOomooooo
ooooooooOoOoOO0o0oO0oooooao
oooooooDOOO0OO0O0OoOoooao
goooooooOoOoOoOooooooao
oo0oooO0oo0oooOOoooOao

jgjodooodooodoooooooo
ooboooobOoOoooooooboo
I e 5 6 S
EEREFEEERERESEEL ERE LR E S EEER E
[0 [5 (50581  )T)T8  T S
[0 (TN 51 5 s e i e o
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value and
the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would result in
a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties.

A significant increase (decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and
the discount rate in isolation would result in a significant decrease
(increase) in the fair value of the investment properties. Generally,
a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental value is
accompanied by a directionally similar change in the rent growth
per annum and the discount rate and an opposite change in the
long term vacancy rate.

There are six properties — the International Office Center, the Office
portion of Highlong Plaza, the Serviced apartment portion of
Highlong Plaza and the Retail and Serviced apartment portion of
Xixi New City, four properties in Hangzhou, and the Retail portion
and Office portion of Time Square I, a property in Yuyao are valued
and categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy. The valuation
technique adopted is the direct comparison approach, and the key
input is price per square metre. The higher the price, the higher the
fair value.

The significant observable input for the International Office
Center is the price of RMB36,500/sgm, using market direct
comparables and taking into account location and other individual
factors such as road frontage and size of property. As at 31
December 2021, the investment property part of the International
Office Center was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value
hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB1,693,000,000 (2020:
RMB1,767,000,000).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

13. 0000040

@ 00O

Jjoooooooooooooboooo
o0ob0ooocoOooOoooOoooOoooao
oooobooom

goooooooOoOoooOoOOOoooon
goooobooobooooobooooo
omoooooooooooooooboo
Jjoooooooooooooboooo
ooooocoO0oooOoOoooOooooo
oaad

gooooooooooooooooao
goboobooooooooooboo
goooobooooOooooooooo
goooooooobODbOO0O00000000o
oooooooooooooooooano
ooooboooboz2000o0b00oo000oo0o
goboobobooooobooooooboo
gooooooooooboo

jjododoooooooooooooo
gobooOoOogseso00 00000000
ooocooooocoboooooooao
ubobobooooboobOoobooonbo
0202101203100000000000
Jjoooooooooooooboooo
go0z20000000001,693,000,0000
02020000 0 O 1,767,000,0000 I



13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

The significant observable input for the Office portion of Highlong
Plaza is the price of RMB12,000/sgm, using market direct
comparables and taking into account location and other individual
factors such as road frontage and size of property. As at 31
December 2021, the investment property part of the Office portion
of Highlong Plaza was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair
value hierarchy with a carrying amount of RMB34,700,000 (2020:
RMB38,000,000).

The significant observable input for the Serviced apartment portion
of Highlong Plaza is the price of RMB14,300/sqm, using market
direct comparables and taking into account location and other
individual factors such as road frontage and size of property.
As at 31 December 2021, the investment property part of the
Serviced apartment portion of Highlong Plaza was valued and
categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount
of RMB14,000,000 (2020: RMB14,000,000).

The significant observable input for the investment property part
of the Retail portion of Xixi New City is the price of RMB47,100/
sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into account
location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment
property part of the Retail portion of Xixi New City was valued and
categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount
of RMB19,400,000 (2020: RMB28,300,000).

13.

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

Oooodon

@ 00O

oooooOo0oooDbDooooooao
ooooooooolzo00000000
oooooooocoboooocoooao
ooooooboooooooobooooao
0000202101203100000000
ooooooooooooooooao
oooocoOoooboz2c00000C000
34,700,00000 20200 O O O O 38,000,000
om

oooooooocoboooocoooao
gooooooooooobag300000
ooo0ooo0oooooooobboooo
oooooooOoooooooooao
0000oo02z021012031000000
goooooooooooooooono
oo0obDoOoOooOoOoOoDbo200000
0000 14,000,00000 202000000
14,000,0000

oooooOo0oooDbDooooooao
ooooooooooooooooao
47,2000 0 00000000 OO0O0OO
gooooooooooooooobooan
00000000 000020210120
31000 00000000000000
0ooooooooooooooooz
oooo0O0o0000o0oaie,400,00000 2020
0000 0 28,300,0000 M
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

The significant observable input for the Retail portion of Time
Square Il is the price of RMB4,900/sqm and that for the Office
portion of Time Square Il is the price of RMB5,400/sgm, using
market direct comparables and taking into account location
and other individual factors such as road frontage and size of
property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment property part
of the Retail and Office portion of Time Square Il was valued and
categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a carrying amount
of RMB33,000,000 (2020: RMB50,000,000).

The significant observable input for the investment property part
of the serviced apartment portion of Xixi New City was the price of
RMB37,000/sgm, using market direct comparables and taking into
account location and other individual factors such as road frontage
and size of property. As at 31 December 2021, the investment
property part of the Serviced apartment portion of Xixi New City
was valued and categorised into Level 2 fair value hierarchy with a
carrying amount of RMB617,000,000 (2020:RMB617,000,000).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

13. 0000040

@ 00O

oo0o0ooDO00oo0oo0O0ooDO0o0oobo0OO
oooooooooo4,90000000
ooooocoOooooOoooOooooo
oooooooooooogs,4o000
oooooooooooooDbboooo
goooooooOOoocoooOOoOOao
00oo0ooooz02101203100000
ooooooooooooooooono
0000o0ooooooooooooz
ooo0o000o00o0os3,000,00000 2020
000 o 050,000,0000

oo0ooooOo0oooDbDOooooooao
ooooooooooOoooooooan
g3rzooo0 0000000000000
goooooooooooooooon
ooo0DO00O000D00O0Db20210120
31000 00000000000000
ooocoooOoocobOooooooao
000200000000 0617,000,0000
020200 00 O O617,000,0000 M



13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@  (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

13.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy

of the Group’s investment properties:

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

Oooboodon

@ 00O
gooogo

goooooOooocooooOooooo
ooo

Fair value measurement as at

31 December 2021 using
020210120310 0000000000000

Quoted Significant Significant

prices in observable  unobservable

Recurring fair value oo0oo0ooooooo active markets inputs inputs
measurement for: goo (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

gooo goooo gooooo

ooo gooo gooo
go1woaon 002000 goo3o00o o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo goooo gooon gooon
Commercial properties oooo - 2,411,100 2,879,400 5,290,500

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2020 using
020200120310 0000000000000

Quoted Significant Significant

prices in observable unobservable

Recurring fair value goooooooooooo active markets inputs inputs
measurement for: goo (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

gooo goooo gooooo

ooo gooo gooo
gn0o1woaon 002000 oo3o000o o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo goooo gooon gooon
Commercial properties oooo - 2,514,300 2,900,300 5,414,600
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

(b)  The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold
land in Mainland China are all leased for 30 to 50 years.

(c)  Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated.
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases arising from investment
properties are as follows:

13. 0000040

gooooboogo

(b)

goocooOoObOo0ooooooo
O0DO0000000DbO3o05000

ooooOoocoOOooOooooao

Oo0o00o0oooooDoOoOoDoOo
oooooOO0oO0oOoooOoO0OO0O0oooo
ooooooooooOooooo
oooOoO0obOoOoooooooao
Oo0o00o0oooooDoOoOoDoOo
ooooooOOooOooooao

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooooo goooao

Within one year ooa 49,561 68,417
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 0 0000000000000 98,411 140,728
After five years gooo 17,585 33,942
165,557 243,087

(d) At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB2,681,570,000
(2020: RMB3,185,130,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 30.

(e) As at 31 December 2021, the Group entered into certain
sales agreements to sell certain investment properties with a
carrying amount of RMB44,546,000 (2020: RMB54,755,000).
Besides, the Group also received deposits of approximately
RMB37,710,000 (2020: RMB35,338,000), and the amount
received was recognised as contract liabilities as at 31
December 2021.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

020210120 3100000030
oo0oo00oDoOOoO0ooDooOo
2,681,570,00000 20200 0000
3,185,130,0000 000000000
ooooooooooooooa
oo0oD0Oo

0202101203100000000
oooooOoDODOO0OO0OO0O000o
0 44,546,00000 202000000
54,755,0000 000000000
ooooooOooooooooo
0 37,710,00000 202000000
35,338,0000 0002021012031
oooooO0oOooOooOoooooo
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gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

14. PROPERTIES UNDER 14.00000
DEVELOPMENT
2021 2020
20210 20200
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo gooooo ooooo
Carrying amount at 1 January gi10i1000oa 2,109,148 1,432,835
Additions oo 945,656 738,469
Transfer to construction in progress goooooo 12 - (48,088)
Transfer to completed properties held oooDoDoOOooooDboD
for sale 23 (167,779) (14,068)
Carrying amount at 31 December 0120310000 2,887,025 2,109,148
Current assets oooo 1,821,537 1,153,750
Non-current assets ooooao 1,065,488 955,398
2,887,025 2,109,148

Except for one property located in Japan, the Group’s properties
under development are located in Mainland China.

goboooobooooooooboo

oooooooo

2021 2020

20210 20200

Japan oag RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooad gooono

Freehold oooo 76,274 80,037

The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated

oo0ooooooOoocoOOooOOoood

on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows: gooooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
Mainland China oooo RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo E-EEEFENE
Lease terms between 30 and 50 years 0 0300 O 500 2,810,751 2,029,111

At 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s properties under
development with a carrying amount of RMB485,411,000 (2020:
RMB485,411,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 30.

[0 2021 [El=42:7 731 [ (51 [  [F A B AT L F
O0O000000a0n4ass,411,00000 2020
0000 0485,411,0000 M0 O O 3000
1 5 T T Y Y - e
ooooooo
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15. LEASES SHIE [
The Group as a lessee oooooood
The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations. goooobDOooDoDOooDOooODOoOo
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 5 and goooooooOoOoOOoOOoOoosbozo00
20 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and g0obDOo0obDoOOoOoOoooOOoOoOooboOoo
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. gooooooog
(&) Right-of-use assets (@ O0O000O0O
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and 000000 0o0ooOoDOOoOoDOo
the movements during the year are as follows: oooooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooad gooono
As at 1 January 01010 318,126 316,788
Additions oo 73,687 43,045
Depreciation charge gooo (49,821) (41,707)
Disposals od (201,142) -
As at 31 December 0120310 140,850 318,126

China New City Commercial Development Limited
190 2021 Annual Report



15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn

31 December 2021 20210 120 310

15. 00000

goooooooood

(b)

ool

ooooooobooobooDbo

during the year are as follows: oo
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo opoooo
Carrying amount at 1 January 010100000 351,201 332,397
New leases ooag 73,687 43,045
Accretion of interest recognised goooDbOoooo
during the year 9,266 14,735
Payments oad (39,444) (38,976)
Disposals oo (226,965) -
Carrying amount at 31 December 01203100000 167,745 351,201
Analysed into ooo
Current portion oooo 29,100 35,061
Non-current portion ooooo 138,645 316,140

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 41

to the financial statements.

oooooooooooocooo

gooo4d
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15. LEASES(CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(©)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

15. 00000

gboodoooooood

(©)

gooboboooooobooooao
ao

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooad gooono
Interest on lease liabilities gooooo 9,266 14,735
Depreciation charge of goooobDoooo
right-of-use assets 49,821 41,707
Expense relating to short-term leases goooooooooooo
and leases of low-value assets ooooo
(included in administrative expenses) gooooooo 20,585 24,065
Total amount recognised in goooDbDOoOogo
profit or loss 79,672 80,507

Extension and termination options

The Group has no lease contracts that include extension and
termination options.

Variable lease payments

The Group has no lease contract that contain variable
payments.

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 35(c) to
the financial statements.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report

ooobooo0oo

ooooooooooOooooo
ooOoood

gooobooo

uooooooooobooobao
god

000O0O00000000000
0 0 035



Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED) 15.0 000 O
The Group as a lessor oooooood
The Group leases its investment properties consisting one of gooooDbDOooDoDOoOoDOoOoDOoOo
commercial property in Shanghai, two commercial properties in goooooDoooooooooooo
Yuyao and five commercial properties in Hangzhou under operating g0obDo0o0oO0obDOoOOoooDboOoooo
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require Jojddd0dd0d0d0o0Uooooooo
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent g0oDoooooooooooOooDooo
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. 000O00000122,282,00000 2020
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was gOo00OD144.8450000 MO DODOOO0O
RMB122,282,000 (2020: RMB144,845,000), details of which are oOoooooso

included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2021, the undiscounted lease payments 0202101203100000000000

receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable Jojddd0dd0d0d0o0Uooooooo
operating leases with its tenants are as follows: goooooooooo

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooood gooono

Within one year ooag 49,561 68,417

After one year but within two years oooooboooo 26,575 38,143

After two years but within three years gooobDOoooo 25,234 35,956

After three years but within four years goooooooao 23,913 34,574

After four years but within five years goooooooo 22,689 32,055

After five years gooo 17,585 33,942

165,557 243,087
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16. GOODWH-L iGN E
Goodwill
oo
RMB’000
ooooao
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated impairment g202001010 0000000000 98,995
Impairment during the year o000 -
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2020 gz0200120310 00000000 98,995
At 31 December 2020: 0202001203100
Cost oo 98,995
Accumulated impairment oooo -
Net carrying amount gooo 98,995
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated impairment 0202101010 0000000000 98,995
Impairment during the year gooo (98,995)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2021 020210120310 00000000 -
At 31 December 2021: 020210 120 310 0
Cost oo 98,995
Accumulated impairment gooo (98,995)
Net carrying amount gooo -

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the pre-education business cash-generating unit for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the pre-education business cash-
generating unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 19.76%
(2020: 21.52%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.24% (2020: 2.85%), which
was the same as the long term average growth rate of the pre-
education industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
pre-education business cash-generating unit for 31 December
2021. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwiill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on the market
development of the pre-education business and the discount rate
are consistent with external information sources.

During the year, Covid-19 has negatively continued to affect the
pre-education business operation, leading to decrease in pre-
education business development and triggering the impairment
provision. The directors have consequently determined impairment
of goodwill based on the valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer.
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16.00 O OO
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0000000000 02.24%] 202000
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16.

<l

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

As the recoverable amount of the pre-education business cash-
generating unit was less than the carrying amount, impairment loss
of RMB98,995,000 was recognised in the consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16.00 O O O

0 0 98,995,00000

17. 000000

goooooobogod

goooooOooooOoooOooobooo
ooo0O00000oe202101203100
Jjoooooooooooooooo

Brandname
oooao
RMB’000
ooooo
31 December 2021 20210 120 310
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated amortisation 0202101010 0000000000 32,522
Amortisation provided during the year goooooo (1,735)
At 31 December 2021 020210120 310 30,787
At 31 December 2021: 020210 1200 310 0
Cost oog 34,690
Accumulated amortisation oooo (3,903)
Net carrying amount gooDo 30,787
Brandname
oooo
RMB’000
ooooo
31 December 2020 20200 120 310
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated amortisation gJ202001010 0000000000 34,257
Amortisation provided during the year goooooo (1,735)
At 31 December 2020 020200 1200 310 32,522
At 31 December 2020: 0 20200 120 310 O
Cost 00 34,690
Accumulated amortisation gooo (2,168)
Net carrying amount gooo 32,5622

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS 18. 000000000000
DESIGNATED AT FAIR Oooooooog
VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo oooood
Equity investments designated at goooobDoooo
fair value through other ooooooooooo
comprehensive income
Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. ooooDoOooooDo 335,050 358,290
Unlisted equity investments, atfairvalue: 00000000000 O00OO
Qian Ning Health Industry Co., Ltd. OO0ooOoooooooon - 25,000
Anhui Five Star Food Co., Ltd. goooOooooooon - 3,300
Shenzhen Xin Shi City Development opoDooOOooDOooOooDOoon
Investment Co., Ltd. - 6,000
335,050 392,590
The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair gooboobOoobOoobOooDbOoo
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers 0oooooooooooooooog
these investments to be strategic in nature. oo0oDOO0oOooOooOOoo
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19. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

19.000000

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooooo ooooog

Prepayment for equity investment* gooooooo:x 243,694 234,484
Deposits for construction completion ooono 12,487 16,553
Maintenance fund gooo 15,980 15,980
Prepayments for land acquisition goooDbOoOogoo 9,975 11,382
Prepaid expense gooo - 8,089
Deposits oo 1,002 52,273
283,138 338,761

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, financial assets included
in long term prepayments of the Group were considered to be
low credit risk and thus the Group assessed that there was no
significant loss allowance recognised in accordance with the ECL
model under IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

*[0 The details of prepayment for equity investment is disclosed in note 38.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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20. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 20.0 0000000000

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo
Share of net assets goooooag 32,441 -
The particular of joint venture is as follows: goooobooooo
Percentage attributable to the Group
gooooooo
Particulars
of issued Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing activities
oo goooao
goooo gooo goooo goo gooa gooo
Chun’an Qiandao Lake Yulang Registered Zhejiang 59% 33% 59% Project
Superstar Cultural Creativity capital of PRC management
Co., Ltd," RMB184,957,300 oooo oooo
goooooooooo oooo
gooooaw ooao
184,957,3000
o Established on 5 July 2016 @ 0201607050 0 0
The movements in the investments in the joint venture during the gooDOooDbDOoOoDOoOoDOoOoODOO
reporting period are as follows: oo
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo gooono
At 1 January 2021 020210 1010 - -
Investment in a joint venture goooboDbOoOogoo 33,246 -
Share of losses gooo (805) -
At 31 December 2021 020210 120 310 32,441 -
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND
LIABIEITIES

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Unrealised
intragroup
profit or loss

21. 0004000 ood

oooooOOooO0oooooOoooao

gooogno

Fair value

adjustment of

equity

investment

Right-of-use Losses available at fair value

assetsand  for offsetting  through other

Lease  against future comprehensive
liabilities  taxable profits income Total

gooooon

oooo  DOO00DO

ooo oooooo goooo ooooao

ooooo oooo goooa gooooa oo

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ooooo poooo goooo goooo goooo

At 1 January 2020 0202001010 1,976 4,468 - - 6,444
Deferred tax credit to the statement of goooooooooooo

profit or loss during the year - 3,803 1,642 - 5,445

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 020200 120310 0202101010 1,976 8,271 1,642 - 11,889
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to the go0o000ooooooono

statement of profit or loss during the year oooo - (1,545) 3,662 - 2,117
Deferred tax credited to the statement of goooooooooooo

other comprehensive income gooo
during the year - - - 9,820 9,820
At 31 December 2021 020210120310 1,976 6,726 5,304 9,820 23,826

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow these deferred tax assets to be
utilised.

The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong
Kong that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB1,172,415,000 (2020: RMB787,899,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 21. 00000000000 n
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year ooooooooooooooomoo
are as follows: (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities Oooooo
Fair value
adjustment
of equity
investment Fair value

Fairvalue at fair value adjustment
adjustment of  through other  arising from

investment comprehensive  acquisition of With-
properties income  a subsidiary holding tax Others Total
ooooo
oooo oooo
pooo gooao
oooao ooooo pooo
gooooo ooooDD 000000 ooo oo oo

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooo

At1 January 2020 0202001010 812,555 2250 5897 31577 85,636 937915
Realised during the year ooooo (135,997) - (434) - (7,106) (143,537)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of ooooooooooooD

profit or loss during the year 94,959 - - 9,807 4375 109,141
Deferred tax charged to the statement of other gooooooooooooooon

comprehensive income during the year - 4,300 - - - 4,300
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 020200 120310 0202101010 517 6,550 5463 41,384 82,905 907,819
Realised during the year ooooo (10,263) - (231) - (2,080) (12,574)
Deferred tax (credited))/charged to the 00o0o00oo0oo0oooOoonoo

statement of profit or loss during the year (15,078) - - 128 (8,534) (23,484)
Deferred tax credited to the statement of other gooooooooooooooon

comprehensive income during the year - (6,550) - - - (6,550)
At 31 December 2021 020210 120 310 746,176 = 5232 41512 72291 865,211
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT ooobobooooomoboobooon
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to ompoooboobooooooooboo
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established uoopbooonlwuoooooo
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and opoz200801010 000000002007
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding b1z20310b000oobooooooon
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland vobbooooobooodooooonn
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, oooboobobooooooobobon
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for 0000010%00000000000
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries uooobobobobzo08010100
established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 uvobooboooboooooooonon

January 2008.

Other than the above deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC oooo0bOobOOooDoOoooooooa
withholding income tax provided, no deferred taxation has been 00 O O 0 O EEEEEAE R EE [ E
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately uoooooooooobdaa,2o7,069,000
RMB1,207,069,000 (2020: RMB1,152,879,000), which were 00 20200 0 0 O 0 1,152,879,0000 00 O
derived from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control oooboooboobooooboood
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is o S g 2
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the ooooooao

foreseeable future.
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22. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES A

WITH-MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

(5] ]
o
o
O
O
OO
OO
OO

goooooOooooOoooOooobooo

ooooon

oooooOooO0oooooo

2021 2020
20210 20200
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long goo0ooODOo0oOoOooOo
Commercial Co., Ltd. mooood
(“*Zhong An Sheng Long”) 10% 10%
Maggie and Rose Limited Maggie and Rose Limited
(“Maggie and Rose”) Mmo0e-00m 53.5% 53.5%
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting ooooooooooooooo
date:
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo
Zhong An Sheng Long gooo 162,053 133,582
Maggie and Rose 0de-00O (9,534) (3,151)

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to non-controlling interests:

ooooooooobooo0ooooom

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo
Zhong An Sheng Long gooo 12,405 3,640
Maggie and Rose 0de-00O (6,452) (7,314)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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22. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 22.00000000daad
WITH MATERIAL NON- Ooodoootodd
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information gooooooooooooooooo
of the above subsidiaries.
The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: jdddddd0dd0o0oUooooooo
oag
Maggie and Zhong An
Rose Sheng Long
oOde0d gooo
2021 RMB’000 RMB’000
20210 ooooo oooood
Revenue oo 34,549 41,049
Other income oooo - 137,377
Changes in fair value of gooooooooao
investment properties - (16,249)
Total expenses gooo (46,613) (38,123)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive gooooooooooo
(loss)/income for the year oooooooog (12,064) 124,054
Current assets gooo 5,951 5,616,971
Non-current assets ooooo 28,752 3,203,206
Current liabilities oooo (49,303) (6,539,649)
Non-current liabilities goooo (3,227) (660,000)
Net cash flows generated from gooobODbDO0oOoooo
operating activities 41,151 655,533
Net cash flows (used in)/from gooooboboOooooooooo
investing activities (41,296) 156,289
Net (decrease)/increase in gooooDoOoOooooooboooo
cash and cash equivalents (145) 811,822
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22. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 22.00000000000
WITH MATERIAL NON- Oooodododod
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Maggie and Zhong An
Rose Sheng Long
o000 aoooo
2020 RMB’000 RMB’000
20200 ooooo ooooog
Revenue oo 33,952 42,641
Changes in fair value of investment oooooooooo
properties - 272
Total expenses gooo (47,629) (6,517)
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive gooooooooooo
(loss)/income for the year ooooooooo (13,677) 36,396
Current assets gooo 22,489 4,660,670
Non-current assets ooooo 31,415 2,972,301
Current liabilities gooo (56,463) (5,547,153)
Non-current liabilities goooo (3,334) (750,000)
Net cash flows generated from gooooODOoOogoooo
operating activities 42,843 15,782
Net cash flows used in investing activites 000000000000 (28,854) (40,038)
Net increase/(decrease) incashandcash 000000000000 O0COOO
equivalents 13,989 (24,256)

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD
FOR SALE
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23.0 00000004

2021 2020

20210 20200

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

oo ooood gooono

Carrying amount at 1 January 010100000 1,255,130 1,734,021

Transfer from properties oooooooa 14

under development 167,779 14,068
Transfer to investment properties goooooag 13 - (143,194)
Transfer to property and equipment gooooooo 12 - (44,110)
Disposal of a subsidiary oooooooo 34 - (74,142)
Cost of properties sold goooobooog 6 (335,844) (231,513)
Carrying amount at 31 December 01203100000 1,087,065 1,255,130

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB678,740,000 (2020:
RMB913,191,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 30.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally one month, extending
up to three months for major customers. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
related to various diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
The balances of trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and
unsecured.

0202101203100000000000
00000000e78,740,00000 2020
Ooo0000913,191,0000 MO 0O O 3000
oooooooooococooooooao
ooooooo

24. 0000000

gobooOooooooOoooooobooo
goboooobooooooooboo
oooooooooooooooooao
oobooooooocoooooooo
jjodooooooooooooo
gobooooboooooooboo
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goooooooooOoooooooao
uoboooobooboooOooOooboo
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

24. 100 00ooon

gobooooooooooob0oboo

reporting period is as follows: oo
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooog
Within six month oooo 40,902 37,253
Over six month but within one year goooooooao 344 383
41,246 37,636

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using
a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and rating, and forms of
credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. For
the sale of commercial properties, rentals under operating leases
and provision of property management services, hotel operation
businesses and other business of the Group, management has
assessed that the expected credit loss rate for trade receivables
is minimal as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers with no recent
history of default and the balances are considered fully recoverable
considering the historical records and forward-looking information.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER 25. 00000000000
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS 00000

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooooo goooao

Prepaid other tax oooooo 92,935 73,004

Project construction guarantee deposits gooooooo 89,511 203,101

Advances to suppliers gooooo 31,533 65,828

Other receivables gooooa 168,379 197,343

382,358 539,276

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to J00oooOoOoOoooooooooao

receivables for which there was no recent history of default and Jgoooooooooooooooon

past due amounts. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the loss 0000020210 020200 12031000
allowance was assessed to be minimal.[] goooooooo
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Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and restricted cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place certain
amounts of cash in the designated bank accounts for a specified
use, and therefore the cash disbursement from these accounts
is subjected to some restriction. As at 31 December 2021, these
guarantee deposits amounted to approximately RMB268,856,000
(2020: RMB74,204,000).

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank accounts of approximately
RMB64,109,000 (2020: RMB40,572,000) were pledged to banks
for the timely repayment of the loans as disclosed in note 30.
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 6.00000000000

AND.RESTRICTED CASH 000

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooooo goooao

Cash and bank balances gooooooa 1,936,034 1,108,888

Time deposits oooo 12,000 -

1,948,034 1,108,888

Less: Restricted cash gpooooo (344,965) (124,776)

Cash and cash equivalents gooooooag 1,603,069 994,112

Current assets oooo 332,965 114,776

Non-current assets ooooad 12,000 -

Restricted cash ooooo 344,965 114,776

jjoddooooooooooooo
gobooboooooooooboo
oooooooooooooooooano
omoooooooooooobooo
gboooboooooooooooboo
gooobboOooooooboboo

gobooooboobooooooboo
gojoddoooooooooooooo
goooooooOoOoocoooOoooOooao
ooobOO00oo0oooo0ooz2o0210120
3100000000000 0O 268,856,000
00 20200 O O O O 74,204,0000 M

goooooooobobooooooo
64,109,00000 20200 O OO0 OO0 [0 40,572,000
gbboooOOoocoOOoocOOooOoooao

gso0oom



26.

27.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group’s non-current
time deposits amounted to approximately RMB2,000,000 (2020:
Nil) were pledged to banks as guarantees for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties.

As at 31 December 2021, pursuant to relevant regulations in
the local government, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits amounted to approximately RMB10,000,000 (2020: Nil)
were required to place in designated bank accounts as guarantee
deposits for the construction of the related properties. [

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB1,928,170,000
(2020: RMB1,075,928,000).The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement.
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as
follows:

26.

27.
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ood
Ooodoo

0202101203100000000000
oo0O0oo0oo2o00,00000 202000
goooooDOooooooOooDbOooo
oooooooooo

020210 1203100000000000
ooooooooooooobboooo
00 010,000,00000 20200 0000000
goooooobooooooooooao
oood

oooobO0oooooooocOoooan
oooo0oo0Oo0ooon0a,928,170,0000
0 2020000 0 01,075,928,0000 00 O
oooooOooOoOoooDoOooooo
ooooooooOoOoO0oOoOoooooao
goooooobooooooooooao
goooooooooooooooono
oo

goooood

Jjojoooooooooooooo
oooooooooogo

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooooo goooo

Within six months ooono 435,333 453,256
Over six months but within one year oooooooooo 31,977 57,488
Over one year oooo 13,591 21,655
480,901 532,399

The trade payables are unsecured and interest-free and are
normally settled based on the progress of construction.
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2.0 0000 uogoon

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

ooooo ooooog

Guarantee deposits gooo 50,695 54,222
Tax surcharges ooa 24,513 11,641
Deposits related to construction goooooo 27,677 32,562
Other payables oooooo 206,923 191,259
309,808 289,684

Other payables are unsecured and interest-free.

goooobooooooooboo

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29.0 000
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo ooooo
Advances received from customers goooooa 2,063,292 393,694

Contract liabilities represent sales proceeds received from buyers
in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties. As at 31
December 2021, the increase was primarily due to the pre-sale of

the properties.

China New City Commercial Development Limited

2021 Annual Report
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 30.00000000000
OTHER BORROWINGS
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo goooao
Current: ooo
Bank loans — secured gooooooa 1,527,310 603,805
Other loans — secured oooooooa - 61,750
1,527,310 665,555
Non-current: gooao
Bank loans — secured oooooooao 1,910,627 3,693,094
Other loans — secured gooooooa 1,197,313 1,110,000
3,107,940 4,803,094
4,635,250 5,468,649
Repayable: goooooboooo
Within one year or on demand goooooao 1,527,310 665,555
Over one year but within two years oooooooaoon 1,374,587 1,808,116
Over two years but within five years gooooooano 682,080 1,784,347
Over five years oooo 1,051,273 1,210,631
4,635,250 5,468,649
Except for bank and other borrowings amounting to goooO0DoDoOoOoDOoOoOOoDoooOoOon
RMB2,384,950,000 (2020: RMB854,120,000) that bear interest at 0 0 02,384,950,00000 20200 00 00O
fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates. 854,120,0000 MO O0O00O0OOOOOO

oood
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND_OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear interest at average

od

0.0 0000000 ooa

Jjoooooooooooooooo

effective interest rates as follows: ooooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo ooooo
Effective interest rates ooaoo 6.65% 6.51%

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were denominated as follows:

oooooo0ooooOoooOooooa

ooOooooooo

2021 2020

20210 20200

RMB’000 RMB’000

OoooOooOoo ooooo

RMB loans and borrowings gooooooo 4,632,023 5,464,871
GBP loans and borrowings gooooooa 3,227 3,778
4,635,250 5,468,649

The Group’s bank and other borrowings were secured by the
pledges of the following assets at the end of the reporting period:

uobooooooooboooooobooo

ggooooboooao

2021 2020
20210 20200
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oo ooooo ooooog

Carrying value of the Group’s assets: oooDOoOooooog
Investment properties oooo 13 2,681,570 3,185,130
Properties under development ooooo 14 485,411 485,411
Completed properties held for sale oooDoOoOoooo 23 678,740 913,191
Restricted cash goooo 26 64,109 40,572
Property and equipment ooooo 12 1,185,489 1,236,965
5 5,095,319 5,861,269

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s borrowings of RMB50,000,000
(2020: RMB50,000,000) were guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan
(Note 36(2)(vi)).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31.0 0
Shares 00
2021 2020
20210 20200
’000 '000
oo oo
Authorised: ooa
5,000,000,000 (2020: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,0000 0 0 0 00.10
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0000000202000 HK$500,000 HK$500,000
5,000,000,00000 O 0 0 500,000 0 0 500,000
Issued and fully paid: pooOobooo
2,010,768,000 (2020: 2,010,768,000) 2,010,768,00000 0 0 0 00.10
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0000000202000 RMB160,220 RMB160,220
2,010,768,00000 O 0 0 0160,220 0 0 0160,220
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is goooooOoOoooooooon
as follows:
Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
ooo
oooo oo ooooao oo
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

oooaoo ooooboa ooooao

At 1 January 2020 020200 10 10 2,013,248,000 160,443 721,694 882,137

Repurchase of shares (note (a)) 00ooooo@o (2,480,000) (223) (2,997) (2,220)

At 31 December 2020 and 020200 120310 O

1 January 2021 20210 10 10 2,010,768,000 160,220 719,697 879,917

At 31 December 2021 0020210 120 310 2,010,768,000 160,220 719,697 879,917

Note: ooo

(@) On 19 February 2020, the Company repurchased its own shares (@) 0202002019000 00000C0O0OO0.99
amounting to RMB2,220,000 at market value of HK$0.99 per share. On ooooooooooooooooo
25 March 2020, the Company cancelled these shares with amount of 2,220,000000 20200 3025000000
RMB223,000. The difference between the par value of the shares and go00o000o22300000000000
the consideration of RMB2,220,000 was debited to the share premium 0o00o0o0oooo000o0o0o2,220,0000
account. 00 OO O CHED
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32. OTHER RESERVE

Other reserve represented the reserve from the share option
scheme adopted by Zhong An Group Limited (the “Parent
Company”) and China New City Commercial Development Limited
(the “Company”).

The parent company of the Group, which operates a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the operations. The Scheme became effective on 15 May 2009 and
as at 31 December 2021, there were no options granted under to
Scheme.

The Company adopted an equity-settled share option scheme in
2015 (the “New Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible persons, including the Company’s directors,
independent non-executive directors, employees of the Group and
other eligible participants, who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. The New Scheme became effective on 20 May
2015 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from the offer date.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible person in the New Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors. In addition, any share options granted
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance
in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$0.998 by each grantee with no other
consideration being payable by the grantee. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the New Scheme at any
time during a period commencing on such date on or after the
date on which the option is granted as the Board may determine in
granting the option and expiring at the close of business on such
date as the Board may determine in granting the option but in any
event shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the directors,
but may not be less than the higher of () the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; and (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price
of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer, provided that the exercise price shall
not be less than the nominal value of the ordinary shares of the
Company, and (jii) per value of the share.

32.
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32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)

32.00 000004

The share options granted to eligible participants of the Group were

outstanding under the two Scheme during the reporting period:

gobooooooooooob0oboo
ooooooooooOoooooooan

oo
2021 2020
20210 20200
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
oooo ooao gooo agod
gooad 0o aod oo
HK$ HK$
per share 000 per share 000
oooo oo oooo oo
At 1 January 01010 1.01 176,450 1.85 2,650
Granted during the year ooooo - - 0.998 173,800
Expired during the year ooood 1.85 (2,650) - -
At 31 December 0120 310 1.00 1.01

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED) 32.0000000

goboobooooooooooboon
gooooo

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

2021 20210

Number of options

Exercise price*

Exercise period

ooooo ooovx oono
000 per share
oo oo
HK$0.998 13 February 2020 to 12 February 2022
0.9980 O 20200 20 130 0 20220 20 120

173,800

2020

Number of options

Exercise price*

20200

Exercise period

ooooo ooo* ooo

000 per share

oo oo
HK$0.998 13 February 2020 to 12 February 2022
173,800 0.99801 O 20200 200 130 0 20220 200 120
HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
2,650 1.850 0 20140 10 220 02021010 210

176,450

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the 0oooooOoOoOoOoOooOooooOOO

case of rights or bonus issues,

Company’s share capital.

or other similar changes in the Parent

goooO0oo0ooO0OoOoooOoocoOooooo
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32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data
over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

The Group recognised RMB11,388,000 share option expense
during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB10,373,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 173,800,000
share options outstanding under the New Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 173,800,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of RMB14,210,000 (before issue expenses).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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33. RESERVES

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares

paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

(b) Capital reserve

U

(i)

i)

On 30 May 2014, the Company and its related parties
signed the deed of novation, assignment and set-
off (the “Deed”). The Deed settled and set-off the
outstanding balances of the Company with related
parties. The net debts due to and owing by the
Company to Ideal World Investments Limited after set-
off, amounting to approximately RMB963,639,000,
were settled by the Company by allotting and issuing
1,000,000 new shares amounting to RMB80,000
credited as fully paid to Ideal World Investments
Limited.

On 31 May 2014, the directors were authorised
to capitalise HK$126,700,000, equivalent to
RMB100,825,000, by using the exchange rate on
that day, standing to the credit of the capital reserve
account of the Company, so that 1,267,000,000
shares were allotted and issued, pursuant to this
resolution.

Deemed contribution by the controlling shareholder
represented certain residual interests of the residential
business remaining in certain subsidiaries and was
contributed by the controlling shareholder to the
Group.

Notes to Financial Statements
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(@) 0000

ooooooooooOooooo
ooOoood

() O0O0O0O

U

(i)

(i)

0201405030000 000
Oooooooooooaoao
oooomoooOoooog
0Oooooooooooo
Oo0oOoOOoOoOooooooo
00000000 Ideal World
Investments Limitedd O O O
00000 0963,639,00000
0000000OIldeal World
Investments LimitedD O O O
g1,000,0000000000
oo0oooOoooooooog
80,0000

0201405031000000
oo0o0o0o12e,700,0000 0
oooocooooobooooao
0100,825,0000 MO O OO
ooooooooooooao
oo0ooooi1,267,000,0000
ooo

ooooooooooooao
ooooooooooooao
ooooooooooooo
oo
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33. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory
reserve fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
2021 Annual Report
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 34.000000
2021
20210
Notes RMB’000
oo opoooo
Net assets disposed of: oooooooo
Property and equipment goooo 12 385
Cash and cash equivalents goooooog 5,408
Trade receivables oooooo 1,184
Inventories oo 98
Prepayments, other receivables gooooooooooo
and other assets oooo 41,620
Trade payables goopooo (650)
Other payables and accruals goooDooooooo (15,317)
Contract liabilities gooo (5,828)
Tax payable oooo (1,107)
Non-controlling interests goooo (1,508)
24,285
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ooopoooooo 5 80,369
104,654
Satisfied by: oooooooo
Cash* go* 104,654
* As disclosed in Note 36(2)(iii), the Group had sold the entire equity interests * 000036@)dooooz02100000
in Zhejiang Runzhou Property Services Co., Ltd., Yuyao Zhongli Property 0000000 0O104,650,000000000
Management Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Zhonghong Property Service 125,580,000 000 O OODOOOODODO
Co., Ltd., all of which are engaged in commercial property management goo0oooooooooooooooo
business, to Zhong An Group at an aggregate of consideration of g00000ODoDOoOOoOoOoOOooooooao
RMB104.65 million (equivalent to approximately HK$125.58 million) in gOoooooooooooooooo
2021.
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES Md.000o0oodod
(CONTINUED)
2021
20210
Notes RMB’000
oo gooono
Net assets disposed of: oooooooo
Property and equipment ooooo 12 66,086
Cash and cash equivalents gooooobooog 56
Prepayments, other receivables goooooobOoooo
and other assets oooo 1,600
Trade receivables oooooo 19
Inventory oo 1,291
Trade payables gooooo (36,331)
Other payables and accruals goooooooooo (8,862)
Contract liabilities oooo (5)
23,854
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary oDOo0O0o0oDoOoo0O0o O] (23,854)
Satisfied by: goooooono

Consideration o0 _

China New City Commercial Development Limited
222 2021 Annual Report
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES Md.00o0ooodo
(CONTINUED)
2020
20200
Notes RMB’000
oo gooono
Net assets disposed of: oooooooo
Property and equipment ooooo 12 168
Cash and cash equivalents gooooobooo 2,112
Completed properties held for sale goooooooo 23 74,142
Prepayments, other receivables gooooooooooo
and other assets oooo 246,043
Long term prepayments gooooo 4,397
Trade payables gooooo (17,181)
Other payables and accruals goooooooooo (26,208)
Contract liabilities oooo (9,829)
Tax payable gooo (76,929)
Non-controlling interests goooo (95,496)
101,219
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary goooooooooo 5 84,937
186,156
Satisfied by: opooooooo
Waiver of liabilities** goOoog* 186,156
** The disposal of the subsidiary is non-cash transaction as disclosed in ** 00003s@boo0ooooo0ooooan

note35(a).

goooo
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in

respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows:

4d.0000gogug

oooooo0ooooOoooOooooaa

oooocoooao

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooad gooono
Cash consideration ooono 104,654 -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed gooooooooo
of subsidiaries goooo (5,464) (2,112)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and goooDoODOo0ogo
cash equivalents in respect of ooopDoDoooooooooo
the disposal of subsidiaries 99,190 (2,112)

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(&) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB73,687,000
and RMB73,687,000 (2020: RMB43,045,000 and
RMB43,045,000), respectively, in respect of lease

arrangements for buildings. The Group had non-cash

transactions related with disposal of subsidiaries as disclosed

in note 34 and non-cash transactions related with disposal of

lease liabilities as disclosed in note 15, respectively.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in financial liabilities arising

(©

from financing activities

Notes to Financial Statements

(b)

gooogn

31 December 2021 20210 120 310

s.0000000bogon

gooogoobooobooo

O

Interest-bearing

bank
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
ooooono

ooood gooo

RMB’000 RMB’000

gooooo opoooo

At 1 January 2021 020210 10 10 5,468,649 351,201
Changes from financing cash flows OO OO000OO0O (833,399) (30,178)
New leases oo - 73,687
Disposal od - (226,965)
Interest expense ooono - 9,266

Interest paid classified as gooooDbDOO0o0OOooDboDbD
operating cash flows - (9,266)
At 31 December 2021 020210120 310 4,635,250 167,745
At 1 January 2020 [0 20200 10 10 4,456,105 332,397
Changes from financing cash flows OO OO00O0O0O 1,012,544 (24,241)
New leases good - 43,045
Interest expense oooo - 14,735
Interest paid classified as gooooDbDOO0o0OOooDboDD

operating cash flows - (14,735)
At 31 December 2020 020200 120 310 5,468,649 351,201

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of

(©)

gooooood

ooooooobooobooDbo

cash flows is as follows: oooo
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo
Within operating activities [T < [ ] 9,266 14,735
Within financing activities goooo 30,178 24,241
39,444 38,976
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(1) Outstanding balances with related parties:

i) Amounts due from related companies

6.0 O0U

@)

ooooObOO0O00oooo

() OC0OO0O0DOO0O0

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooad gooono
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. oooooooa 376,954 788,278
Zhong An Group Limited oooooooo 140,089 126,839
|deal World Investments Limited Ideal World Investments
Limited 44,348 65,225
Glorious Days Management Limited oooooooa 16,352 16,832
Zhong An Financial Holdings Ltd. ocooDOoooooo 6,547 6,740
Hangzhou Zhonghong Property o0oD0ODbO0O0oO0o
Service Co., Ltd. opooo 750 -
Zhejiang Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. oooooooo
gooo - 4,919
Qingdao Zhonganlongsheng Commercial 0000000000
Development Co., Ltd. gooo - 1,136
585,040 1,009,969

Amounts due from related companies are interest-
free, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment,
except RMB376,954,000 due from Zhong An Group
Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary, which bears interest at

the annual rate of 8% (2020:10%).

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  36.00000000
(CONTINUED)

(1)  Outstanding balances with related parties: (continued) (1) 0OO00DOOODODDOOOmDD
(i)~ Amounts due to related companies (ii) gooooooog
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo gooono
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate ooooOooooo
Development Co., Ltd. gooo 421,263 186,156
Hangzhou Huijun Information oopoooooao
Technology Co., Ltd. goooo 107,912 107,912
Grand Sail International Trading Limited O OO0OO0O00O0O0O
oooo 70,110 85,189
Yuyao Zhong’an Property Co., Ltd. oooooooooo 81,118 84,940
Hangzhou Junjie Investment Co., Ltd. ooooOoooooa 55,427 55,427
Hong Kong Hui Yuan Real Estate Limited OO0 O0O0O00OO0O0O 40,880 42,080
Rui Kai Management Ltd. oo00oDO0O0oOoo 33,261 34,237
Zhong An Service Holding Group Co., Ltd. 0 00 OO0 OO 0O
gooo 1,750 1,750
Zhong An Finance Limited oooooooo 1,629 1,677
Zhong An Asset Management Co., Ltd. Ooo00DO0O0o0oOooO 1,628 1,676
Zhong An Corporate Finance Limited oopoooooao 1,628 1,676
Zhong An Securities Limited opooooooa 1,628 1,676
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture oo0oDbO0O0oOoo
Development Co., Ltd. gooo - 1,514
818,234 605,910
Amounts due to related companies are interest-free, goooooooooogg
unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment. goooDbDbOOoOoOooo
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

2

Notes to Financial Statements

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these 2
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions

with related parties during the year: (continued)

(i)

Property service fee

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

6.0 Oudog

ooooooooooooooa
ooooooOooooooooo
obOoooomaon

ii) DOOOOO

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo
Zhejiang Zhong An Property oopoooooao
Management Co., Ltd. goooo 9,685 1,800
Zhejiang Runzhou Property Services oooooood
Co., Ltd.* oooox 7,835 -
Yuyao Zhongli Property Management oopoooooao
Co., Ltd.* oooox 4,354 -
Hangzhou Zhonghong Property oo0oDbOoOOoOoo
Service Co., Ltd.* oooox 2,851 -
24,725 1,800

The prices for the above services fees were determined

in accordance with the terms and conditions mutually

agreed by the contracting parties.

The above related party transactions also constitute

connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

goooooooooooo
goooooooooooo
ooo

goooooooooooo

ob14A00000000O0
oooooooo
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(2) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these

financial statements, the Group had the following transactions

with related parties during the year: (continued)

(i) Property service fee (continued)

As disclosed in note 4, on 3 February 2021, the Group
had entered into sales and purchase agreements with
Zhong An Group to agree conditionally to sell the entire
equity interests in Zhejiang Runzhou Property Services Co.,
Ltd., Yuyao Zhongli Property Management Co., Ltd. and
Hangzhou Zhonghong Property Service Co., Ltd., all of
which are engaged in commercial property management
business at an aggregate of consideration of RMB104.65
million (equivalent to approximately HK$125.58 million)
(“Transfers”). The Transfers constitute non-exempt
connected transactions for the Group under the Listing
Rules and are subject to the reporting, announcement and
approval by the independent shareholders under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Transfers was approved in the
extraordinary general meeting on 24 March 2021 and fully
completed on 13 April 2021.

6.0 OO UUOU

ooooooooooooooa
ooooooooooooooo
obOoooomaon

i)

ooooooooo

0000400 00020210
03b0b00o0oooooa
gooooOoooooooo
0o0oo00000D0104,650,000
000 000125,580,0000
gobooooo0ooo0ooo
ooooooooOooooo
ooooOooooOoooo
gooooooooooooo
oooooOooooomo
oOopooooooooooo
gbo0ooO0ooo0ooooooo
go0oooO0ooDi4A000
goooooooOooooo
000000020210 3024
ooooOoooooooo
0o000202104013000
ooo

(iv)  Interest income vy O0OOO
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooad gooono
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. oooooooa 109,036 93,097
(vy  Compensation of key management personnel of the (v O000O0OO0OODODOODODOOD
Group, which comprises the remuneration of the 000ooOoOoOoooDooso
directors, is disclosed in note 8.
(v  As disclosed in note 30, the Group’s borrowings (vii O000D300000020210

of RMB50,000,000 (2020: RMB50,000,000) were
guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan at 31 December 2021
at nil consideration.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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37. COMMITMENTS 37.0 [
The Group had the following commitments for property gooooooooooooDboboobooo
development expenditure at the end of the reporting period: goog
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo
Contracted, but not provided for: gooooooo
Properties under development gooooo 1,330,123 1,001,730
38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. 0000
(a) Mortgage facilities granted by banks (@ DOoDoDOoOoOoOogo
The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage godoooopoooooo
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the godoooopoooooo
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee goooooooooooo
arrangements, in case of default on mortgage payments go0oooooooooooo
by the purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying godoooopoooooo
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued godoooopoooooo
interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to goooooooooooon
the banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the legal 0oooooooooooo
titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee periods godoooopoooooo
commence from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage godoooopoooooo
loans and end after the execution of individual purchasers’ gooooo

collateral agreements.
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

(&) Mortgage facilities granted by banks
(continued)

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
reporting period in respect of the guarantees provided for
mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s
properties. The directors consider that in case of default on
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties
can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with the

38. 0000000

(@ 00DO0DO00OOOO0OO0

Oo0oOo0oo0ooOo0oOooOO0oooo
ooooooooooooood
ocoooOobOoOooOoOooooo
ooooooooooooooo
Oo0o00o0oooooDoOoOoDoOo
ooooooooooooood
cooooO0oooOooOoooooo

guarantees.
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo
Guarantees given to banks for: gooobOOoOooOoobooDbo
Mortgage facilities granted to goooooooooooo
purchasers of the Group’s
properties 316,410 46,656
Claim arising from the litigation () ODODOOOOO

(b)

As disclosed in note 19, on 7 January 2019, the Company
allotted and issued 178,280,000 shares to Hangzhou
Oriental Culture Tourism Group Co., Ltd. (“the Seller”)
for the purpose of acquiring 22.65% of equity interests in
Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. (“XND”) under the
equity transfer agreement announced on 20 July 2018 (“the
Transaction”). However, the Seller had filed a lawsuit against
the Company to cancel the Transaction. The Company had
lost the lawsuit in the first trial verdict, and had appealed
to higher court. Currently, the lawsuit is still in process.
The directors, based on the advice from the Group’s legal
counsel, believe that they have a valid defence against
the allegation in their appeal to higher court, and have not
provided for the claim arising from the litigation, other than
the related legal and other costs.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 0.00000000003
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial gooooObDO0o0oOoooobooooo

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2021 20210
Financial
assets Financial
at fair value assets
through other at fair value

comprehensive through profit

income or loss
ooooo
oooo ooooo
ooooo ooooo
oooo oooo
Financial
assets Mandatorily
at amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
ooooo
goooooao oooo goooooao oo
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooo
Financial assets: goooo
Financial assets included goocooooooooo
in long term prepayments 28,467 - - 28,467
Equity investments designated at farvalue 0 0 0000000000
through other comprehensive income opoooobDoo - 335,050 - 335,050
Financial assets at fair value through goooooooon
profit or loss oooo - - 68 68
Trade receivables goooooo 41,246 - - 41,246
Financial assets included in prepayments, 00 000000000000
other receivables and other assets ooooooooo 257,890 - - 257,890
Amounts due from related companies gooooooa 585,040 - - 585,040
Restricted cash gooono 344,965 - - 344,965
Cash and cash equivalents gooooooo 1,603,069 - - 1,603,069
2,860,677 335,050 68 3,195,795
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

3. 0000googod
ood

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

oooood
ooooooao
RMB’000
oooood
Financial liabilities: goood
Trade payables gooooao 480,901
Financial liabilities included in g0o0DoOO0oOO0oO0OoOoooooOooooon
other payables and accruals 285,295
Interest-bearing bank and other goooooooooo
borrowings 4,635,250
Lease liabilities oooo 167,745
Amounts due to related companies 0 0 000 00O 818,234
6,387,425

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY .00b0ooooooo
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) HENRN
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial gooooObDO0o0oOoooobooooo
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: goo
(continued)
2020 20200

Financial assets
at fair value Financial assets

through other at fair value
comprehensive through profit
income or loss
goooo
gooo goooo
goooo goooo
gooo gooo
Financial
assets Mandatorily
at amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
goooo
gooooog gooo goooog oo
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
goooo goooo goooo goooo
Financial assets: ooooo
Financial assets included in long term gooocoooOoooooo
prepayments 32,533 - - 32,533
Equity investments designated at farvalue 0 0 0000000000
through other comprehensive income opoooooDoo - 392,590 - 392,590
Financial assets at fair value through goooooooooo
profit or loss oooo - - 113 113
Trade receivables oooooo 37,636 - - 37,636
Financial assets included in prepayments, OO0 000000000000
other receivables and other assets ooooooooo 400,444 - - 400,444
Amounts due from related companies gooooooa 1,009,969 - - 1,009,969
Restricted cash goooo 114,776 - - 114,776
Cash and cash equivalents gooooooa 994,112 - - 994,112
2,589,470 392,590 113 2,982,173
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

3. 0000googod
ood

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
ooooo
gooooono
RMB’000
oooood
Financial liabilities: ooooao
Trade payables gooooo 532,399
Financial liabilities included in gooobObOo0oOoOooobDbOoooo
other payables and accruals 278,043
Interest-bearing bank and goooooooooo
other borrowings 5,468,649
Lease liabilities gooo 351,201
Amounts due to related companies 0 0 000 00O 605,910
7,236,202
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

40

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

gooogn
31 December 2021 20210 1200 310

Joooooooooad
ooood

oooooooocoboooocoooao
gooooobooooboobooooooon

Carrying amounts Fair values
goo gooo
2021 2020 2021 2020
20210 20200 20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooo0o0 0O0oOooo O0OoooOo 0ooooo
Financial liabilities oooo
Interest-bearing bank and other OO O0OOOO
borrowings oooo 4,635,250 5,468,649 4,460,020 5,180,009

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade receivables,
trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, amounts due from/to related companies,
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of restricted cash, financial
assets included in long term prepayments and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

gooooooDOOoDooODDODOOO
ooooooooOoooooOoooooo
gooooboooooooooooooao
oooooooooooooooooao
goooooboooooooDbboobooo
oooooooooooooooooao
ooooooooooo

gooooooDOOoDooODDODOOO
oooooooooooooooooao
gbooooooooooooOooooo
goooooooooooooooono
ooo0oo0oooooooobboooo
ooooooO0oooooooOooooao
ooo

gooooooO0oooDOoooO0ooobooo
oo0oobooooOO0oocOOooooooao
gooooooooOoocooooooao
ooooooooo
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
have been estimated using a market-based valuation technique
based on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
determine comparable public companies (peers) based on industry,
size, leverage and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price
multiple, such as price to book ratio (“P/B”) multiple and price to
earnings (“P/E”) multiple, for each comparable company identified.
The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of
the comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading
multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity
and size differences between the comparable companies based
on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure of the
unlisted equity investments to measure the fair value. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that
they were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, management has estimated
the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as
inputs to the valuation model.

China New City Commercial Development Limited
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Discount for lack
of marketability
goooooad
oo

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of
premiums and discounts determined by the Group that market
participants would take into account when pricing the investments.

(20200 O 1.6)

2021: 25%
(2020: 25%)

20210 0 25%
(20200 O 25%)

40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 0.0 000000000 0O
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL Oodooudoo
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to 0000020210120 310 0 20200 120
the valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative 0000000 ooooooooon
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2021 and 2020: gooobDOo0oOoOobooDbooo
Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair
technique inputs Range value to the input
oooooo oooooooo
oooo oooo oo ooooo
RMB’000
ooooo
Unlisted equity Valuation multiples Average P/B 2021: 1.6 5% (2020: 5%)
investments oooo multiple of peers (2020: 1.6) increase/decrease
ooooooo gpoooo 20210 0 1.6 in multiple would
Ooooooo result in increase/

decrease in fair
value by 16,753
(2020: 17,914)

goooboo
5% 1 20200 O 5%0
gooooooo
0000016,753
0 20200 0 17,9140

5% (2020: 5%)
increase/decrease
in discount would
result in decrease/
increase in fair
value by 5,584
(2020: 5,971)
ooooooo
5% 20200 0 5%0
8 5 4
000005,584
0 20200 05,9710
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40. FAIR VAEUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or
disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —  Quoted market prices in an active market (that
are unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  Valuation techniques (for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable)

Level 3 —  Valuation techniques (for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable)

Fair value hierarchy

All the above financial assets and liabilities had Level 2 inputs other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income which had Level 1 and Level 3 inputs respectively. The fair
value hierarchy of investment properties is disclosed in note 13 to
the financial statements.
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 40.0 0000000000
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL OO0o0oodon
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) ooooooood
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy ooooooO0oOooDOoooOO0oOoobooOo

of the Group’s financial instruments: goo

Fair value measurement using
dooooOooOooooon
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

gooo goood Oooooo

ooo gooo gooo
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
goi1ood oo2000 oOo300o0 oo

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo ooooo oooaoo ooooao

Financial assets at fair value O000O0O0OO0O0ODOO

through profit or loss gooo 68 - - 68
Equity investments designated o0ooooOo0obobooo

at fair value through other oooooboooon

comprehensive income - - 335,050 335,050
As at 31 December 2021 [720210 1200 3100 68 - 335,050 335,118
Financial assets at fair value oooooooooo

through profit or loss goon 113 - - 113
Equity investments designated 00000000 DOO00D

at fair value through other oooooboOooo

comprehensive income - - 392,590 392,590
As at 31 December 2020 [J20200 1200 3100 113 - 392,590 392,703
During the reporting period, there were no transfers of fair value [ 5 1 T 5 A T = T 2 6 o R S
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into BN ENENENENENENEEEF e B e E e EEE
or out of Level 3. 3000
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, short term deposits, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below:

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the
Group’s equity, assuming all the increases or decreases are
dealt with in profit or loss, without consideration of interest
capitalisation.
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41. 00000000 uggd

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES HENRN
(CONTINUED)
(@) Interest rate risk (continued) 0000000
(Decrease)/
Increase/ increase (Decrease)/
(decrease) in  in (loss)/profit increase
basis points before tax in equity
ooad
o0 0000000 oo
go00oboO0O0 Dooooob bDoooooo
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooad gooono
2021 20210
RMB ogo 50 (22,285) (16,714)
RMB ooo (50) 22,285 16,714
2020 20200
RMB ooo 50 (26,699) (20,024)
RMB ooo (50) 26,699 20,024
(b) Foreign currency risk o000

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
and financing activities in currencies other than the units’

functional currencies.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its

interest-bearing bank borrowings.

ooooooOoOooOoooooao
goooooooocoboooba
goooooobooobooDbo
ooooooo
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gooooo
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(b) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s

41. 00000000000

ood

() D0DO00OO

Oo0o00o0oooooDoOoOoDoOo
ooooooooooooood
ooooooOoOooOoOooooo
ooOooooooonoo

equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in (loss)/profit (decrease)
foreign currency rate before tax in equity
ooo
gooo goooood ag
goooooo ooooooo goooooo
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ooooo ooooao
2021 20210
If HK$ weakens against US$ oooooooa 5 929 697
If HK$ strengthens against US$ oooooooo (5) (929) (697)
2020 20200
If HK$ weakens against US$ oooooooa 5 763 573
If HK$ strengthens against US$ aooooooag (5) (763) (573)
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. 00000000 uggd

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 000
(CONTINUED)
(c) Credit risk (c) OOOO

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is
not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets
and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee

ooooooobooobooDbo
oo0O0o0ooooooOooooooo
oooocooOoooooooooo
gooooooboboooooooo
oooobOooOoobooooon
oo0oo0oO0ooooonoo

goooooooo

ooooooooooooooa
oOooooOOooOOobooooooao
ooooooooooooooa
OooDoOOo0ooooOOoOooOo0oooo
oo000O0o00mooO0oOi12031d
ooooO0obOoOoooooooo
ooooooooooooooa

contracts. ogooooo
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
120000
oooo 0ooooooo
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
oooo oooo oooan ooo oo
As at 31 December 2021 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
020210120310 0oooo ooooo ooooo 0oooo ooooo
Trade receivables* gooooo* - - - 41,246 41,246
Financial assets included inlongterm 00 000000
prepayments — Not yet past due gooooooo 28,467 - - - 28,467
Financial assets included in goooooooooo
prepayments, other receivables oooooooo
and other assets - Not yet pastdue 0 O0D0O0000O 257,890 - - - 257,890
Amounts due from related companies 0 0 0 00000
- Not yet past due oooo 585,040 — = = 585,040
Restricted cash - Notyet pastdue 000000000 344,965 - - - 344,965
Cash and cash equivalents - goopooooo
Not yet past due oooo 1,603,069 - - - 1,603,069
2,819,431 - - 41,246 2,860,677
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

41. 00000000000

ood

(o 00DO0OO

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
120000
oooo 0ooooooo
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
oooo gooo gooo ooo oo
As at 31 December 2020 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
020200 120 310 0oooo ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooo
Trade receivables* gooooog* - - - 37,636 37,636
Financial assets included inlongterm 00 000000
prepayments — Not yet past due gooooooo 32,533 - - - 32,533
Financial assets included in goopoooooooo
prepayments, other receivables gooooooo
and other assets - Not yet pastdue 00000000 400,444 - - - 400,444
Amounts due from related companies 0 0 000000
- Not yet past due gooo 1,009,969 - - - 1,009,969
Restricted cash - Not yetpastdue 000000000 114,776 - - - 114,776
Cash and cash equivalents - gooooooo
Not yet past due pooao 994,112 - - - 994,112
2,551,834 - - 37,636 2,589,470
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * ooooO0ooooooOooooao

approach for impairment, information is disclosed in note 24 to the

financial statements.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. 0000000000400

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 000

(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk d ocooood
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using o0ooOO0o0ooOOobooOoDbOoOoDbOo
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the ooooOoDOOoOooOobooooo
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets ooooDoDoODOOO0O0oO0D0oooo
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from odooooooooooooooo
operations. oooooooo
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between ooooooooooDooooo
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank ooooooooooooooo
and other borrowings. oooooooo
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at oopOoo0oOooOOoopooooOoo
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual ooopoooooooooooo

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
3000

goo goo3oo go120d 1050 5000 oo

2021 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

20210 ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooo ooooao ooooao

Interest-bearing bank goooooo

and other borrowings gooo - 53,840 1,473,470 2,056,667 1,051,273 4,635,250
Interest payable inrelationto 000000000

bank and other borrowings 0000 DO — 78,086 212,960 255,602 60,164 606,812

Trade payables oooooo - 435,333 45,568 - - 480,901

Lease liabilities oooo - 15,192 21,346 93,788 84,977 215,303

Amounts due to related parties 00 00000 818,234 - - - - 818,234
Financial liabilites includedin 000000000

other payablesand accruals 000000000 285,295 - - - - 285,295

1,103,529 582,451 1,753,344 2,406,057 1,196,414 7,041,795
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(d)

41. 00000000 ugd

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 000
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) (d OOO0oOoOoOoOd
Lessthan  3to less than 1t05 Over
On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
3000
ooo 00300 001200 1050 5000 oo
2020 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20200 goooo goooo goooo goooo goooo goooo
Interest-bearing bank and goooooo
other borrowings oooo - 244,690 420,865 3,592,463 1,210,631 5,468,649
Interest payable inrelationto 000000000
bank and other borrowings 00000 - 82,451 240,455 519,947 111,813 954,666
Trade payables 0oo0o0oo - 453,256 79,143 - - 532,399
Lease liabiliies oooo - 6,884 31,740 171,386 266,919 476,929
Amounts due to related parties 0000000 605,910 - - - - 605,910
Financial liabilities includedin 000000000
other payables and accruals OO0O0O00000O 278,043 - - - 278,043
883,953 787,281 772,203 4,283,796 1,589,363 8,316,596
Capital management e) ODOOO

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash
and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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41. 00000000 uggd
Oood

(€)

oooooon

oooooODODOO0OO0O0O00O0
ooooooooooooooa
ooooobOoOoooooooo
oooOoooOoooOoooooa
Oo0DO0o0Oo0o00O00o0Oo0o0oo0oo
oooooo0oooooooooa
oooooOOoooooOooooooo
oooooooOoooooooon

As at 31 December

0120 310

2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo gooono

Interest-bearing bank and other goooooooooo
borrowings (note 30) 0oos3o0 4,635,250 5,468,649
Trade payables oooooo 480,901 532,399
Other payables and accruals gooboooOooooon 309,808 289,684
Lease liabilities ooono 167,745 351,201
Less: Cash and cash equivalents gooooooooo (1,603,069) (994,112)
Net debt oooo 3,990,635 5,647,821

Equity attributable to gooooooogo

owners of the parent 5,500,142 5,834,778
Capital and net debt ooooooad 9,490,777 11,482,599
Gearing ratio gooooo 42% 49%
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

22.000000000

oooooo0ooooOoooOooooaa

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: gooog
2021 2020
20210 20200
RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo goooao
Non-current assets ooooa
Investments in subsidiaries gooooooad 1,326,803 1,326,803
Property and equipment goooo 2 6
Long term prepayments ooooo 163,889 163,889
Total non-current assets gooooo 1,490,694 1,490,698
Current assets oooo
Prepayments, other receivables and gooooooooooooooo
other assets 93,264 78,782
Financial assets at fair value through oo0ooooooobooooo
profit or loss 68 113
Amounts due from subsidiaries ooooooao 1,372,268 1,417,831
Amount due from related companies ooooooao 162,989 158,753
Inventories oo 101 104
Cash and cash equivalents ooooooao 17,440 15,716
Total current assets ooooo 1,646,130 1,671,299
Current liabilities gooo
Amounts due to subsidiaries gooooobooo 930,049 931,051
Amounts due to related companies gooooobooo 138,936 136,460
Trade payables goopooo 82 -
Total current liabilities ooooo 1,069,067 1,067,511
Net current assets oooooa 577,063 603,788
Total assets less current liabilities gooooooag 2,067,757 2,094,486
Net assets ooo 2,067,757 2,094,486
Equity oad
Equity attributable to owners of theparent OO 00000000
Share capital oad 160,220 160,220
Reserves (note (a)) 00000@o 1,907,537 1,934,266
Total equity ooo 2,067,757 2,094,486
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 42.000000000000
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Note (a): 0@y
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ooooooooog
Share Exchange
premium fluctuation Accumulated Capital
account reserve losses reserve Total
oo oooo
ooo oo pooo pooo oo

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooooo oooono ooooo ooooo ooooo

At 1 January 2021 020210 10 10 719,697 44,817 (66,120) 1,235,872 1,934,266
Total comprehensive loss for the year ooooooog - (32,247) (16,243) 21,761 (26,729)
At 31 December 2021 020210 120 310 719,697 12,570 (82,363) 1,257,633 1,907,537
At 31 December 2019 and 020190 120 310 O
1 January 2020 20200 10 10 721,694 129,181 (50,144) 1,235,872 2,036,603
Issue of shares oooo (1,997) - - - (1,997)
Total comprehensive loss for the year oooooood - (84,364) (15,976) - (100,340)
At 31 December 2020 020200 120 310 719,697 44,817 (66,120) 1,235,872 1,934,266
43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING 43. 0 000 0O O
PERIOD
There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the 020210120310 0000000000
Company or by the Group after 31 December 2021. goooooooog
44. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 44. 000000
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by 0o0o0o0oo202203024000000
the board of directors on 24 March 2022. ooooooo
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Summary of Consolidated Financial Information
B ERECE A ] ]

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

odddd0CoOCO0OO0oO0oOoOoooooooo
oOooOooo0oobOOooobOOoocOOooOoo

published audited financial statements. oooood
RESULTS 00O
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20210 20200 20190 20180 20170
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ooood0 OQOO0ODOOQoO0O OQOUOOOO0O DpOOooo opoooodg
Revenue oo 871,066 700,370 1,955,853 1,924,619 295,986
Profit/(loss) before tax gooooo
oooo (277,024) 108,844 380,128 (130,814) 752,090
Income Tax oono (25,791) (83,763) (334,839) (91,183) (285,732)
Profit/(loss) for the year ooooooooo (302,815) 25,081 45,289 (221,997) 466,358
Profit/(loss) attributable to: goooooDo
ooom
Equity holders of goooDoooog
the Company (295,136) 44,429 26,270 (243,524) 488,505
Non-controlling interests goooo (7,679) (19,348) 19,019 21,527 (22,147)
(302,815) 25,081 45,289 (221,997) 466,358
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- Ogdoododoodao
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
31 December
1200 310
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20210 20200 20190 20180 20170
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
gooono goooo ogoooad ooooo gooono
Total Assets ooo 15,504,840 15,175,856 14,508,724 13,231,588 13,254,174
Total Liabilities ooo (9,771,245)  (9,098,438) (8,367,189)  (7,333,545)  (7,245,818)
Non-controlling Interests goooo (233,453) (242,640) (357,484) (315,057) (171,234)
5,500,142 5,834,778 5,784,051 5,582,986 5,837,122
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